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To Our Stockholders: ‘ v

Fiscal 2006 was a year of significant progreé’é for Dolby Laboratories, Inc. We produced strong financial results,
continued 10 improve our revenue diversification, and further positioned Dolby for the future.

In fiscal 2006, Dolby achieved revenue of $391.5 million, up 19 percent from fiscal 2005. Our products and
services revenue increased 10 percent to reach '$89.9 million in fiscal 2006, and our technology licensing revenue
grew 22 percent to $301.7 million. Net income and eammgs per share were $89.5 miltion and $0.80,

respectlvely

Growth in multiple consumer licensing markets resulted in improved revenue diversification in fiscal 2006, The
proportion of our licensing revenue generated from outside our traditional consumer electronics market, which
includes revenue from DVD players, was approximately 55 percent in fiscal 2006, compared to under 50 percent
in fiscal 2005 and less than 40 percent in fiscal 2004. Today, Dolby technologies are included in DVD players,
and in home theatre systems, personal computers, digital televisions, set-top boxes, video game consoles, and

in-car entertainment systems.
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With our technolog\es extended acrossi mulnple consuiner ‘markets, we continued to position Dolby for the
future. In our technology licensing segment, the inclusion of Dolby technologies was announced in leading next-
generation gaming and DVD rollouts, including the, Microsoft Xbox 360, Sony PlayStation 3, Nintendo Wii,
Blu-ray Disc, and HD DVD. We also augmented our sales and marketirtg team to drive the adoption of additional
Dolby technologles such as Dolby TrueHD, Dolby Headphonc Dolby Virtual Speaker and Audistry by Dolby.

In our products and services segment, we further advanced Dolby’s position in the broadcasl and digital cinema
markets. In fiscal 2006, the number of European operators selecting Dolby Digital to enhance their broadcast

* services nearly tripled to surpass 100, increasing Dolby Digital’s lead as an emerging de facto multichannel
audio standard for European high-definition television and Complementmg Dolby Digital’s status as the audio
standard for digital television in North America.

In digital cinema, we began producing Dolby Digital Cinema systems with JPEG 2000 capability. Having
shipped more than 85,000 of our cinema audio processors to date, we are a trusted provider to theatre operators
around the world. The Dolby Digital Cinema system represents our expansion into delivering high-quality video,
and by the end of fiscal 2006, we had deployed over 160 Dolby Digital Cinema systems worldwide.

In summary, we achieved solid financial results in fiscal 2006 as we extended our technologies and improved our
revenue diversification across multiple consumer licensing markets. With our strong business modei and
-industry-wide presence, we continue to focus on driving the adoption of newer Dolby technologies, and
capitalizing on the Dolby brand and position to generate additional long-term growth opportunities.

Sincerely, s B 2 -
Bill Jasper s,

President and Chief Executive Officer .
Dolby Laboratories, Inc.
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PARTI « !
ITEM 1. BUSINESS . -

Overview : . . '

Dolby Laboratories develops and delivers innovative products and technologies that make the entertainment -

experience more realistic and immersive. Since Ray Dolby founded Dolby Laboratories in 1965, we have been at
" the forefront of delivering sound technologies that assist the entertainment creation process and enhance the

entertainment experience. Today, Daolby technologies are standard in a wide range of entertainment piatforms.

For example, Dolby products are widely used in movie theatres around the world and our technologies are used
_in virtually all DVD players and DVD playback software for personal computers. In addition, Dolby Digital is

mandated in all North American digital televisions and digital set-top boxes that include Advanced Television

Systems Commiitee (ATSC) television tuners and is Wldely 1ncluded in hlgh-deﬁmtlon set-top boxes used for
European high-definition lelewsmn broadcasts. .

Our objective is to be an essenlial element in the best entertainment technologies by de]ivering to both
professicnals and consumers innovative and enduring technologies that enrich the entertainment experience. Our
- success is largely the result of our longstanding commitment to deliver meaningful innovations that enhance
entertainment. We believe that our well-recognized brand and established history of successful innovation put us
in a position to expand the use of our technologies in existing and new markets and to capitalize on key trends in
digital entertainment, such as the transition to digital cinema, high-definition television, space-efficient home
theater systems, portable media and the increasing number of media delivery channels.

{

, 1 - . LY o .

Dolby Bu%i_ness Model

We deliver products, services and technologies at each critical 'stage of the esitertainment chain—content
creation, content distribution and content playback. We work closely with'content creators, including
filmmakers, television producers, music producers, and video game designérs to incorporate Dolby technologies
in entertainment content. As a result, we are better positioned to partner with entertainment distributors to deliver
that content with our technologies, whether through 35 millimeter film or digital content for theatres, DVDs,
broadcasts or the internet. By working successfully to encode and distribute content with Dolby technologies, we
are able to license our decoding technologies to consumer electronics manufactures’and independent software
vendors for consumer playback and sell our professional cinema equipment to movie theatres for large-scale
public playback. Our involvement across the entertainment cham has resulted ina w1dely recogmzed brand and
enablés us to introduce iechnologies and services mto new areas.’

- Content Creation

QOur products and production services help artists and content producers create realistic and immersive
entertainment experiences. Our technologies also help maintain the quality of the sound while enabling it to fit
within the storage capacity and distribution limitations of the particular recording platform. Filmmakers use our
encoding products and services during post-production to help ensure that their movie soundtracks are recorded
properly in analog and digital formats and will play back in theatres as the filmmaker envisions. We are now
providing similar services for mastering and packaging high quality video images for the digital cinema business.
Television producers and broadcasters throughout the world purchase and use our professional encoders,
decoders and processors to record and transmit both recorded and live, telev1510n programming with multi-

channel sound. Music studios and video game designers are mcreasmgly producmg music and gaming content in

digital multi-channel sound through lhe use of our cncodmg products

Content Distribution . . '7 L .
DVD producers purchase and use our professional-encoders to éncode the source audio on'a DVD in Dolby
Digttal so that the soundtrack can be replayed as originally recorded on the master copy. Our digital audio coding
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technologies enable sound to be stored efficiently within the limited storage capacity of the DVD, allowing high
picture quality while saving space on the disc for forergn language soundtracks, directors’ commentaries and
other bonus material. Dolby Digital is one of the two global standard formats, along with PCM, approved by the
DVD Forum for encoding soundtracks on DVD-Video discs and, as a result, virtually all DVD players

incorporate our Dolby Digital decoding technology in order to decode those soundtracks. Our technology has
.. also'been chosen.as a standard audlo format for next—generatron DVD players ER
P At

2 NS T -!3;'7‘_".?.& ER _-_r-‘.m. e

Broadcasters purchase and use our profcssronal broadcasting products to encode program content for
television, cable and satellite broadcast transmissions to deliver to their audiences high quality surround sound.
Our digital audio compression technologies enable sound to be recorded and transmitted efficiently, which is

especially important in the broadcast industry because transmission bandwidth is limited. Our broadcasting
products also can facilitate the editing and routing of surround sound in transmission facilities originally
designed for stereo audio. Our decoding and monitoring products help content creators evaluate accurately how
their soundtracks will be reproduced in broadcast transmissions. Our sound engineers can provide training,
broadcast system desrgn experusc and on-site technical expertise to broadcasters lhroughout the world.

+ *

Dolby,];)ugrtal audiosthe,sound format, standard for, drgrtaléerrestnal and cable television in North

i e i 4
America. In addition, in Europe, Australia and Asia, broadcasters have the option of iicliding* Dolby Digital with-
their digital broadcast services under the digital.video broadcasting or the ATSC standards. Our broadcasting

technologies are also used in North America and Europe in connection with radio services that are delivered
through satellite and cable systems.

Content Playback

Cinema operators purchase and use our cinema processors, cinema adapters and sound readers to decdde
movie.soundtracks encoded in Dolby SR or Dolby Digital, and our digital cinema products to load, store, decode,
and deliver drgrtal movres,lo digital cinema projectors. Our cinema processors can decode both analog and digital
soundiracks on the film.and separate the different sound channels for distribution to the specific speakers in the
theatre. The sound characteristic.and level of each loudspeaker are also vital elements of a theatre’s sound system
that are controlled by our cinema processors, Our engineers are often hired by the film’s distributor to check the
calibration of a theatre’s sound system for important screenings, such as premieres and press screenings. In
addition, our engineers can help optimize a theatre’s on-screen image using specialized test equipment and
expertise.

We license our decoding technologies to manufacturers of consumer cloctronics products and independent
software vendors, including manufacturers of DVD players, DVD recorders, home theatre systems, television

sets, set-top boxes, video game consoles, portable audio and video players, personal computers, in-car
entertainment systems and other consumer electronics products, as well as developers of software for personal
computers. Our licensees manufacture and distribute consumer electronics products incorporating our
technologies throughout the world. Qur trademarks are included on content and consumer electronics products
that incorporate our technologies, so content, provrders and manufacturers can indicate to consumers that their
products meet the technical and quality standards we have set. In some cases our licensees sell products that ..
incorporate our technologies to other manufacturers who incorporate these products in cars, personal compuiters
or other products that are then sold to consumers. o - . . )

For many types of consumer electronics products our technologies are included in explicit mdustry
standards, meaning that mdustry standards- settmg bodies have mandated the inclusion of these technologies in a
particular type of product. For example, our Dolby Drgrtal technology is mandated in DVD players and in ATSC
tuners for television broadcasting in North America. In addition, Dolby technologies are de facto industry
standards in many consumer electronics products, meaning that although not specifically mandated by an
industry standards board, these technologies are nevertheless widely adopted for a particular type of product. For
example, today virtually all audiofvideo receivers incorporate our Dolby Digital and Pro Logic decoding
technologies. :
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Our Strategy - SR

We are focused on strengthening our industry position by continuing to deliver valuable technology
solutions at each stage of the entertainment chain—content creation, content distribution and content playback.
We intend to capitalize on our innovative culture, our strong industry relationships, our global market presence
and our strong brand to continue developing and delivering innovative, enduring entertainment technologles for

both professionals and consumers. Key elements of our slrategy include:

Expanding the use of our technologies in existing and new markets

Dolby Surround, Dolby Digital and Dolby Digital Plus have created a consumer expectation for surround
sound in high-quality entertainment. We intend to continue to promote the expansion of markets for surround
sound. In addition to promoting our technologies in home theatre systems, we are promoting the continued
adoption of our surround sound technologies’in video game consoles, personal audio and video players, personal
computers, in-car entertainment systems and other consumer electronics products. We also believe that the large
and growing installed base of surround sound systems offers attractive opportunities for content providers to
deliver surround sound in new applications, regardless of whether the content is played back from a recording,
such as a DVD, broadcast by television, satellite or cable, or streamed over the internet. In particular, we intend
to broaden our presence in the broadcast mduery as this mduslry increasingly produces live and recorded .
programming in surround sound. As the entertainment industry increasingly delivers content directly to '
consumers over broadband networks, we are working with content providers to include surround sound.
technologies in their entertainment available over the internet, including audio-only entertainment, movie
downloads and on-line games. We are also working to have Dolby technologles mcluded in mobile devices as
they increasingly include entertamment functionality. :

Entertainment trends around high definition content, space-efﬁ'cient home entéftajnment systems, mobile '

media, and multiple delivery channels are driving consumer expectations for greater entertainment quality,

availability, and convenience. As high definition content begins to define consumers’ expectations, we believe
there is an opportunity to provide premium Dolby technologies, such as TrueHD, Dolby Virtual Speaker and
Audistry by Dolby that deliver an enhanced audio experience complementary to the high definition image, while
also meeting the desire for more compact entertammen_t systems by simulating a surround sound effect without
the need for excess speakers and wires. We believe that our technologies such as Dolby Headphone and Audistry
by Dolby can enhance the quality of mobile entertainment as consumers have access to a greater amount of

digital content “on-the-go” through portable and mobile devices. The addition of Internet Protocol Television
~ (IPTV), together with the growth of downloadable and streaming content, DVD is creating the potential for
media centric PCs capable of managing consumer content across multiple media platforms. Through our PC
Entertainment Experience initiative, we are focused on licensing a greater number of our technologies into
entertainment oriented PCs. . . . R

Developmg system solutions for digital cinema ' : !

.The cinema industry is in the carly stages of adopting dlgllal cinema, an all digital medium for the
dlsmbunon and exhibition of movies. Digital cinema offers the industry possible means to achieve substantial
cost savmgs in printing and distributing movies, to combat piracy and to enable movies to be played repeatedly
without degradation in image or sound quality. We are committed to this transition, and we believe that our .
experience and expertise in providing technology solutions for both the motion picture and broadcast industries
position us well to develop and deliver sound and image technologies for digital cinema. In recent years we have
developed a digital cinema system which allows for the storage and playback of digital content in theatres.
Motion picture studios currently use our digital cinema mastering services at our facilities in Southern California
and the United Kingdom to prepare movies for digital release, and filtmmakers can review sound and image
quality in our digital cinema screening rooms. In addition, our engineers assist motion picture studios and cinema
operators with distributing and presenting digital movies, from site surveys and equipment installations to system
optimization and special screening assistance. Regardless of how quickly digital cinema is adopted, we believe .
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that digital cinema also provides opportunities for the development of innovations to enhance the theatrical
experience further, which may also have applications in the broadcasting and the consumer arenas.

: Develaptl'ng technologies for the entertainment industry beyond sound

We belicve that our long history of developing innovative technology. solutions fon_;t,hﬁe entertainment mdustry
and our well-established relationships with industry participants provide us with opportunities to deliver technology
solutions in areas beyond sound. In recent years we have expanded our business to offer technologies to facilitate
delivery of digital entertainment, including digital cinema technologies for processing digital moving images and
content protection. In addition, we are exploring other areas where we may be able to develop and deliver
technologies that enrich the entertainment experience, including technologies for imaging and display, mobile
devices, wireless connectivity and technologies that facilitate ease of use of products and product features.

Building on the strength of the Dolby brand

We intend to continue to enhance and build on the strength of the Dolby brand and our reputation as a
trusted provider of entertainment technologies for professional and consumer applications. We actively
encourage our customers to place our trademarks on their products in conjunction with the inclusion of our
technologies which we license separately. In particular, we provide marketing materials such as posters, trailers
and plaques to cinema operators for exhibition in their theatres to help them promote the quality of experience
that is associated with our brand. We also work with consumer electronics and personal computer manufacturers
to incorporate our technotogies in and display our trademark on their products. The inclusion of the Dolby
trademark on a product informs audiences and consumers that the product incorporates our technologies and
meets our quality standards, and we believe this helps consumer electronics manufacturers sell their products.
We intend to continue to promote the use of our trademarks throughout the entertainment chain so that
entertainment induslry professionals and consumers alike will know that we have helped ensure consistent
quality as content moves through the chain. We believe that the strength of our brand in the entertainment
industry also assists us in expanding our business to include technologies that are not solely related to sound. For
example, we believe that the likelihood of succeeding with our digital cinema initiative is increased because the
Dolby brand is already well known and well respected in the motion picture industry, as is our history of
delivering innovative, yet practical, solutions in response to technology challenges.

Continuing to address the needs of industry professionals

We believe that technology innovations for entertainment will likely continue to be adopted first for
professional use as filmmakers, music producers, broadcasters and video game designers look for ways to excite
their audiences. We intend to continue to coflaborate with industry professionals to develop new technologies -

that facilitate and improve content recording, distribution and playback. Our professional-level technology
solutions often have applicability to the consumer arena. When they do, we intend to continue to adapt these
technologies for use in consumer applications. Our noise reduction, surround sound and digital audio
technologies were all initially developed for professional use and later adapted for use in consumer electronics
products. We believe that our success in developing technologies for professional use contributes greatly to the
capabilities and attractiveness of our technologies in the consumer arena and also to the strength of our brand.
We also believe that the use of our technologies by professnonals in the creation and distribution of content
creates demand for the adoption of our technologies for use in consumer applications.

Continuing to promote adoption of our technologies in industry standards

We believe that the entertainment industry evolves toward an improved entertainment experience through
the adoption of global technical standards, and we intend to continue to actively seek to have our technologies
adopted in industry standards. We intend to continue to develop, maintain and strengthen our relationships with a
broad spectrum of entertainment industry participants, professional organizations and standards-setting bodies
throughout the world to help guide the development of new industry standards, as well as the direction of our -
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own technologies to meet those standards. When appropriate, we inténd to continue to be active in standards-
setling bodies. We also intend to maintain our neutrality and not align ourselves exclusively with other industry
participants in order to facilitate the adoption of our technologies in industry standards.

.

How We Derive Revenue

We conduct our business in two operating segments: licensing our technologies to manufacturers of
consumer electronics products, software developers and developers of professional products, and selling our
professional products and related production services.

In our technology licensing segment, we license our technologies to manufacturers of DVD players, DVD
recorders, audio/video receivers, television sets, set-top boxes, video game consoles, persenal audio and video
players, personal computers, in-car entertainment systems and other consumer electronics-products, as well as to
developers of software for personal computer software DVD players. Our licensing arrangements typically entitle
us to receive a specified royalty for every product shipped by our licensees that incorporate our technologies. We
also collect fees for administering joint licensing programs (commonly referred to as “patent pools”} on behalf of
third parties. In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 our licensing revenue represented 73%, 75% and 77% of our total
revenue, respectively.

A *

In our products and production services segment, we design, manufacture and sell audio products for the
motion picture, broadcast, music and video game industries to improve sound quality, provide surround sound
and increase the efficiency of sound storage and distribution. The majority of our professional product revenue is
derived from sales of cinema processors, which movie theatres use to process film soundtracks. Our sound
engineers work alongside filmmakers, television broadcasters, music producers and video game designers to hetp
them use our products to create and reproduce the sound they envision. Qur sound engineers provide training,
system design expertise and on-site technical expertise to cingma operators to help them configure their theatres
and sound equipment to ensure that movie soundtracks are replayed with consistent high sound quality. In fiscal
2004, 2005 and 2006, our professional products and services revenue represented 27%, 25% and 23% of our total
revenue, respectively. "

Financial information about these segments and by geographical areas is set forth in Note 8 “Segment
Information” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as in our Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operation contained in this report. '

Dolby Technologies and Productls

Our core technologies are signal processing systems that improve basic sound quality or enable surround
sound in movie soundtracks, DVDs, video games, television, satellite and cable broadcasts, and audio and
videotapes. Many of our technologies are incorporated into professional audio products that we manufacture,
including cinema sound processors and digital audio encoders and decoders. These products are used worldwide
in recording and postproduction studios, broadcast facilities and theatres. We also license our technologies to
manufacturers of consumer electronics products for incorporation into their products, including DVD players,
audio/video receivers, television sets, set-top boxes, video game consoles, personal audio and video players,
personzl computers, in-car entertainment systems and other consumer electronics' products. -

1.

Film Sound Technologies ) '

Dolby’s film sound formats are de facto standards amt;nc_l_' thg‘ world, and are used on all major film releases.
Each and every movie carrying the Dolby logo benefits from Dolby's mastering support services, ensuring that the
director's sound will be reproduced faithfully in the cinema. The following is a list of our film sound technologies:

* Dolby Digital (for cinema) — Dolby Digital provides 5.1 digital audio surround sound, delivering five
separate full range audic channels and a sixth channel for low-frequency effects. A Dolby Digital print
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features a digital optical soundtrack located between the sprocket' holes on one side of 35 mm release

prints and also carries a Dolby SR analog soundirack to make the print compatible with any theatre in
the world that processes 35 mm film, even if-it does not have Dolby Digital decoding equipment.

*  Dolby Digital Surround EX — Dolby Digital Surround EX adds a third surround channel to the Dolby
Digital format. The third channel is reproduced by rear-wall surround speakers, while the left and right
surround channels are reproduced by speakers on the side walls.

»  Dolby Sterec — Dolby Stereo is our original multi-channel analog optical soundtrack. Dolby Stereo prints
have two soundtracks encoded with four sound channels: left, center and right for speakers behind the
screen, and a fourth surround channel for ambient sound and special effects heard over speakers to the
sides and rear of the cinema. This format also uses Dolby noise reduction to improve the fidelity of the

 optical track. The Dolby Stereo track was designed so that the print could be played in any theatre inthe =

world that plays 35 mllllmeter ﬁlm even if the theatre did not have our decoding equipment.

*  Dolby SR - Dolby SRis an enhancement to Dolby Stereo, utilizing Dolby SR signal processing mstead
of A-type noise reduction. Dolby SR soundtracks feature a significantly improved dynamic range, and
are found today on almost all major 35 millimeter film release prints.

Digital Audio Coding Technologies

We have developed digital audio coding technologies for use in a wide range of entertainment industries.
Based on research into the characteristics of human hearing, the sophisticated algorithms used in our digital ‘
audio technologies make it possible to store or transmit digital audio using less data than would otherwise be .
necessary, without noticeable loss of sound quahty The following is a list of our digital audio coding
technologies:

o Dolby Digital — Dolby Digital is a digital audio coding format used to provide surround soind in -
theatres from 35 mm film, and in the home from DVDs, digital broadcast television, cable and satellite
systems, and laser discs. Dolby Digital enables the storage and transmission of up to five full-range
audio channels, plus a low-frequency effects channel, vsing less data bandwidth than is required for
just one channel of music on a compact disc.

s Dolby Digital Plus - Dolby Digital Plus is a new digital audio coding technology, built as an extension to
Dolby Digital, With the addition of new coding techniques and an expanded bitstream structure, Dolby .
Digital Plus offers greater efficiency for lower bitrates, as well as the option for more channels and higher
bitrates. Dolby Digital Plus can support a wide range of current and emerging applications such as digital
television, internet-delivered audio for interactive programs and high définition video disc formats. Dolby
Digital Plus is compatible with all existing Dolby Digital-equipped audio/video receivers.

* Dolby AC-2 - Doli)y AC-2 provides professional audio quality digital sound using less data and lower
bandwidth, reducing the data capacity required in applications such as satellite and terrestrial
transmissions.

+  MLP Lossless — MLP Lossless is a coding system specified for DVD-Audio that compresses data with
bit-for-bit accuracy. MLP, or Meridian Lossless Packing, effectively doubles disc space without
affecting the quality of high-resolution PCM audio.

*  Dolby TrueHD — Dolby TrueHD is an audio delivery format that delivers bit-for-bit performance upon
playback identical to the original studio master tapes. Dolby TrueHD expands upon core MLP Lossless
technology, adding metadata capability as well as expanded bitrate and discrete channel offerings. When
applied to HD video content, the coding efficiencies of Dolby TrueHD enable content providers to
include a 100% lossless audio track on next-generation optical media without compromising or
sacrificing overall bit budget demands. Dolby TrueHD implementations can also decode 5.1 channel
DVD-Audic content, eliminating the need for a secondary audio decoder in universal-style DVD players.
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s Dolby E - Dolby E is a professional digital audio coding system developed to assist the conversion of !
two—channel broadcast facnllues to multl-channel audlo

. Advanced Audio Coding {AAC) - AAC is a high-quality audxo codmg technology appropnate for many
broadcast and electronic music-distribution applications. Dolby Laboratories was one of the four :
developers of this technology. Although we have developed versions of AAC technology that also '
incorporate our proprietary technologies, we generally participate in the licensing of AAC technology
through patent pools comprised of groups of patents held by us and other companies and administered
by Via Licensing, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. See “Technology Licensing Segment” for

\ further description of our patent pool licensing activities through Via Licensing. - '

« Dolby Digital Live — Dolby Digital Live is a real-time encoding technology that converts any audio
signal into a Dolby Digital bitstream for transport and playback through a home theater system. Dolby
Digital Live enables a PC or game console to be hooked up to a Dolby Digital-equipped audio/video
receiver or digital speaker system via a single digital connection.

¥ - 0

" . Consumer Sirround Sound Technologies

Our consumer surround sound technologies process analog or digital signals to create a multi-channel
surround sound experience through multiple speakers (generally positioned as left, center, right, and right
surround and left surround). In addition, we offer technologies that allow users to create a surround sound effect
from as few as two speakers, or through an ordinary pair of headphones, as well as enable listeners to personalize
their sound. The following is a list of our consumer surround sound technologies:

s Dolby Digital (for consumer electronics products) - Dolby Digital is a technology for digital audio
encoding and decoding of consumer formats such as DVDs and DTV. As with film sound, Dolby
Lo Digital can provide up to five full-range channels for left, center and right channels and independent
' left and right surround channels, and a sixth channel for low- frequency effects.

«  Dolby Pro Logic I - Dolby Pro Logic II is a matrix surround decoding technélogy that detects the
naturally occurring directiona) cues in two-channel audio content and transforms the content into five
playback channels of full-bandwidth surround sound.

*. Dolby Virtual Speaker — Dolby Virtual Speaker is an audio virtualization technology that simulates the
effect of natural, realistic surround sound from just two stereo speakers. Dolby Virtual Speaker
transforms TV, movies, and music into a surround sound experience, bnngmg surround sound to .
anyone with a two-speaker system.

* Dolby Headphone - Dolby Headphone technology provides the sound of a five-speaker surround
playback system through any pair of headphones by modeling the surround sound llstenmg experience
of a properly set up and calibrated 5.1-channel speaker system. - : .

* Audistry by Dolby ~ Audistry by Dolby is a suite of audio enhancement technologies that allows A .
consumers to customize their listening experience and can improve the sonic performance of a variety i
of electronic products including home stereos, televisions, MP3 players and mobile phones. Audistry
by Dolby enables the listener to make bass response more natural, add space and ambiance, and
manage volume levels automatlcally

Analog Signal Proeessing Technolagies‘ o

Our ahalog sighal processing technologies,‘ including our noise reduction technologies, improve the sound
quality of cassette tapes and film sound by reducing background noise and extending the overall dynamic range
of analog media.




Content Protection Technologies

We offer content protection technologies and services to the entertainment industry under the Cinea brand
name. These.technologies include encryption technology and forensic watermarking to track pirated material

back to the source,

Doiby Professional Product Categories

. Traditional Cinema Processors — used to read and decode a film’s soundtrack and calibrate the sound
system in a movie theatre.

o Digital Media Adapters - uscd to adapt exlstmg analog cinema audm systems to the latest digital audio
formats.

¢ Digital Cinema Products — used to load, 'storc decrypt and decode encrypted'digital film files for .
presentation on a digital projector. '

»  Broadcast Products — used to encode, transmit, and decode multiple channels of high-quality audio for
DTV and HDTV program production.and broadcast distribution and to measure the subjectwe loudness
of audio content wnhm broadcast programming.

«  Live Sound Products - used for concert venues to control loudspeaker systems and improving sound
quality.

Technology Licensing Segment

We license our technologies to manufacturers of consumer electronics and professional electronics products
and independent software vendors. Generally, we utilize two models in our licensing business—a two-tier model
and an integrated model. We also license some of our patents'as well as patents owned by other entities through
joint patent licensing programs (informally known as “patent pools”).

Two-Tier Licensing Model : o

Most of our licensing business consists of a two-tier licensing model whereby our technology algorithms,
embodied in reference software and firmware ‘code, are first provided under license to a semiconductor
manufacturer who incorporates our technologies in semiconductor chips such as an integrated circuit (IC). Our
licensed semiconductor manufacturers, which we refer to as “implementation licensees,” then sell their ICs to
manufacturers of consumer electronics products which also hold licenses to use our technologies and which we
refer to as “system licensees.” Our system licensees are separately lcensed by us to make and sell end-user
consumer electronics products, such as cassette decks, DVD players, DVD recorders, audio/video receivers,
television sets, set-top boxes, video game consoles, personal audio and video players, personal computers and
in-car entertainment systems, that incorporate ICs purchased from our implementation licensees.

Our implementation licensees may use our reference software and other licensed know-how directly,
building and selling core technologies such as ICs or software library modules. The lmplementatlon licensees pay
us only a modest, one-time, up-front administrative fee, typically between $10,000 and $20,000, per license. In
exchange, the licensee receives a licensing package, which includes certain information useful to build their
implementation. Once the licensee has built its implementation, it sends us a sample for quality-control .
certification. If we certify the implementation, the licensee is permitted to sell the approved 1mplcmemat1on to
system licensees. We do not receive any royalties from implementation licensees.

Our system licensees pay us an initial fee for the technologies they choose to license from us, typically
between $10,000 and $20,000. We deliver system licensees a licensing package that includes information useful

in utilizing our technologies in their products. Once a system licensee has built a prototype of a product that
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incorporates our technologies, they send us a sample for quality-control certification. If certified, the licensee is

permitted to buy approved implementations from any implementation licensee and to sell approved products to
retailers, distributors and consumers. Unlike sales of ICs by implementation licensees, sales of consumer

electronics products incorporating our technologies by system licensees are royalty bearing, generally based upon .

the number of units shipped by the system licensees that incorporate our technologies. We have licensing
arrangements with approximately 500 electronics product manufacturers and software developer licensees
located in approximately 35 countries, which typically entitle us to receive a royalty for every product
mcorporaung our technologles shipped by them. :

The amount of royalty we collect from a system hcensee on a particular product depends on a number of
factors such as the number of Dolby technologies used in that product and the total production volume for all

products:containing our'téchnologies by the system licensee.

Integrated Licensing Model

In addition to licensing under our two-tier licensing model, we also license our technologies as embodied in
C-language reference software code to independent software vendors (ISVs) and certain other consumer
electronics manufacturers that act as combined implementation and system licensees. These licensees incorporate
our technologies in their software applications, such as personal computer software DVD players used in desktop
or notebook computers, or in integrated circuits they manufacture themselves and then incorporate into their
consumer electronics products. In these cases, the ¢ lmplementauon" and thé “system” are one and the same. As
with the two-tier licensing model, the dual licensee pays us an initial administrative fee, typically between
$10,000 and $20,000. In exchange, the licensee receives a licensing package, which includes information useful
in order to incorporate our technologies into the licensee's software program or integrated circuits. Once the
licensee has built its product, they send us a semple for quality-control certification. If certified by us, the
licensee is permitted to sell the certified product to retallers dlsmbutors and consumers, subject to the paymenl
of royalties to us for each unit Shlpped

Licensing of Patent Pools _ ' '

- Through our wholly owned subsidiary,.Via Licensing, we administer joint patent licensing programs
(informally known as “patent pools”) on behalf of third-party patent owners. Some of the patent pools include
our patents. These patent pools allow product manufacturers streamlined access to certain foundational
technologies, including aspects of audio coding, video coding, digital radio and wireless Ethernet technologies...-

Products and Production Services Segment

Professional Products

We design and manufacture professional audio products for a broad array of entertainment industries,
including the motion picture, music, video game, home video, broadcast and live sound industries. Our
professional products, which are distributed in over 50 countries, are used in content creation, distribution and
playback to provide surround sound, improve sound quality and increase the efficiency of sound storage and
distribution. We manufacture our professional products in our two manufacturing facilities, located in Brisbane,
California and Wootton Bassett, England. We outsource the manufacturing of our secure DVD products offered
by one of our subsidiaries.

Contenr creators, distributors.and broadcasters. Filmmakers, music producers, video game designers,
broadcasters and DVD producers use our professional products to produce and distribute entertainment content
incorporating our sound technologies. We typically enter into service agreements with motion picture studios or
filmmakers in connection with the production of a particular film. Under these agreements, we provide our
encoders to the studio for use during sound mixing, enabling them to'create films with Dolby soundtracks using
our proprietary technologies. We sell products to the digital television, music, video game and home video
industries. ,




Cinema Operators. Cinema operators use our professional products to play motion picture soundiracks
that have been produced using our sound technologies. In addition, we offer a suite of professional products.
which enables cinemas to store and playback films released in an ali digital format.

t e e

Professional Serwces o o K .

We offer a vanety of productlon services to support: productlon*of motronsplcturc broadcast mustc and
video game content. OQur sound engineers work alongside filmmakers, television broadcasters, music producers
- and video game designers to help them use our products to create and reproduce the sound they envision. We
enter into service agreements with filmmakers on a film-by-film basis to provide them with sound production
services related to the preparation of a Dolby soundtrack, such as equipment calibration, mixing room alighment
and equalization. Under these service agreements, we also provide a Dolby encoder to the filmmaker for us¢
during sound mixing. In addition, we sometimes provide other services, for an additional charge, such as print
checking and theatre sound system calibration for important screenings, such as premieres, film festivals and
press screenings_. , . ) o ‘ oo
Bt e . - Our eﬂg]neerg can also provtde trammg, system de51gn expemsesand'on sngtechmca]rexpemse to,cinema
operators throughout the ‘world'to help them conﬁgurc their theatres and sound equipment to ensure that’ movie
soundtracks are replayed with consistent high sound quality. In addition, our engmeers can also help optimize a
theatre’s on-screen image using spec1ahzed test equ1pmcnt and expertise.

Industry Standards

We believe that the entertainment mdustry evolves toward an 1mproved entertainment expenence through
the adoptton of global technological standards. Industry standards may be created through formal negotlated” :
standards processes, whereby governmental entities, industry standards bodies, trade associations and others
evaluate and then select technology standards, which are then prescribed or, in certain cases, required for use by
industry companies. We sometimes refer to these as “explicit” standards. In addition, industry standards may be
created through a “de facto” process, whereby a technology is introduced directly in the marketplace and
becomes widely used by industry participants. Certain of our technologies have been adopted as the explicit or de
facto industry standards on both the professional and consumer sides of our business. We actively participate in a
broad spectrum of professional organizations and mdustry standards boards worldwide that establish explicit
industry standards. ..

Sales and Marketing

Consumer Lweusmg

We sell and market our l1censed technologles toa w1de range of electromcs product manufacturers through
our account management team. This team markets our technologies to potentlal licensees on a worldwide basis_
from our headquarters in San Francisco and is supported by our offices in Bel_]mg, Hong-Kong, London,
Shanghai, Sydney and Tokyo. We divide our sales and marketing efforts for' our licensed technologies into the
following markets: consumer electronics, personal computer, broadcasting, gaming and automotive. In the
consumer electronics market, we focus our ‘sales and marketing efforts on manufacturers of consumer electronics
products such as DVD players, DVD recorders, home theatre systems, audio/video receivers, and personal audio
and video players. In the broadcast market, we market our technologies to makers of televisions and set-top
boxes. In the autornotive market, we market our technologies primarily to manufacturers of after-market in-car |
entertainment systems. In the personal computer market, we focus our marketing.efforts on software developers,
but also have begun to market our technologies directly to.personal computer-manufacturers. In the gaming
market, we have a dedicated team of marketers who focus their efforts on game developers and publishers to
ensure that content is encoded with our technologies, ‘and on-game console manufiacturers to ensure that consoles
are developed with our technologies.
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'Professional Products and Production Services -

We sell our professional products through sales channeis dedicated to specific industries. For cinema
products, we sell to a combination of dealers, distributors and original equipment manufacturers, as well as

directly to theatres themselves. Larger theatre chains, such as AMC and Regal, have their own purchasing
departments and buy our products directly. Smaller chains and independents typically make their purchases
through distributors. We also sell our professional products through cinema projector manufacturers that also act
as distributors for other cinema equipment so that they can put logelher packages Companies to whom we sell
our equipment typically have attended a training course in installation and alignment in order to ensure that our
equipment is correctly mstalled and aligned, thus assunng a high quality experience for the audience

.

" Our professional broadcast products are sold o companies specializing in broadcast equipmem as well as
some system integrators who design and equip complete broadcast installations. We also sell circuit boards
incorporating our broadcast technologies to other manufacturets to integraté into their own broadcast products.
For large purchases, we also sell directly to the end- -user. - -

We sell our Live Sound products to professmnal sound re- enforcemenl engmeers to help manage multiple
channels of equalization and improve live concert sound quahty

Marketing for our products is largely done at industry trade shows such as the Audio Engineering Society
exhibitions: CineAsia, Cinema Expo, International Broadcasters Convention, National Association of
Broadcasters, ShowEast and ShoWest. We also advertise in trade magazines on a limited basis.

For production services, we deal directly with film producticn companies, which typically enter into service
contracts with us for a specific film. Under the terms of our service agreements, we provide the equipment
required to perform the mastering to the film production companies. Any additional services provided are then
charged at our current engineering rates. We also provide digital cinema content preparation services acting as a
technical agent for our clients by following the content from start to finish and prov1dmg compressxon mastering
and distribution media preparation, distribution and verification services.

Research and Development

Historically, we have focused our research and development primarily on audio signal processing
technologies. Increasingly, we have expanded our research and development efforts into new areas including
technologies for processing digital moving images and protecting content. By focusing on creation, proof of
feasibility.and early-stage prototyping of patentable new sound, image and related technologies, the research
group serves as a source of new technologies for the engineering and technology development teams. The
research group also helps identify, investigate and analyze new long-term opportunities, helps shape our,
technology strategy, and provides support for internally developed and externally acquired technologies.

Engineering and technology development teams take the technologies developed by the research group and
further develop such technologies for use in our professional products and by.our licensees. In addition, these
engineers and technology development teams are involved in the commercialization of technologies_qicated by
third parties that may be of interest to us. _ ) ) : : L

We conduct our research and development activities at 4 number of locations worldwide, including Burbank
and San Franc:qco California, Richmond, Virginia, Yardley, Pennsylvania and Sydney, Australia. As of
September 29, 2006, we had approximately 188 employees involved in research and development.'Our research
and development expenses were $23.5 m11110n $30 5 million and $35 4 m11110n in ﬁscal 2004, 2005 and 2006
respecllvely

- . . . >
' - . o D

PE

Manufacturing

We . manufacture our professional products primarily in our two-manufacturing facilities located in Brisbane,
California and Wootton Bassett, England. Our professional product m_anufacturing process is a low-volume,
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material intense, low-labor business operation, with core competencies of automation, quick set-ups, experienced
personnel and product testing. While both facilities manufacture our main cinema processors, the Brisbane
facility also manufactures most of the broadcast products, while Wootton Bassett manufactures lower volume
and specialty cinema products. By having the same types of equipment, as well as assembly and testing, in both

locations, we are able to balance production output between locations to meet customer demands.

Our manufaciuring process is a circuit board assembly operation, meaning we do not manufacture circuit
boards nor do we fabricate metal products in-house as those activities are outsourced to multiple suppliers. Our
product quality is ensured by a high level of automation to eliminate manual assembly as much as possible and
provide for an efficient and consistent manufacturing process. Automated assembly capabilities include surface
mount, through-hole and odd-form insertion. Our product testing includes in-circuit testing of finished circuit
boards, functional testing of-all- parameters in the engineering specifications, and final testing to ensure that the

product meets the published specnﬁcatmns

2 Y RUEC A BT S . - e i

We purchase components and fabricated parts from multiple suppliers. We rely on sole source suppliers for
some of the components that we use to manufacture our professional products, including certain charged coupled
devices, light emitting diodes and digital signal processors. We source components and fabricated parts locally,
but we also buy globally in order to ensure continued supply.

L+

Customers

We have customners in a wide range of entertainment industries, on both the professional products and
production services side and the technology licensing side of our business. We sell our professional products
either directly to the end user customer or, more commonly, through dealers and distributors. Qur professional
products and services end user customers include movie studios, cinema operators, film distributors,
broadcasters, and video game designers. Our licensees include manufacturers of home audio/video products,
set-top boxes, personal audio and video players, video game consoles, in-car entertainment systems and personal

computer software DVD developers, as well as integrated circuit manufacturers who manufacture the chips used -

in these products.

Competition

The markets for entertainment industry technologies, including motion picture, broadcasting, consumer
electronics, computer, gaming and internet technologies, are highly competitive, and we face competitive threats
and pricing pressure in all of these industries. Our competitors in our products and services business include,
among other companies, Avica, Creative Technologies, DTS, Doremi, EVS, GDC, Kodak, NEC, Panastereo,
Qube, QuVis, Sony and UltraStereo. On the technology licensing side of our business, our competitors include
Coding Technologies, DIVX, DTS, Fraunhofer Institute for Integrated Circuits, Microsoft, Philips,
RealNetworks, Sony, SRS Labs and Thomson. Other companies may become competitors in the future.

Some of our current and future competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing
and other resources than we do, or may have more experience or advantages in the markets in which they
compete. For example, Microsoft and RealNetworks may have an advantage over us in the market for internet
technologies because of their greater experience in that market. In addition, some of our current or potential
competitors, such as Microsoft and RealNetworks, may be able to offer integrated system solutions in certain
markets for sound or non-sound entertainment technologies, including audio, video and rights management
technologies related to personal computers or the internet, which could make competing technologies that we
develop or acquire unnecessary. By offering an integrated system solution, these potential competitors also may
be able to offer competing technologies at lower prices than our technologies, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

‘We also face competitive risks in situations where our customers are also current or potential competitors.
For example, Sony is a significant customer and is also a competitor with respect to certain of our professional
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and consumer technologies. In addition, Universal, which is a purchaser of our professional products and
production services, also has had an equity ownership interest in one of our competitors, DTS.

In addition, many of the consumer electronics products that include our sound technologies also inciude
sound technologies developed by our competitors. We belleve that the principal competitive factors in each of
our markets include some or all of the following;

= Inclusion in explicit industry standards; -
*  Adoption as de facto industry standards;

* Brand recognition and reputation;
* Quality and reliability of products and services;
* Technology performance, flexibility and range of application;

» Relationships with film producers and distributors and with semiconductor and consumer electronics
product manufacturers;

« Availability of compatible high-quality audio content and the inclusion of Dolby Digital soundtracks
on DVDs;
e Price; and .

+ Timeliness and relevance of new product introductions.
We believe we compete favorably with respect to many of these factors.

In general, we are unable to quantify our market share in the particular markets in which we operate. Our
products and services span the audio portions of several separate and diverse industries, including the motion
picture, broadcasting and video game and recording industries. The lack of clear definition of the markets in
which our products, services and technologies are sold or licensed, the basic nature of our technologies, which
can be used for a variety of purposes, and the diverse nature of and lack of detailed reporting by our competitors
makes it impracticable to quantify our position.

Intellectual Property

We have a substantial base of intellectual .properiy assets, including patents, trademarks, copyrights and
trade secrets such as know-how.

We have over 950 individual issued patents and over 1,400 pending patent applications in nearly 35
jurisdictions throughout the world. Our issued patents are scheduled to expire at various times through February
2025. Of these, 19 patents are scheduled to expire in the remainder of calendar year 2006, 49 patents are
scheduled to expire in calendar year 2007, 19 patents are scheduled to expire in calendar year 2008 and 6 patents
are scheduled 1o expire in calendar 2009. We derive our licensing revenue principally from our Dolby Digital
technologies. Patents relating to our Dolby Digital technologies generally expire between 2008 and 2017, and
patents relating to our Dolby Digital Plus technologies, an extension of Dolby Digital, expire between 2019 and
2023. In addition, the last patents relating to Dolby Digital Live technologies, an extension of Dolby Digital, are
scheduled to expire in 2021. We pursue a general practice of filing patent applications for our technology in the
United States and various foreign countries where our customers manufacture, distribute, or sell licensed
products. We actively pursue new applications to expand our patent portfolio to address new technology
innovations. We have multiple patents covering unique aspects and improvements for many of our technologies.

We have over 850 trademark registrations throughout the world for a variety of word marks, logos and
slogans. Our marks cover our various products, technologies, improvements and features, as well as the services
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that we provide. Our trademarks are an integral part of our licensing program and licensees typically elect to
place our trademarks on their. products to inform consumers that their products incorporate our technology and
meet our quality specifications. Our trademarks include the following:

Examples of our Word Trademarks

* Dolby + Dolby Surround

* Dolby Digital + EQ Assist

* Dolby Headphone ¢ TrueHD

¢ Dolby SR ¢ Surround EX
wome e aow e oo. . Examples of our Logo Trademarks

oo s !

OooLeyr

Orpocey”  DXDoLEYF mm

DIGITAL DIGITALs EX SURROUND

DOfooLey! . DOBOLEYT
PRO LOGIC I Du PRO LOGIC Ex

We actively attempt to enforce our intellectual property rights both domestically and in foreign countries.
However, we have experienced problems in the past with consumer electronics product manufacturers in
emerging economies, such as China, failing to report or underreporting shipments of their products that
incorporate our technologies, and we expect to continue to experience such problems in the future. Also, we have
experienced similar problems in other countries where intellectual property rights are not as respected as they are
in the United States, Japan and Europe.

In addition, we have relatively few or no issued patents in certain countries. For example, in China we have
only limited patent protection, especially with respect to our Dolby Digital technologies. In India, we have no -
issued patents. Consequently, growing our licensing revenue in developing countries such as China and India will
depend on our ability to obtain patent rights in these courities, which is uncertain. Moreover, because of the
limitations of the legal systems in many countries, the effectiveness of patents obtained or that may in the future
be obtained, if any, is likewise uncertain.

Employees

As of September 29, 2006, we had 864 employees worldwide consisting of 495 employees in sales,
marketing, general and administration, 188 employees in research and development and 181 employees in
manufacturing, distribution and production services and support. As of September 29, 2006, approximately 212
of our 864 employees were working outside of the United States. None of our employees is subject to a collective
bargaining agreement. We believe that our employee relations are good.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board. The names of our executivé officers and their
ages, titles, and biographies as of November 30, 2006 are set forth below:

Executive Officers é_gs Position(s)

RayDolby ............ ... 73 Founder and Chairman of the Board

Bill Jaspet ............... 59  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mark Anderson ........... 48 . Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary - - .
Steve Fors'hay e 52 Senior Vice President, Rescarch . .

Ramzi Haidamus .......... 42  Senior Vice President and General Manager, Consumer Division
Marty Jaffe ...... S 53  Executive Vice President, Business Affairs

Tim Partridge ............ 44 Senior Vice President and General Manager, Professional Division
David Watts ............. 54  Senior Vice President and Managing Director, United Kingdom Branch
Kevin Yeaman ........... 40  Chief Financial Officer ' o

Ray Dolby, Founder and Chairman of Dolby Laboratories, was born in Portland, Oregon and grew up on the
San Francisco peninsula. From 1949 through 1952 he worked on audio and instrumentation projects at Ampex
Corporation, where from 1952 through 1957, as a student, he was mainly responsible for the development of the
electronic aspects of the Ampex video tape recording system. He received his B.S. in electrical engineering from
Stanford University in 1957 and, as a Marshall Scholar, left Ampex to pursue further studies at Cambndge
University in England He received a Ph.D. degree in physics from Cambndge in 1961,

In 1963, Dolby took up a two-year appointment as a Umted Nations technical advisor in India, then returned
to England in 1965 to found Dolby Laboratories in London. In 1976 he established further ofﬁc?s, laboratories |
and manufacturing facilities in California. He holds more than 50 United States.patents and has written papers on
video tape recording, long wavelength X-ray analysis and noise reduction.

Honors and Awards—Audio Engineering Society: Fellow and Past President; Silver Medal; Gold Medal.
British Kinematograph Sound and Television Society: Fellow; Science and Technology Award. Society of
Motion Picture and Television Engineers:; Fellow; Samuel L. Warner Memorial Award; Alexander M, Poniatoff
Gold Medal; Progress Medal; Honorary Member. Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences: Science and
Engineering Award; “Oscar” Award. National Academy of Television Arts and Sciences: “Emmy” Award.
National Academy of Recording Arts and Sciences: “Grammy” Award United States National Medal of
Technology United Kingdom: Honorary O.B.E.

Bill Jasper, our Prestdent and Chief Executive Officer, joined Dolby Laboratories in February 1979 and has
also served as a director since June 2003. Mr. Jasper served in a variety of positions prior to becoming president
in May 1983, including as our Vice President, Finance and Administration and Executive Vice President.

Mr. Jasper is a member of the Audio Engineering Society and the Society of Motion Picfure and Television
Engineers and an at-large member of the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences. He serves as chairman
of the board of directors of FOCUS Enhancements. Mr. Jasper holds a B.S. degree in industrial engineering from
Stanford University and a M.B.A. from the University of California at Berkeley,

Mark Anderson joined us as our Vice President, General Counsel in November 2003, was appointed our
Corporate Secretary in March 2004, and was appointed Senior Vice President in November 2006. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Anderson was an associate and then a partner at the law firm of Farella Braun & Martel LLP, from
August 1989 to November 2003. Mr. Anderson is a certified public accountant and holds a B.S. degree in
business administration from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hﬂl and a J.D. from Golden Gate
Umversny School of Law.

Steve ‘F orshay has served as our Senior Vice President, Research since November 2004 Previously,
Mr. Forshay served in & variety of other positions since joining us in 1982, including as our Vice president,
Research and Vice President, Engineering. Mr. Forshay is a member of the Audio Engineering Society, the
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Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers and the Society of Motion Picture and Television Engineérs.
Mr. Forshay holds a B.S.E.E. degree in electrical englneermg from the New Jersey Institute of Technology and a

M.B.A. fiom Saint Mary’s College of Cahforma

Ramzi Haidamus has served as the Vice President and General Manager of our consumer division since
February 2006 and was appointed Senior Vice President and General Manager in November 2006. Prevmusly, .
Mr. Haidamus served in a variety of other posmons since joining us in 1996, including as the President and
General Manger of our wholly -owned sub51d1ary Via Licensing Corporation, and as our Director of Business
Development, Technology and Business. Strateglst and Licensing Manager. Prior to joining us, Mr. Haidamus,
worked at Stanford Research Systems for seven years. Mr. Haidamus holds a B.S. degree in electrical
engineering and 4 M.S. degree in computer engmeenng from the Unlversny of the Pacific. Mr. Haidamus is a
member of the Licensing Execuuves Soc:ety o

1 Marty Jaﬁ”e has served as our Executlve VICE President, Busmess Affairs since October 2005. Prevnous]y,
Mr. Jaffe served as our Executive Vice President, Business and Finance between March 2004 and October 2005.
and as our Vice President, Business Affairs since joining us in November 2000 to March 2004, Prior to joining
us, Mr. Jaffe sérved in a variety of positions at the Chronicle Pubhshmg Company,a diversified media company,
from June 1986 to October 2000, most recently as the Vice Presidént and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Jaffe is a
céstified public accountant and holds an A.B. degree in political and social behavior from Occidental College,a
J.D. from the Umversnty of Cahforma Hastmgs College of Law and a M.B. A from the Umversny of Cahfomxa at
Berkeley. -

Tim Partridge has served as the Senior Vice President and General Manager of our professional division
since March 2004. Previously, Mr. Partridge sefved in a variety of other positions since joining us in 1984,
including as the Vice President and General Manager of our professional division and Vice President, Marketing.
Mr. Partridge holds a bachelor’s of music and electromcs honors degree from the Tonmelster program at the

University of Surrey.

“ David Watts has served as the Senior Vice President and Managing Director of our United Kingdom branch
since March 2005 and served as the Vice President and Managing Director of our United Kingdom branch from
January 2000-until March 2005. Previously, Mr. Watts served in a variety of other positions since joining us in
1977, including as our Vice President, Marketlng Mr. Watts holds a B.Sc. degree in mathematics from the
Umversny of Sussex. : .

Kevin Yeaman has served as our Chief Financial Officer since October 2005. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Yeaman worked for seven years at E.piphany, Inc., a publicly traded ‘eriterprise software company, most
recently as Chief Financial Officer from August 1999 1o October 2005. Previously, Mr. Yeaman served as
Worldwide Vice President of Field Finance Operations for Informix Software, Inc., a provider. of relaticnal
database software from February | 1998 to August 1998. From September 1988 to February 1998, Mr. Yearnan
served i in Silicon Valley and London in various positions at KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, an accounting firm,
servmg most recently as a senior manager. Mr. Yeaman holds a BS degree in commerce from Santa Clara
University. .

Corporate and Available Information

We were founded in London, England in 1965 and incorporated as a New York corporation in 1967. We
reincorporated in California in 1976 and reincorporated in Delaware in September 2004. Our principal executive
offices are located at 100 Potrero ‘Avenue, San Francisco, California 94103 and our telephone number is
(415) 558-0200. - o S, ‘ : o

Our internet address is www.dolby.com. We make available on our website, free of charge, our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those
reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Our SEC reports can be accessed through the Investor Relations section of our internet website. The information
found on our internet website is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be
carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks
and uncertainties not presently known lo us or that we presently deem less significant may also impair our
business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our busmess operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected. ‘

Our business and prospects depend on the strength of our brand, and if we do not maintain and
strengthen our brand, our business wnll be materially harmed,

Maintaining and strengthening the “Dolby brand is critical to ma.mtammg and expandmg both our products
and services business and our technology licensing business, as well as to our ability to enter new markets for our
sound and other technologies. Qur continued success depends, in part, on our reputation for providing high
quality products, services and technologies across a wide range of entertainment industries, including the
consumer electronics products industry. If we fail to promote and maintain the Dolby brand successfully on
either the products and services or the licensing sides of our business, our business and prospects will suffes.
Moreover, we believe that the likelihood that our technologies will be adopted as industry standards in various
markets and for various applications depends, in part, upon the strength of our brand, because professional
organizations and industry participants are more likely to accept, as an industry standard, technologies developed

by a well-respected and well-known brand. Maintaining and strengthening our brand will depend heavily on our

ability to continue to develop innovative technologies for the entertainment industry and to contmue to provide
high quality products and services, which we may not do successfully.

We do not expect sales of traditional consumer DVD players to sustain their past growth rates. To the
extent that sales of DVD players and home theatre systems level off or declme, or alternative technologies
in which we do not participate replace DVDs as a dominant medium for consumer video entertainment,
our licensing revenue will be adversely affected.

Growth in our revenue over the past several years has been the result, in large part, of the rapid growth in
sales of DVD players and home theatre systems incorporating our technologies. However, as the markets for
DVD players mature, we do not expect sales of traditional consumer DVD players to sustain their past growth
rates. To the extent that sales of DVD players and home theatre systems level off or decline, our licensing
revenue will be adversely affected. Additionally, the release and consumer adoption of next-generation DVD
players has been delayed. There are currently two potential, incompatible formats for next-generation high-
definition disc format proposed, and consumers may not react favorably to having to make a choice between
formats. The delay in the release and consumer adoption of the next-generation disc format, as well as the
inability of traditional DVD players to sustain their past growth rates, could adversely affect our licensing
revenue. Even assuming resolution of the competing disc format conflict, the rate of consumer adoption of nexi-
generation DVD players is uncertain and may be slower than past growth rates of traditional DVD players. In
addition, if new technologies are developed for use with DVDs or new technologies are developed that

substantially compete with or replace DVDs as a dominant medium for consumer video entertainment, and if we

are 'unable to develop and successfully market technologies that are incorporated into or compatible with those
new technologies, our business, operating results and prospects will be adversely affected.

We depend on the sale by our licensees of products that incorporate our technologies, and a reduction in
those sales would adversely affect our licensing revenue.

We derive most of our revenue from the licensing of our technologies to consumer electronics product
manufacturers. We derived 73%, 75% and 77% of our total revenue from our technology licensing business in
fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. We do not manufacture consumer electronics products ourselves and
our licensing revenue is dependent on sales by our licensees of products that incorporate oilr technologies. We
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cannot control these manufacturers’ product development or commercialization efforts or predict their success. In

- and alternate-consumerientertainment options could adversely affect demand for new products incorporating our

addition, our license agreements, which typically require manufacturers of consumer electronics products and
software developers to pay us a specified royalty for every electronics product shipped that incorporates our
technologies, do not require these manufacturers to include our technologies in any specific numberor - - -

percentage of units, and only a few of these agreements guarantee us a minimum aggregate licensing fee.

Accordingly, if our licensees sell fewer products incorporating our technologies, or otherwise face sngmﬁcant
economic difficulties, our revenue will decline. Moreover, we have a widespread prescncc in markets for’«

electronics products, such as the consumer elecironics product market, which includes DVD players, audlolwdeo
receivers and other home theatre consumer electronics products, and, as a result, there is little room forus to
further penetrate such markets. Lower sales of products incorporating our lechnologles could occur for a number
of reasons. Changes in consumer lastes or trends, or changes in industry standards, may adversely affect our
licensing revenue. Increasing market saturation, durability of products in the marketplace, competing products

technologies. In addition, our licensees, for whatever reason, may not choose to or may not be able to incorporate-

mm‘ technologles into,their products initheifuture, . .. -
pa i if#v#wi mﬁx <1 it

We face nsks l"
recogmtlon and "enforcemént of intellectual property and contractual rlghts iin these countrles.

We beheve that various trends will continue to increase our exposure to the risks of conducting business-in
emerging economies. For example, we expect consumer electronics product manufacturing in emerging
economies, such as China, to continue to increase due to the availability of lower manufacturing costs as
compared to in other industrial countries and an industry shift by discount retailers towards lower-end DVD
player offerings. We also believe that our sales of professional products and production services in emerging
economies will expand in the future to the extent that the use of digital surround sound technologies increases in
these countries, including in movies and bioadcast television. We further expéct that the sale of producls
mcorporatmg our technologies will increase in emerging economies to the extent that consumers there become
more affluent. We face many risks associated with operating in these emerging economiies, in large part, due to
limited recognition and enforcement of contractual and intellectual property rights. As a result, we may
experience difficulties in enforcing our intellectual property rights in these emerging economies, where
intellectual property rights are not as respected as they are in the United States, Japan and Europe. We believe
that it is critical that we strengthen existing relationships and develop new relationships with entertainment
industry participants world-wide to increase our ability to enforce our intellectual property and contractual rights
without relying solely on the legal systems in the countries in which we operate. If we are unable to develop,
maintain and streng(hen these relationships, our revenue from these countries could be adversely affected.

*

Our future success depends, in part, upon the growth of new and existing markets for our technologies and
our ability to develop and adapt our technologies for those markets. If those markets do not grow or we
are not able to develop successful products for them, our business prospects could be limited.

We.exp:éct that the future growth of our licensing revenue will depend, in part, upon the growth of, and our
successful participation in, new opportunities for our technologies, including: . ;

« - Next-generation DVD;

» Digital television and radio broadcasting;

+« HDTV; ' _

« Personal computer technology; ' . 1
» Video game consoles and video games; ‘
« Home DVD recording; '

-+ In-car entertainment systems;

18




* Personal audio and video players, including internet music applications; *
+ Broadband internet; and

-

s Mobile devices.

The development of these markets depends on increased consumer defmand fof prodiicts that contain our
technologies, which may not occur. Any failure of such markets to develop or consumer demand to grow would
have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects. For example, in the PC market, equipment
manufacturers and software developers are expériéncing pricing pressure and, as a result, they may evaluate
whether or not DVD playback software should be built into their base models, which may result in lowered
demand for our techriology. Whether our revenue from digital broadcast networks and broadband internet
services increases depends upon the expansion of digital broadcast technologles and broadband internet as a
medium of entertainment, which may not occur. In addition, even when our technologles are adopted as industry
standards for'a particular market, such market may not fully devetop. In such case, our success depends not only
on whether our technologies are adopted as industry standards for such market, but also on the development of
that market, which may not occur. Demand for our technologles in any of thesé developing markets may not
continue to grow, and a sufficiently broad base of consumers and professionals may not ddopt or continue to use
these technotogies. In addition, our ability to generate revenue from these markets may be limited to the extent
that service providers in these markets choose to provide select technologies and entertainment for little or no
cost, such as many of the services provided in connection with broadband internet services. Moreover, some of -
these markets are ones in which we have not prevmusly pamc1pated and, because of our limited experience, we
may not be able to adequately adapt our business and our technologies to the needs of customers in these fields.

If we fail to deliver innovative technologies in response to changes m the entertainment industry, our
business could decline.

The imarkets for our professional products and the markets for consumer electronics products using our
licensed technologies are characterized by rapid change and technological evolution. We will need to expend
considerable resources on research and development, or acquisitions, in the future in order to continue to design
and deliver enduring, innovative entertainment products and technologies. Despite our efforts, we may not be
abte to develop, or acquire, and effectively market new products, technologies and services that adequately or
competitively address the needs of the chianging marketplace. In addition, we may not correctly identify new or
changing market trends at an early enough stage to capitalize on market opportunities. At times such changes can
be dramatic, such as the shift from VHS tapes to DVDs for consumer playback of movies in homes and
elsewhere. Our future success depends to a great extent on our ability to develop, or acquire, and.deliver
innovative technologies that are widely adopted in response to changes in the entertainment industry and that are
compatible with the technologies or products introduced by other entertainment industry participants,

.t Lo N

Our operatmg results may fluctuate dependmg upon the timing of when we receive royalty reports l'rom
ouf licensees and of the satisfaction of our revenue recognition criteria.

Our quarterty operating results may fluctuate depending upon the timing of when we receive royalty reports
from our licensees and of the satisfaction of our revenue recognition criteria. We recognize license revenue only
after we receive royalty reports from our licensees regarding the shipment of their products that incorporate our
technologies. As a result, the timing of our revenue depends upon the timing of our receipt of those reports. In
addition, it is not uncommon for royalty reports to include positive or negative correctlve or retroactive royalties
that cover extended periods of time. Furthermore, there have been times in the past when we have recognized an
unusually large amount of licensing revenue from a licensee in a given quarter because not all of our revenue
recognition criteria were met in prior periods. This can result in a large amount of licensing revenue from a
licensee being recorded in a given quarter that is not necessarily indicative of the amounts of licensing revenue to
be received from that licensee in future quarters, thus causing fluctuations in our operating results.

- ]
-
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If our products and technologies fail to be adopted as industry standards, our business prospects could be
limited and our operating results could be adversely affected.

The entertainment industry depends upon industry standards to ensure the compatibility of its content across
a wide variety of entertainment systems and products. Accordingly, we make significant efforts to design our
products and technologies to address capabilities, quality and cost considerations so that they either meet, or,
more importantly, are adopted as, industry standards across the broad range of entertainment industry markets in
which we participate, as well as the markets in which we hope to compete in the future, including digital cinema.
To have our products and technologies adopted as industry standards, we must convince a broad spectrum of
professional organizations throughout the world, as well as our major customers and licensees who are members
of such organizations, to adopt them as such and to ensure that other industry standards are consistent with our
products and technologies. If our technologies are not adopted or do not remain as industry standards, our
business, operating results and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. We expect that meeting,
maintaining and establishing industry standard technologies will continue to be critical to our business in the

future. In addition, the market for broadcast technologies has traditionally been heavily based upon industry *

standards, often set by governments or other regulatory bodies, and we expect this to continue to be the case in
the future. If our technologies are not chosen as industry standards for broadcasting in particular geographic
areas, this could adversely affect our ability to compete in these markets.

It may be more difficult for us, in the future, to have our technologies adopted as individual industry
standards to the extent that entertainment industry participants collaborate on’ the development of
industry standard technologies.

Increasingly, standards-setting organizations are adopting or establishing technology standards for use in a
wide range of consumer electronics products. As a result, it is more difficult for individual companies to have
their technologies adopted wholesale as an informal industry standard. We call this type of standard a “de facto”
industry standard, meaning that the standard is not explicitly mandated by any industry standards-setting body
but is nonetheless widely adopted. In addition, increasingly there are a large number.of companies, including
ones that typically compete against one another, involved in the development of new technologies for use in
consumer entertainment products. As a result, these companies often license their collective intellectual property
rights as a group, making it more difficult for any single company to have its technologies adopted widely as a de
facto industry standard or to have its technologies adopted as an exclusive, explicit industry standard for
consumer electronics products.

Even if our technologies are adopted as an industry standard for a particular market, market participants
may not w1dely adopt our technologles. '

Even when a standards- settmg body mandates our technologies for a particular market, which we call an
“explicit” industry standard, our technologies may not be the sole technologies adopted for that market as an
industry standard. Accordingly, our operating results depend upon participants in that market choosing to adopt
our technologies instead of competitive technologies that also may be acceptable under such standard. For
example, the continued growth of our revenue from the broadcast market will depend upon both the continued
adoption of digital television generally and the choice to use our technologies where it is an optional industry
standard. : .

Our llcensmg of industry standard technologms can be subject to lmutatlons that could adversely affect
our business and prospects. |

When a standards-setting body adopts our technologies as explicit industry standards, we generally must
agree to license such technologies on a fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory basis, which could limit our
control over the use of these technologies. In these situations, we must often limit the royalty rates we charge for
these technologies, which could adversely affect our gross margins. Furthermore, we may be unable to limit to
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whom we license such technologies, and may be unable to restrict many terms of the license. From time to time
we may be subject to claims that our licenses of our industry standard technologies may not conform to the -
requirements of the standards-setting body. Private parties have raised this type of issue-with us in the past.
Allegations such as these could be asserted in private actions secking monetary damages and injunctive relief, or
in regulatory actions. Claimants in such cases could seek to restrict or change our licensing practices or our
ability to license our technologies in ways that could injure our reputation and otherwise materially and adversely
affect our business, operating results and prospects.

Third parties from whoin we license technologies may challenge our calculation of the royalties we owe
them for inclusion of their technologies in our products and licensed technologies, which could adversely
affect our operating results, business and prospects. y

In some cases, primarily in connection with the licensing of our Dolby Digital technologies, the products we
sell and the technologies we license to our customers include intellectual property that we have licensed from
third parties. Our agreements with these third parties generally require us to pay them royalties for that use, and
give the third parties the right to audit our calculation of those royalties. As a result of such an audit, a third party
could challenge the accuracy of our calculation, A successful challenge could increase the amount of royalties we
have to pay to the third party, decrease our gross margin and adversely affect our operating results. Such a
challenge could result in the termination of the license agreement which would impair our ability fo continue to
use and re-license intellectual property from that third party which, in turn, could adversely affect our business
and prospecls :

i

Inaccurate licensee royalty reporting and unauthorized use of our intellectual property could mateﬁally
adversely affect our operating results,

Our licensing revenue is generated primarily from consumer electronics product manufacturers and software
developers who license our technologies and incorporate them in their products. Under our existing
arrangements, these licénsees typically pay us a specified royalty for every product they ship that incorporates -
our technologies. We rely on our licensees to accurately report the number of units shipped that incorporate our
technologies. We calculate our license fees, prepare our financial reporis, projections and budgets, and direct our
sales and product development efforts based on these reports we receive from our licensees. However, it is often
difficult for us to independently determine whether or not our licensees are reporting shipments accurately. This
is especially true with respect to software incorporating our technologies because software can be copied
relatively easily and we oftentimes do not have easy ways to determine how many copies have been made. Most
of our license agreements permit us to audit our licensees’ records, but audits are generally expensive and time
consuming and initiating audits could harm our customer relationships. In the past, licensees, particularly’in
emerging economies, such as China, have understated or failed to report the number of products incorporating
our technologies that they shipped, and we have not been able to collect and recognize revenue to which we were
entitled. We expect that we will continue to experience understated and non-reporting by licensees, which could
adversely affect our operating results: Conversely, to the extent that our licénsees overstate the number of
products incorporating our technologies, or report the products under the wrong categories, negative corrections
could result in reductions of royalty revenue in subsequent periods. In addition, some of our licensees may begin
to more closely scrutinize their past or future licensing statements which may result in an increased receipt of
negalive corrective statements. : ) ’

We also have often experienced, and expect to continue to experience, problems with non-licensee -
consumer electranics product manufacturers and software developers, particularly in emerging economies, such
as China, incorporating our technologies or incorporating our technologies and trademarks into their products
* without our authorization and without paying us any licensing fees. This unauthorized use of our mtellectual
property could adversely affects our operating results. , - :
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Our licensing revenue depends in large part upon semiconductor manufacturers incorporating our
technologies into integrated circuits, or ICs, for sale to our electronics product licensees and if, for any
reason, our technologies are not incorporated in these ICs or fewer ICs are sold that incorporate our

technologies, our operating results would be adversely affected.

Our licensing revenue from consumer electronics product manufacturers depends in large part upon the
availability of integrated circuits, or ICs, that implement our technologies. IC manufacturers incorporate our
technologies into these ICs, which are then incorporated in consumer ¢lectronics products. We do not
manufacture these ICs, but rather depend on 1C manufacturers to develop, produce and then sell them to licensed
consumer electronics product manufacturers. We do not control the IC manufacturers’ decisions whether or not
to incorporate our technologies into their ICs, and we do not control their product development or
commercialization efforts nor predict their success. As a result, if these IC manufacturers are unable or unwilling,
for any reason, to implement our technologies into their ICs, or if, for any reason, they sell fewer ICs
incorporating our technologies, our operating results will be adversely affected.

Our inability. to deploy our digital cinema products in significant numbers in the early stages of the
transition to digital cinema, coupled with the price of our products, could limit our future prospects in the
digital cinema market and could materially and adversely affect our business. '

A single systems mtegrator Chnst]e/AIX has installed most of the digital cinema systems deployed to date
in U.S. theatres. In response to movie studio requlremems Christie/AIX has required that the digital cinema
equipment included in its installations provide particular capabilities, which our products do not currently satisfy.
Consequently, we have not supplied digital cinema systems to Christie/AlX, and at least one competitor has a
significantly greater installed base of its competing digital cinema products than we do due to its participation in
Christie/AIX’s deployments. In addition, our digital cinema products have higher prices than those of some of
our competitors. Our inability to deploy our digital cinema products in significant numbers in the early stages of
the transition to digital cinema and the prices of our digital cinema products could limit the success of our digital
cinema initiatives, which could materially and adversely affect our operating results.

.

If the market for digital cinema develops more slowly than expected, our future prospects could be llmlted
and our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Ly

If the industry cannot agree on one or more business models for digital cinema, the broad adoption of digital -
cinema will be delayed. The conversion of movie theatres from film to digital cinema will require significant
expenditures, and we cannot predict how quickly digital cinema will become widely adopted. At presentonly a
limited number of movie theatres have been converted to digital cinema, and we expect the conversion of
theatres to digital cinema technologies, if it occurs, to be a long-term process due to both technological and
financial obstacles. If the market for digital cinema develops more slowly than expected, or if there is significant
and sustained resistance by the motion picture industry or cinema operators to this technology or the cost of
implementation, we may not realize significant returns on our investments in digital cinema technotogy, which .
could materially and adversely affect our operating results.

If we do not identify opportunities and successfully execute our initiatives to participate in the emergmg
digital cinema market, our future prospects could be limited and our business could be adversely affected.’

The cinema industry is in the early stages of the adoption of digital cinema for the distribution and
exhibition of movies. Industry participants continue to discuss business models to facilitate adoption of digital - -
cinema by allocating the costs among industry participants, and the business models that ultimately emerge may-
vary from country to country. Participating in some of the models under discussion may require us to depart from
our traditional model of selling our professional products pursuant to one-time contracts, and could expose us to
various risks we have not faced in the past. For example, we have participated in one model by deploying, at our
expense, fully integrated digital cinema systems and seeking payment from motion picture distributors for films
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presented on the systems. If we do not identify, and successfully execute on, the business models that provide an

opportunity to generate revenues from our digital cinema products and services, our future prospects in this
market will be limited and our business could be materially and adversely affected.

If our digital cinema initiatives do not p'erform to expectations, our reputation may suffer and demand for
our digital cinema products and services may not develop.

As we participate in digital cinema initiatives, if we or our equipment do not perform to expectations, our
relationships with cinema industry participants may be adversely affected and our reputation may suffer,
affecting the demand for our digital cinema products and services. Any negative publicity or significant problems
with our digital cinema initiatives could materially and adverscly affect our relationships in the cinema industry

or the perception of our brand.

If we are unable to expand our business into non-sound technologies, our future growth could be limited.

Our future growth will depend, in part, upon our cxparisién into areas beyond sound technologies, For
example, in addition to our digital cinema initiative, we are exploring other areas that facilitate delivery of digital
entertainment, such as technologies for processing digital moving images and content protection, We will need to
spend considerable resources on research and development or acquisitions in the future in order to deliver
innovative non-sound technologies. However, we have limited experiéncc in these markets and, despite our
efforts, we cannot predict whether we will be successful in developing, or acquiring and marketing non-sound
products, technologies and services. In addition, many of these markets are relatwely new and may not develop .
as we currently anticipate. Moreover, although we believe that many of the technologlcal advances we may
develop or acquire for digital cinema may have applicability in other areas, such as broadcasting or consumer
electronics products, we may not ever be able to achieve these anticipated benefits in these other markets. A
number of competitors and potential competitors may develop non-sound technologies similar to those that we
develop, or acquire, some of which may provide advantages over our products, technotogies and services. Some
of these competitors have much greater experience and expertise in the non-sound fields we may enter. The
non-sound products, technologies and services we expect to market may not achieve or sustain market
acceptance, may not meet industry needs, and may not be accepted as mduslry standards. If we are unsuccessful
in selling non-sound products, technologies and services, the future growth of our business may be limited. In
addition, our efforts to enter or strengthen our posmons in non-sound markels may be tied to the success of
specific programs.

Pricing pressures on the electronics product manufacturers who incorporate our technologies into their
products could limit the llcensmg fees we charge for our technologles, which could adversely affect our
revenues. ' A

* The markets for the consumer electronics products in which our technologies are incorporated are intensely
competitive and price sensitive. Retail prices for consumer electronics products that include our sound
technology, such as DVD players and home theatre systems, have decreased significantly, and we expect prices
to continue to decrease for the foreseeable future. In response, manufacturers have sought to reduce their product
costs, which can result in downward pressure on the licensing fees we charge our customers who incorporate our
technologies into the consumer electronics products that they sell: A decline in the licensing fees we charge could
materially and adversely affect our operating results.

If the sale of consumer electronics products incorporating our technologies does not grow in emerging
markets, our ability to increase our licensing revenue may be limited.

We also expect that growth-in our licensing revenue will depend, in part, upon the growth of sales of
consumer electronics products incorporating our technologies in emerging economies, as consumers in these
markets have more disposable income and are increasingly purchasing entertainment products with surround
sound capabilities. However, if our licensing revenue from the use of our technologies in these new markets or
geographic areas does not expand, our prospects could be adversely affected.

23




We face significant competition in various markets, and if we are unable to compete successfully, our
business will suffer. -

The markets for entertainment industry technologies are highly competitive, and we face competitive threais
and pricing pressure in our markets. Compet1tors on the professional side of our business include Avica, DTS,

Doremi, EVS, GDC, Kodak, Microsoft, NEC; Panaster;:_o Qube, QUVIS Sony and UltraStereo. Competitors on
the consumer side of our business include Coding Technol'o’g?;c':’q D'I@"Fraunhofer Institute for Integrated
Circuits, Philips, Microsoft, RealNetworks, Sony, SRS Labs and Thomson. In addition, other companies may
become competitors in the future. Some people may perceive the quality of sound produced by some of our
competitors’ technologies to be equivalent or superior to that produced by ours. In addition, some of our current
andfor future competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than
we do, or may have more experience or advantages in the markets in which they compete. For example,
Microsoft and RealNetworks may have an advantage over us in the market for intemet technologies because of
their greater experience and presence in that market. In addition, some of our current or potential competitors, .
such as Microsoft and RealNetworks, may be able to offer integrated system solutions in markets for sound or
non-sound entertainment technologies, including audio, video and rights management technologies related to
personal computers or the internet, which could make competing technologies that we develop unnecessary. By
offering an integrated system solution, these potential competitors also may be able to offer competing
technologies at lower prices than our technologies, which could adversely affect our operating results. Further,
many of the consumer electronics products that include our sound technologies also include sound technologies
developed by our competitors. As a result, we must continue to invest significant resources in research and
development in order to enhance our technologies and our existing products and services and introduce new
high-quality products and services to meet the wide variety of such competitive pressures. Our business will
suffer if we fail to do so successfully.

Acquisitions could result in operatlng diffi cultles, dl]utlon to our stockholders and other harmful
consequences.

We have evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, a wide array of possible strategic transactions,
including acquisitions. For example, we consider these types of transactions in connection with our efforts to
expand our business beyond sound technologies to other technologies related to the delivery of digital
entertainment. Although we cannot predict whether or not we will complete any such acquisition or other
transactions in the future, any of these transactions could be material in relation to our financial condition and
results of operations. The process of integrating an acquired company, business or technology may create
unforeseen difficulties and expenditureés. The areas where we may face risks include:

+  Diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration
challenges;

*  Cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from acquired businesses into our
organization; : ‘

=  Retaining employees from businesses we acquire;

»  The need to implement or improve internal controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a public
company at businesses that prior to the acquisition lacked effective controls, procedures and policies;

»  Possible write-offs or impairment charges resulting from acquisitions;
. Unanticipated or unknown liabilities relating to acquired businesses; and
+  The need to integrate acquired businesses’ accounting, management information, manufacturing,

human resources and other-administrative systems to permit effective management.

Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to
integration of operations across different geographies, cultures and languages, currency risks and risks associated
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with the particular economic, political and regulatory environment in specific countries. Also, the anticipated
benefit of our acquisitions may not materialize. Future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive issuances
of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, or write-offs of
goodwlll any of which could harm our operating results or financial condition. Future acquisitions may also
require s to obtain additional equity or debt ﬁnancmg, Wthh may not be available on favorable terms or at all,

Our relationships with entertainment industry participants are particularly important to our products
and services and our technology licensing businesses, and if we fail to maintain such relationships our
business could be materially harmed.

- . , ' .

If we fail to maintain and expand our relationships with a broad range of participants throughout the
entertainment chain, including motion picture studios, broadcasters, video game designers, music producers and
manufacturers of consumer electronics products, our business and prospects could be materially harmed.
Relationships have historically played an important role in the entertainment industries that we serve, both on the
professional and consumer sides of our business. For example, our products and services business is particularly
dependent upon our relationships with the major motion picture studios and broadcasters, and our technology
licensing business is particularly dependent upon our relationships with consumer electronics product
manufacturers, software developers and integrated circuit, or IC, manufacturers. If we fail to ma.mtam and -
strengthen these relationships, these entertainment industry participants may be more likely not io purchase and
use our products, services and technologlcs or create content incorporating our technologies, which could
materially harm our business and prospects. In addition to directly providing substantially all of our revenue,
these relationships are also critical to our ability to have our technologies adopted as industry standards. In - "+ .
addition, if major industry participants form strategic relationships that exclude us, whether on the products and -
services side or the licensing side of our business, our business and prospects could be materlally adversely N
affected. : .

We have limited or no patent protection for our technologies in particular countries, mcludlng China and
India, whlch could limit our ablllty to grow our business in these markets.

We have relatively few or no issued patents in particular countries, including Chma and. Indla For example
in China we have-only limited patent protection, especially with respect to our Dolby Digital technologies. In..
India, we have no issued patents. Consequently, growing our licensing revenue in these emerging countries will.
depend on our ablllty to obtain patent rights in these counties for exlstmg and new technologies, which is
uncertain. Moreover, because of the limitations of the legal systems in many of these countries, the effectweness
of patents obtamed or that may in the future be obtained, if any, is likewise uncertain, :

P

We face diverse risks in our international business, which could adversely affect our operating résults,

We are dependent on international sales for a substantial amount of our total revenue, For fiscal 2004, 2005
and 2006, royalties from licensees outside the United States were 80%, 76% and 77% of our licensing revenue,
respectively, and our sales outside the United States were 59%, 61% and 64% of our professional products and -
production services revenue, respectively. We expect that international and export sales will continue to represent

a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future. This future revenue will depend to a large extent .

on the continued use and expansion of our lechnolog:es in entertainment industries worldwide. Incrcased
worldwide use of our technologies is also an important factor in our future growlh

Due to our rellance on sales to custorners outside the Umted States we are subject to the nsks of conducung

business mtcmatlonally, including: ..

* - "Our ability to enforce our contractual and intellectual property rights; especially in those foreign
countries that do not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the United
States, Japan and European countries, which.increases the risk of unauthorized, and uncompensatcd

-use of our technology;: :
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United States and foreign government trade restrictions, including those which may impose restrictions
on importation of programming, technology or components to or from the United States;

Foreign government taxes, regulations 'and permit requirements, including foreign taxes that we may
not be able to offset against taxés imposed upon us in the United States, and foreign tax and other laws
limiting our ability to repatriate funds to the United States;

~ Foreign labor laws, regulations and restrictions;
Changes in diplomatic and trade relationships;
Difficulty in staffing and managing foreign operations;

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, including risks related to any interest
rate swap or other hedging activities we undeniake;

Political instability, natural disasters, war or events of terrorism; and

. The strengih of international economies.

H LIV Y bt CRNRLIRY AP RS Lao M

The licensing of patents constitutes a significant source of our revenue. If we are unable to replace expiring
patents with new patents or proprietary technologies, our revenue could decline.

We hold patents covering much of the technology that we license to consumer electronics product
manufacturers, and our licensing revenue is tied in large part to the life of those patents. Our right to receive
royalties related to our patents terminates with the expiration of the last patent covering the relevant technologies.
However, many of our licensees choose to continue to pay royalties for continued use of our trademarks and
know-how even after the licensed patents have expired, although at a reduced royalty rate. Accordingly, to the.
extent that we do not continue to replace licensing revenue from technologies covered by expiring patents with
hcensmg revenue based on new patents and propnetary lechnologles our revenue could decline.

As of September 29, 2006, we had over 950 individual issued patents in nearly 35 Junsdlcnons and over
1,400 pending patent applications throughout the world. Our issued patents are'scheduled to expire at various
times through February 2025. Of these, 19 patents are scheduled to expire in the remainder of calendar year
2006, 49 patents arc scheduled to expire in calendar year 2007, 19 patents are scheduled to expire in calendar - -
year 2008 and 6 patents are scheduled to expire in calendar year 2009. We derive our licensing revenue -
principally from our Dolby Digita! technologies. Patents relating to our Dolby Digital technologies generally .
expire between 2008 and 2017, and patents refating to our Dolby Digital Plus technologies, an extension of
Dolby Digital, expire between 2019 and 2023. In addition, the remaining patents relating to Dolby Digital Live
technologies, an extension of Dolby Digital, are scheduled to expire in 2021.

We are, and m:;y in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims, which are costly to defend,
could require us to pay damages and could limit our ability to use particular technologies in the future.

Companies in the technology and entertainment industries own large numbers of patents, copyrights,
trademarks and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringément or other
violations of intellectual property rights. We have faced such claims in the past and we' expect 10 face s1m1]ar
claims in the future. For example, Lucent has asserted that we infringe some of their patents, prompting us to file
a complaint for declaratory judgment of non-infringememt and/or invalidity of such Lucent patents. These patents
generally involve a process and means for encoding and deceding audio signals. Lucent contended that products
incorporating our AC-3 technology infringe those patents. The U.S. District Court of Northern District of
California recently granted our motions for summary judgment that we have not infringed the Lucent patents at
issue and have not contributed to or induced infringement by others. In light of the court’s finding of .
non-infringement, it dismissed our claims that the Lucent patents are invalid. Lucent appealed the court’s ruling
granting summary judgment of non-infringement to the United States Federal Circuit Court of Appeals, which
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affirmed the decision of the U.S. District Court granting summary judgment. Lucent chose not to file a petition

for a pane! rehearing en banc with the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. If Lucent wishes to
seek a writ of certiorari before the United States Supreme Court, it must do so before January 8, 2007. .

Any intellectual property claims, with or without-merit, could be time-consuming, expensive to litigate or
settle and could divert management resources and attention. In the past we have settled claims relating to
infringement allegations and agreed to make payments in connection with such settlements. We expect that
similar claims will be asserted against us in the future in the ordinary course of our business..For example, in
December 2005, we received notice that an action had been filed against us alleging that our Dolby Virtual
Speaker technology infringes U.S. patents held by Coopcr Bauck Corp. An adverse determination in any ,
intellectdal property claim could require that wé pay damages or stop using technologies found to be in violation
of a third party’s nghts and could prevent us from offering our products and services to others. In order to avoid
these restrictions,’'we may have to, seck a license for the technology. This license may not be, avallable on
reasonable terms, could require us to pay significant royalties and may significantly increase our operatlng
expenses. The technologies also may not be available for license 1o us at all. As a result, we may be required to

develop alternative non-infringing technologies, which could require significant effort and expense. If we cannot .

license or develop technologies for any infringing aspects of our business, we may be forced to limit our product
and service offerings and may be unable to compete effectively. In addition, at times in the past, we have chosen
to defend our licensees from third-party intellectual property infringement claims even where such defense was
not contractually required, and we may choose to take on such defense in the fulure. Any of these results could
harm our brand, our operating results and our financial condition. In addition, from time to time we are engaged
in disputés regarding the licensing of our intellectual property rights, including matters related to our royalty
rates and other terms of our licensing arrangements. These types of disputes can be asserted by our customers or
prospective customers or by other third parties as part of negotiations with us or in private actions seeking
monetary damages or injunctive relief, or in regulatory actions. In the past,.licensees have threatened to initiate’
litigation against us regarding our licensing royalty rate practices, including potential antitrust claims. Damages
and requests for injunctive relief asserted in claims like these could be material, and could have a significant
impact on our business. Any disputes with our customers or potential customers or other third parties could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and prospects.

Our ability to develop propnetary technology in markets in’ whlch “open standards” are adopted may be
hm:ted Whlch could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue

'y

Standards -setting b0d1es such as those for digital cinema technologies, may require the use of so-called
“open standards,” meaning that the technologies necessary to meet those standards are publicly available. The
use of open standards may reduce our opportunity to generate revenue, as open standards technologies are based..
upon non-proprietary technology platforms in which no one company maintains ownership over the dominant

e - P

" technologies.

Events and conditions in‘the motion picture and broadcast industries may affect sales of our professnonal

products and production services. - . . ; =

Sales of our professmnal products.and productlon services lend to fluctuate based on lhe underlymg trends
in the motion picture industry. For example, when hox office recelpts for the motion picture industry increase, we
have typically seen sales of our professional products increase as well, as cinema owners are more hkely to’ bu11d
new theatres and upgrade existing theatres with our more advanced cinema products when they are doing well
financially. Conversely, when box office receipts are down cinema owners tend to scale back on plans to upgrade

. their systems or build new theatres. Our professional product sales are also subject to fluctuations based on

events and conditions in the theatre industry genera]ly that may or may not be tied to box office receipts in
particular periods. For example, the growth in piracy of motion pictures adversely affects the construction of new
screens, the renovation of existing theatres and the continued production of iew motion pictures. Technological
advances and the conversion of motion pictures into digital formats have made it easier to create, transmit and
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“share™ high-quality unauthorized copies of motion pictures; including on pirated DVDs and on the intemnet. In
2005, events within the U.S. cinema industry, including recent restructuring and consolidations, and a decline in
box office sales appear to have delayed purchasing decisions by exhibitors. The launch of new digital services by
broadcasters also influences the sale of our professionat products. On the other hand, our production services

revenue, both in the United States and internationally, is tied to the number of films being made by studios and
independent filmmakers. A number of factors can affect the number of films that are produced, including strikes
and work stoppages within the motion picture industry, as well as by the tax incentive arrangements that many
foreign governments provide filmmakers to promote local filmmaking.

We may be unable to significantly expand our current professional product sales in the cinema industry
because our professional products are already used by the vast majority of major cinema operators and
major motion picture studios in the United States and much of the rest of the world. If the cinema industry

does.not expand orifit contracts,\the demand for our professnonal products will be adversely affected.
T e e

Our ability to further penetrate the market for.motion picture sound technologies is limited because of the ‘
widespread use of our current professional products by major motion picture content creators, distributors and
cinema operators. As a result, dur future revenue from our professional products for the cinema industry will
depend, in part, upon events and conditions in that industry—specifically, the continued production and
distribution of motion pictures, and the construction of new theatres and the renovation of existing theatres, using
our products and services. For example, in the late 1990s cinema operators in the United States built a large
number of new cinema megaplexes. This initially resulted in increased sales of our cinema processors, but also
resulted in an oversupply of screens in some markets. This oversupply led to significant declines in new theatre
construction in the United States in the early 2000s, resulting in a corresponding decline in sales of our cinema
processors. As a result, future growth in sales of our existing cinema products may be limited, and may decrease
in the future, as the number of new cinemas bemg built and the number of existing cinemas without our products
continues to decline. : -

The demand for our current professior“l'a-i‘pll'oddcts and production services could decline if the film
industry broadly adopts digital cirema.

If the film industry broadly adopts digital cinema, the demand for our current profcssu)nal products and
production services could decline. Such a decline in our products and services business could also adversely
affect our technology licensing business, because the strength of our brand.and our ability to use professional
developments to advance our consumer licensing technologies would be impaired. If, in-such circumstances, we
are unable to adapt our professional products and production services or introeduce new products for the market
for digital cinema successfully, our business could be matenally adversely affected.

LIS

Fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results may significantly affect the value of our stock.

A number of factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant
fluctuations in our quarterly and annual revenue and operating results. These fluctuations may make financial
planning and forecasting more difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may result in unanticipated decreases in
our available cash, which could negatively impact our businéss and prospects. As discussed more fully below,
these fluctuations also could increase the volatility of our stock price. Factors that may cause or conmbutc to .
fluctuations in our operating results and revenue include:

+  Fluctuations in dcmand for our products and for the consumer electronics products of our licensees;

*  Fluctuations in the t1m1ng of royalty rcports we receive from our llccnsees mcludmg late, sporadlc or
inaccurate reports;

. Sporadic payments we may be able to recover from compames utilizing our technologzes W1th0ut
licenses; ‘
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*  Corrections to licensees’ reports received in periods subsequent to those in which the original.revenue
was reported; . ‘

*  Introduction or enhancement of products, services and technologies by us, our licensees and our
competitors, and market acceptance of these new or enhanced products, services and technologies;

*  Rapid, wholesale changes in technologly in the entertainment industries in which we compete;

»  Events and conditions in the motion picture industry, including box office receipts that affect the
_ number of theatres constructed, the number of movies produced and exhibited, the general popularity -
of motion pictures and strikes by motion picture industry participants; -

»  The financial resources of cinema operators available to buy our products or to equip their theatres to
accommodate upgraded or new technologies; ' '

= Consolidation by participants in the markets in which we compete, which could result among other
things in pricing pressure;

»  The amount and timing of our operatmg costs and capital expendltures including those related to lhe
expansion of our business, operations arnd infrastructure;

»  Variations in the time-to-market of our techno]og1es in the entertamment mdusmes in whlch we
operate; ’

»  Seasonal electronics product shipment patterns by our consumer electronics product licensees and
seasonal product purchasing patterns by customers of our professional products;

»  The impact of, and our ability to react to, interruptions in the entertainment distribution chain,
including as a result of work stoppages at our facilities, our customers’ facilities and other points
throughout the entertainment distribution chain;

. Changes in business cycles that affect the markets in which we sell our products and services or the
markets for consumer electronics products incorporating our technologies;

*  Adverse outcomes of lltlgatlon or governmental proceedmgs mcludlng any forelgn federa] state or
local tax assessmerits or audits;

+ Costs of litigation and inteltectual propeny protection; and

*  Seasonal demand for producuon services in the motion. picture mduslry. which could result in reduced

revenue.

One or more of the foregoing or other factors may cause our operating expenses 1o be disproportionately
higher or lower or may cause our revenue and operating results to fluctuate significantly in any particular
quarterly or annual period. Results from prior periods are thus not necessarily indicative of the results of future
pertods.

- .
- *

Some of our customers are also our current or potential competitors, and if those customers were to

choose to use their competing technologies rather than ours, our husiness and operatmg results would be ‘

adversely affected. Lo

We face competitive risks in situations where our customers are also current or potential compemors For
example, Sony is a significant licensee customer and is a significant purchaser of our professional products and
production services, but Sony is also a competitor with respect to some of our professional and consumer
technologies. To the extent that our customers choose to utilize competing technologies they have developed or
in which they have an interest, rather than use our technologles our business and operating results could be
adversely affected.
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Surround sound technologies could be treated as a commodity in the future, which could adversely affect
our business, operating results and prospects, ‘

We believe that the success we have had licensing our surround sound technologies to consumer electronics
product manufacturers is due, in part, to the strength of our brand and the perception that our technologies
provide a high-quality solution for surround sound. However. asapplicationsythat.incorporate surround sound
technologies become Incre i P e T T rars (0 enter this held with other solutions.
Furthermore, to the extent that competitors’ solutions are perceived, accurately or not, to provide the same
advantages as our technologies, at a lower or comparable price, there is a risk that sound encoding technologies
such as ours will be treated as commodities, resulting in loss of status of our technologies, decline in their use,
and significant pricing pressure. To the extent that our audio technologies become a commodity, rather than a
premium solution, our business, operating results and prospects could be adversely affected.”

Licensing some of our technologies in joint licensing programs, or ‘‘patent pools,” is a different business
model for us, and we may face many challenges in conducting this business.

In fiscal 2002, we began licensing some of our patents through our (who]ly-ow_ned subsidiary Via Licensing
Corporation in joint licensing programs, or “*patent pools,” with other companies in an effort to ensure that our
technologies are compatible with other technologies in the entertainment industry and to promote our
technologies as industry standards. These patent pools allow product manufacturers streamlined access to
selected foundational technologies and are comprised of a group of patents held by a number of companies,
inctuding us in some cases, and administered by Via Licensing. If we do not identify new or changing market
trends and technologies at an early enough stage to capitalize on market opportunities for joint licensing
programs, we may not continue to be successful with this business model. Also, to the extent that Dolby
technologies are included in patent pools, we have less control over the licensing of those technologies through
the patent pools compared to licensing through our traditional business model in which we license our patents as
bundles of technologies and interact directly with our customers. In addition, we may have less control over the
application and quality control of our technologies included in these pools.

The loss of or interruption in operations of one or more of our key suppliers could materially delay or stop
the production of our professional products and impair our ability to generate revenue.

Our reliance on outside suppliers for some of the key materials and components we use in manufacturing
our professional products involves risks, including limited control over the price, timely delivery and quality of
such components. We have no agreements with our suppliers to ensure continued supply of materials and
components. Although we have identified alternate suppliers for most of our key materials and components, any
required changes in our suppliers could cause material delays in our production operations and increase our
production costs. In addition, our suppliers may not be able to meet our future production demands as to volume,
quality or timeliness. Moreover, we rely on sole source suppliers for some of the components that we use o
manufacture our professional producis, including specific charged coupled devices, light emitting diodes and
digital signal processors. These sole source suppliers may become unable or unwilling to deliver these
components to us at an acceptable cost or at all, which could force us to redesign those specific products. Qur
inability to obtain timely delivery of key components of acceptable quality, any significant increases in the prices
of components, or the redesign of our professional products could result in material production delays, increased
costs and reductions in shipments of our products, any of which could increase our operating costs, harm our
customer relationships or materially and adversely affect our business zjnd operating results.

Revenue from our professional proeducts may suffer if our production processes encounter problems or if
we are not able to match our production capacity to fluctuating levels of demand.

Our professional products are highly complex, and production difficulties or inefficiencies can interrupt
production, resulting in our inability to deliver products on time in a cost effective manner, which could harm our
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competitive position. If production is interrupted at one of our two manufacturing facilities, we may not be able

to shift production to the other facility on a timely basis, and customers may purchase products from our

competitors. A shortage of manufacturing capacity for our professional products could adversely affect our
operating results and damage our customer relationships. We generaily cannot quickly adapt our manufacturing
capacity to rapidly changing market conditions. Likewise, we may be unable to respond to fluctuations in
customer demand. At times we underutilize our manufacturing facilities as a result of reduced demand for some
of our professional products. Any inability to respond to fluctuations in customer demand for our professional
products may adversely affect our gross margins.

Our professional products, from time to time, experience quallty problems that can result in decreased
sales and higher operating expenses.

Our professional products are complex and sometimes contain undetected software or hardware errors,
particularly when first introduced or when new versions are released. In addition, our professional products are
sometimes combined with or incorporated into products from other vendors, sometimes making it difficult to
identify the source of a problem. These errors could result in a loss of or delay in markét acceptance of our
professional products or cause delays in delivering them and meeting customer demands, any of which could
reduce our revenue and raise significant customer relations issues. In addition, if our professional products
contain errors we could be required to replace or reengineer them, which would increase our costs. Moreover, if
any such errors cause unintended consequences, we could face claims for product liability. Although we
generally attempt to contractually limit liability for defective products to the cost of repairing or replacing these
products, if these contract provisions are not enforced, or are unenforceable for any reason, or if liabilities arise

that are not effectively limited, we could incur substantial costs in defending and settling product liability claims.

Awareness of our brand depend;s to a significant extent upon decisions by our customers to display our )
trademarks on their products, and if our customers do not display our trademarks on their products, our
ability to increase our brand awareness may be harmed.

Because we engage in relatively little direct brand advertising, the promotion of our brand depends upon

entertainment industry participants displaying our trademarks on their products that incorporate our technologies,

such as film prints and consumer electronics products. Although we do not require our customers to place our

brand on their products, we actively encourage them to do so. For example, we rely on consumer electronics

product manufacturers that license our technologies to display our trademarks on their products in order to

promote our brand. If our customers choose for any reason not to display our trademarks on their products, our

abilify to maintain or increase our brand awareness may be harmed, which would have an adverse effect on our

business and prospects. In addition, if we fail to maintain high quality standards for our professional products, or
- if we fail to maintain high quality standards for the products that incorporate our technologies through the

quality-control certification process that we require of our licensees, the strength of our brand could be adversely
affected.

Licensee products that incorporate our technologies, from time to time, experience quality problems that
could damage our brand, decrease revenues and increase operating expenses.

Licensee products that incorporate our technologies often are complex and sometimes contain undetected
software or hardware errors, particularly when first introduced or when new versions are released. In addition,
those products are often combined with, or incorporated into, products from other companies, sometimes making
it difficult to identify the source of a problem. Any negative publicity or negative impact relating to these product
problems could adversely affect the perception of our brand. In addition, these errors could result in loss of, or
delay in, market acceptance of those products or Dolby technologies, or cause delays in delivering them and
meeting customer demands, any of which could reduce our revenue and raise significant customer relations
issues. Although we generally atterapt to contractually limit our Lability for our licensees’ defective products, we
may elect 1o help reengineer those products, which could adversely affect our operating results.
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A loss of one or more of our key customers or licensees in any of our markets could adversely affect our
operating results.

From time to time, one or a small number of our customers or licensees may represent a significant
percentage of our professional products and services or licensing revenue. Although we have agreements with

many of these customers, these agreements typically do not require any minimum purchases or minimum royalty”

 fees and do not prohibit customers from purchasing products and services from competitors. A decision by any of

our major customers or licensees not to use our technologies, or their failure or inability to pay amounts owed to
us in a timely manner, or at all, whether due to strategic redirections or adverse changes in their businesses or for

other reasons, could have a significant effect on our operating results.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations that could impose substantial costs upon us
and may adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Some of our operations use substances regulated under various federal, state, local and international laws
governing the environment, including those govemning the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the
management, disposal and labeling of hazardous substances and wastes and the cleanup of contaminated sites. We
could incur costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, third-party property damage or personal injury claims, or
could be required to incur substantial investigation or remediation costs, if we were to-violate or become liable
under environmental laws. Liability under environmental laws can be joint and several and without regard to
comparative fault. The ultimate costs under environmental laws and the timing of these costs are difficult to predict.

We also face increasing complexity in our product design as we adjust to new and future requirements
relating to the materials composition of our products, including the restrictions on lead and other hazardous
substances that apply to specified electronic products put on the market in the European Union as of July 1, 2006
(Restriction on the Use of Hazardous Substances Directive 2002/95/EC, also known as the “RoHS Directive™)
and similar legislation proposed for China. We have redesigned our products regulated under the RoHS Directive
in order to be able to continue to offer them for sale within the European Union,

For some products, substituting particular components containing regulated hazardous substances is more
difficult or costly, and additional redesign efforts could result in production delays. Selected electronic products
that we maintain in inventory may be rendered obsolete if not in compliance with the RoHS Directive, which
could negatively impact our ability to generate revenue from those products. We could also face significant costs
and liabilities in connection with product take-back legislation. The European Union Directive 2002/96/EC as
amended by 2003/108/EC (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive also known as the “WEEE
Directive™) requires producers of particular electrical and electronic equipment, including broadcast equipment,
to be financially responsible for specified collection, recycting, treatment and disposal of past and future covered
products. As of December 2006, not all member states within the EU have enacted enabling legislation under the
WEEE Directive, and in the absence of such legislation, it is difficult to determine the costs to comply with the
WEEE Directive. )

L4 '

Other countries, such as China and the United States, may enact similar product-content and take-back
legislation, the cumulative impact of which could significantly increase our operating costs and adversely affect
our operating results. We also expect that our operations, whether manufacturing or licensing, will be affected by
other new environmental laws and regulations on an ongoing basis. Although we cannot predict the ultimate
impact of any such new laws and regulations, they will likely result in additional costs or decreased revenue, and
could require that we redesign or change how we manufacture our products, any of which could have a matena]
adverse effect on our business.

Any inability to protect our intellectual property rights could reduce the value of our products, services
and brand.

Our business is dependent upon our patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and other inteltectual
property rights. We derived 73%, 75% and 77% of our total revenue from licensing revenue in the fiscal years ..
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2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Effective intellectual property rights protection, however, may not be
available under the laws of every country in which our products and services and those of our licensees are
distributed. Also, the efforts we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective.
Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete.
In addition, protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time consuming. We have taken steps in the
past to enforce our intellectual property rights and expect to continue to do so in the future. However, it may not
be practicable or cost effective for us to enforce our intellectual property rights fully, particularly in particular
countries or where the initiation of a claim might harm our business relationships. For example, we have many
times experienced, and expect to continue to experience, problems with consumer electronics product
manufacturers incorporating our technologies into their products without our authorization. If we are unable to
successfully identify and stop unauthorized use of our intellectual property, we could experience increased
operational and enforcement costs, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We generally seek patent protection for our innovations. It is possible, however, that some of these innovations
may not be protectable. In addition, given the costs of obtaining patent protection, we may choose not to protect
particular innovations that later turn out to be important. Moreover, we have limited or no patent protection in -
particular foreign jurisdictions. For example, in China we have only limited patent protection, especially with
respect to our Dolby Digital technologies, and in India we have no issued patents. Furthermore, there is always
the possibility, despite our efforts, that the scope of the protection gained will be insufficient or that an issued
patent may later be found to be invalid or unenforceable. Moreover, we seek to maintain select intellectual
property as trade secrets. These trade secrets could be compromised by third parties, or intentionally or
accidentally by our employees, which would cause us to lose the competitive advantage resulting from them.

Itis possiblé that we may be treated as a personal holding company, which could adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition. ‘ )

The Internal Revenue Service may assert that we or any of our subsidiaries are currently, or previously have
been, liable for personal holding company tax, plus interest and penalties, if applicable. In addition, we and our
subsidiaries may be liable for personal holding company tax in the future. For United States federal income tax
purposes, a corporation is generally considered to be a “personal holding company” under the United States
Internal Revenue Code if (i) at any time during the last half of its taxable year more than 50% of its stock by
value is owned, directly or indirectly, by virtue of the application of certain stock ownership attribution rules set
forth in the Internal Revenue Code for purposes of applying the personal holding company rules, by five or fewer
individuals and (i) at least 60% of its adjusted ordinary gross income, as defined for United States federal
income tax purposes, is “personal holding company income.” Personal holding company income is generally
passive income, including royalty income, subject to particular exceptions such as qualifying software royalties.-
A personal holding company is subject to an additional tax on its undistributed after-tax income, calculated at the
statutory tax rate, which is currently 15%. Since the personal holding company tax is imposed only on '
undistributed income, a personal holding company can avoid or mitigate liability for the tax, but not interest or
penalties, by paying a dividend to its stockholders.

More than 50% of the value of our stock is held by Ray Dolby and stockholders considered affiliated with
him pursuant to the stock ownership attribution rules applicable to personal holding companies. We expect this
will continue to be the case in the foreseeable future. In addition, a significant portion of our income is from
licensing fees, which may constitiite personal holding company income. Currently, however, less than 60% of
Dolby Laboratories’ adjusted ordinary gross income is personal holding company income.

However, the Internal Revenue Service may assert that we or one of our subsidiaries are currently, or
previously have been, liable-for personal holding company tax, plus interest and penalties, if applicable. In
addition, we or our subsidiaries may be liable for personal holding company tax in the future. The treatment of
select items of our income and the income of our subsidiaries, for purposes of the personal holding company tax,
may be subject to challenge. In the event that we or any of our subsidiaries is determined to be a personal holding
company, or for prior taxable years, to have been a personal holding company, we or our subsidiary could be -
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liable for additional taxes, and possibly interest and penalties, based on the undistributed income and the tax rate
in effect at that time, but only if we or our subsidiary, as the case may be, decides not to fully abate the tax by the
payment of a dividend, although such a dividend will not eliminate interest and penalties. In addition, we believe

that there exists a meaningful risk that in the relatively near future the mix of our revenue will change so that
more of our adjusted ordinary gross income may be classified as personal holding company income. In such

* event, it i possiblethat. weror one-of dursubsidiafies‘could becoméliable>for.the personal holding company. tax,

assuming the ownership test continues to be met. In that case, we or our subsidiary, as the case may be, may be
required to pay additional tax in the event we or the subsidiary decides not to fully abate the tax by the payment
of a dividend. Because no claim or assessment has been made against us with respect to personal holding
company taxes, we are unable to quantify the amount.of any additional taxes, and possibly interest and penalties,
for which we may be liable in the future-for past periods or the amount of the dividend that we may pay to abate
the tax. Furthermore, we are unable to quantify the amount of personal holding company tax that we may be . .
liable for or the dividend that we may elect to pay for future periods as such amounts; if any, would be based
upon the application of the rules discussed above to the results of our future operations.” We have explored .-

optxogs to reduce our exposure and the exposure of our subsidiaries to the personal holding company tax in the
“future %wcll’ﬁ?“conhnue*to"’actwe]y nionitor: our!currenuexposure drormwgtans ol AR st sl gl . !

If we or any of our subsidiaries were to pay personal holding company tax. (and p0s51bly interest and
_penalties), this could significantly increase our consolidated tax expense and adversely affect our operating,
results. In addition, if the statutory tax rate increases in the future, the amount of any personal holding company -
tax we or any of our subsidiaries may have to pay could increase significantly, further impairing our operating
results. In that regard, the statutory tax rate, which is currently 15%, is scheduled to return to ordinary income tax
rate levels for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. If we are deemed to be a personal holding .
company and, instead of paying the personal holding company tax, we elect to pay a dividend to our stockholders”
in an amount equal to all or a significant part of our undistributed personal holding company income, we may

" consume;a significant amount,of, cash-resources and be unable to retain or generate working capital. This would

adversely affect our financial,condition:: As aresult; if we pay such a dividend, we may decide to seek additional
financing; although that financing may not be available to us when and as required on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all. . . LA | .

. - . i N v

Failure to comply with appllcable current and future guvemment regulations could have a negatwe effect
oh our business. - - - Ve

Our operations and busmess practlces are subject t federal state and local government laws and
regulations, as well as international laws and regulations, including those relatmg to consumer and other safety— '
related comphance for electronic equxpment as well as compulsory license requ1rements as a prerequisite to
being included as part of the industry standards, such as the United States HDTYV standard. Any failure by us to
comply with the laws and regulations applicable to us or our products could result in our inability to sell those
products, additional costs to redesign products to meet such laws and regulatlons fines or other administrative
actions by the agencies charged with enforcing compliance and, possibly, damages awarded to persons claiming
injury as the result of our non-compliance. Changes in or enactment of new statutes, rules or regulatlons
applicable to us, could havc a material adverse effcct on our buisiness.

B3

The loss of members of our marjagpm_ént team could _substantially disrupt oqr'busines"s operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued individual and collective contributions of our
management team. A limited number of individvals have primary responsibility for managing our business,
including our relationships with key customers and licensees. We have key executives and senior technical people
who have been with us for a number of years, including over 150 employees who have been with us for over 10
years. These individuals; as welt as the rest of our management team and key employees, are at-will employees, and
we do not maintain any key-person life insurance policies. Losing the services of any key - member of our team,
whether from retirement, competing offers or other causes, could prevent us from executing our business strategy,
cause us to lose key customer or licensee relationships, or otherwise materially affect our operations. :
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We rely-on highly skilled personnel, and if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire
qualified personnel, we may not be able to maintain our operations or grow effectively.

Our performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals. Qur future
success depends on our continuing ability io identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled personnel
for all areas of our organization. In this regard, we currently plan to hire a number of employees throughout fiscal
2007 in response to our growth and our current initiatives. We have maintained a rigorous, highly selective and
time-consuming hiring process, which we believe has significantly contributed to our success to date, but has
made it more difficult for us to hire a sufficient number of qualified employees. As we grow, our hiring process
may prevenl us from hiring the peréonnel we need in a timely manner. In addition, we are aware that some of our
competitors have directly targeted our employees. If we are unable to hire and train a sufficient number of
qualified employees or retain and motivate existing employees our existing operations may suffer and we may
be unable to grow effectively. |

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial
statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our ablllty to operate
our business and our investors’ views of us.

We have a complex business organization that is international in scope. Ensuring that we have adequate
internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to help ensure that we can produce accurate
financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated
frequently. On an ongoing basis, we document, review and, if appropriate, improve our internal controls and
procedures in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires annual management
assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and a report by our independent
auditors addressing these assessments. Both we and our independent auditors periodically test our internal
controls in connection with the Section 404 requirements and could, as part of that documentation and testing,
identify areas for further attention or improvement. Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal
controls may require specific compliance training of our directors, officers and employees, entail substantial
costs in order to modify our existing accounting systems, and take a significant period of time 10 complete. Such
changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our internal controls, and any failure to
maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could
increase our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to operate our business. In addition,
investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate or that we are’unable to produce accurate financial
statements may seriously affect our stock price.

]
!

For the foreseeable future, Ray Dolby or his affiliates will be able to control the selection of all members of
our board of directors, as well as virtually every other matter that requires stockholder approval, which
will severely limit the ability of other stockholders to influence corporate matters.

At September 29, 2006 Ray Dolby and persons and entities affiliated with Ray Dolby owned approx1mate1y
63% of our Class A and Class B common stock, representmg 93% of the combined voting power of our
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock. Under our charter, holders of Class B common stock are entitled
to ten votes per share while holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of
shares of Class B common stock'may generally transfer such shares to family members, including spouses and
descendents or the spouses or domestic partners of such descendents, without having the shares automatically
convert into shares of Class A common stock. Because of this dual class structure, Ray Délby, his affiliates, and
his family members and descendents will, for the foreseeable future, have significant influence over our
management and affairs, and will be able to control virtually all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions such as mergers or other sales of our
company or assets, even if they come to own considerably less than 50% of the total number of outstanding
shares of our Class A and Class B common stock. Moreover, these persons may take actions in their own
interests that you or our other stockholders do not view as beneficial. There is no threshold or time deadline at
which the shares of Class B common stock will automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock.
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Assuming conversion of all shares of Class B common stock held by persons not affiliated with Ray Dolby into
shares of Class A common stock, so long as Ray Dolby and his affiliates continue to hold shares of Class B
common stock representing approximately 11% or more of the total number of outstanding shares of our Class A

and Class B common stock, they will hold a majority of the combined votmg power of thc Class A and Class B

"k 4

common stock s ;ﬁ;aﬂn A g
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: " Fiiture sales of shares by mmders could cause-our stocképrice to’ declme

If our founder, officers, directors or employees sell, of indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of
our Class A comman stock, including shares of Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of shares of -
Class B common stock, in the public market, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline. As of
September 29, 2006, we had outstanding a total of 107,261,136 shares of Class A and Class B common stock. Of
these shares, 31,625,000 shares of Class A common stock were sold in our initial public offering'by us and the
selling stockholders.

As of September 29, 2006, our.directors and executive officers held 68,767,456 shares of Class B common
stock, 5,965 shares of Class A common stock, vested options to purchase 890,823 shares of Class B common
stock and vested options to purchase 91,749 shares of Class A common stock. We expect that any sale of our
Class A common stock by our directors and executlve officers would be subject to compliance with Rule 144
under the Securities Act.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

v

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Facilities

Our i)rinctpat exe'cuti\te ofﬁces ‘which we lease from Ray Dolb§, are located at 100 Potrero Avenue, San
Francisco, California, occupying approximately 70,000 square feet of space. The lease for these offices expires
on December 31, 2013, but we have options to renew the lease for two additional five- year terms.

Ray and Dagmar Dolby, the Ray Dolby Trust, or the Dolby Family Trust own a majority financial interest in real
estate entities that own and lease to us certain of our other facilities in California and the United Kingdom. We own the
remaining findncial interests in these real estate entities. We lease from these real estate entities approximately 122, 000
square feet of space at 999 Brannan Street; San Francisco, California for our principal administrative offices,
approximately 45,000 square feet of space in Brisbane, California for manufacturing facilities, approximately 75,000
square feet of space in Wootton Bassett, England for manufacturing, sales, services and administrative facilities and
approximately 19, (000 square feet of space in Burbank, California for research and development sales, services and
administrative facilities. The leases for these facilities expire at various times through 2 2015.

We also lease additional research and development sales and administrative facilities from third parties in
California, New York, Vlrglma and Pennsylvama and mtemauOnally, in Beijing, London, Hong Kong,
Shanghai, Sydney and Tokyo. The leases for these facilities expire at various times through 2017.

Our properties in Brisbane and Wootton Bassett are primarily used by our products and production services
segment and the balance of the properties described above are used by both our products and producnon services
and our technology hcensmg segments

We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the near future, and that suitable
additional or alternative space will be available on commercially reasonable terms to accommodate our
foreseeable future operations. :
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In May 2001, we filed a fawsuit agamst Lucent Technologles inc. and Lucent Technologws Guardlan LLLC
together Lucent,” contending that Lucent was wrongly asserting that our licensees using Dolby AC-3 audio
compression technology required licenses to the patents at issue and seeking a declaration that the patents at issue
are not infringed and/or are invalid. Lucent filed a counterclaim alleging that we have infringed the patents at issue.’
These patents generally involve a process and means for digitally encoding and decoding audio signals. On -

April 22, 2005, the U.S. District Court for the Northern'District of California granted our motions for summary .
judgment, finding that we have not infringed, induced others to infringe, or contributed to the infringement of the

patents at issue. In granting summary judgment-of non-infringement; the court found that Lucent had not presented -

evidence from which a reasonable fact-finder could find that Dolby AC-3 technology-infringes the patents at issue. -
In light of the Court’s finding of non-infringement, it dismissed our claims that the Lucent patents are invalid.

* Lucent; appea]ed the court’s April 22, 2005, ruling to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit,
' whlch;afﬁrmed the doc1s1on of the U.S. D1str1c:l Court granting sumrnary Judgment Lucent chose not tofilea

In ‘addition, weéh a.rc‘mvolved in various legal proceedings from time to time arising from the norrnal course
“of busmess activities, mc“fﬁdmg Claims of alleged infringement-of-intellectual property rights, commercial,
employment and other matters. In our opinion, resolution of these proceedings is not expected to have arlﬁéfeﬁal
adverse effect on our operatmg results or financial condition. However, it is possible that an unfavorable
resolution of one’or inore such proceedmgs could matenally affect our future operating results or financial -

condition in a particular period.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

. . ' . v A
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

-~ == Qur GlasssArcommon stock-hasitradedtonsthesNewsYork.Stock.Exchange, .on.the NYSE, under the symbol ~ =~

“DLB" since February 17, 2005. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our Class A common stock.
The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices on the NYSE of the Class A common stock .
for the periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE. Such quotations represent inter-dealer prices without retail
markup, markdown or commisston and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal 2005 . _ High Low
Second Quarter (beginning February 17,2005) ....... e P $2545 32194
Third Quarter . . ... e e e 23.88 17.50
FourthQuarter ............. e e e e e 2390 14.50
Fiscal 2006 . ~ High Low
First QUArter ... ... ..ottt e ettt e e $19.40 $14.75
‘Second Quarter ............. e e e et L. 22.15 16.92
ThirdQuarter .. ... ... ... i e 2400 . 19.90
Fourth Quarter . ... ... ..ottt iiiiiinaanannns SR, s 2336 1783 -

Our Class B common stock is neither listed nor publicly traded.

As of November 30, 2006, there were approximately 16,800 holders of record of our Class A common stock
and 90 holders of record of our Class B common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any
future earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. However, if we are deemed to
be a personal holding company for tax purposes, we may elect to pay a dividend to our stockholders in an amount
equal to all or a significant part of our undistributed personal holding company income (which could be
significant), rather than paying personal holding company tax on such undistributed personal holding company
income, if any. See both “Risk Factors—It is possible that we may be treated as a personal holding company,
which could adversety affect our operating results and financial condition” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies—Personal Holding
Company Tax Matters.”

Sale of Unregistered Securities

In the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2006, we issued an aggregate of 643,936 shares of our Class B
common stock to certain employees, officers, a consultant and a director upon the exercise of options awarded
under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and from September 30, 2006 through November 30, 2006, we issued an
aggregate of 1,106,238 shares of our Class B common stock to certain employees, officers, consultants and
directors upon the exercise of options awarded under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. We received aggregate
proceeds of $1.1 million in the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2006 and $2.4 million in the period from
September 30, 2006 through November 30, 2006 as a result of the exercise of these options. We believe these
transactions were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701
thereunder as transactions pursuant to compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as
provided under Rule 701. As of November 30, 2006, options to purchase an aggregate of 6,002,754 shares of our
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Class B common stock remain outstanding: All issuandes of shares of our Class B common stock pursuant to the

exercise of these options will be made in reliance on Rulé 701. All option grants made under the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan were made prior to our initial publlc offermg No further option* gra.nts will be made- under our

>_ 2000 Stock Incenuve Plan . . o

o s i v .

- 'None of the foregomg transactlons 'involved : any underwnters undenvmmg dlscounts or comm1ssmn5 or
any public offering. ' _ . R o . i

.Each share of our Class B common stock is convertible int:o one slia:re of our Class A common s'loék at any
time at the option of the holder or upon the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Class B
common stock. In addition, each share of Class B common stock shall convert automatically into one share of
Class A common stock upon any transfer, except for certain transfers described in ur amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. E o, -




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this filing, The consolidated statements
of operations data for the fiscal years ended September 24, 2004, September 30, 2005 and September 29, 2006

and thebalancétshectdata-asofsSeptémbei-30,'2005 and September 29, 2006 were derived from our audited
consolidaied finaricial statements that are included elsewhere in this filing. The historical results presented below
are not necessarily indicative of financial resulis to be achieved in future periods. All fiscal years presented
consisted of 52 weeks with the exception of fiscal 2005 which consisted of 53 weeks.

. Fiscal Year Ended .
September 27, September 26, September 24, September 30, September 29,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:
Licensing ..........cocoeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaias $106,640 $157,922 $211,395 $246,298 $301,663
Productsales ........... ... ..o iiiiiian 41,377 44,403 57,981 60,021 65,413
Production SerVICES .. ..vv v ie e aaa s 13,851 15,147 19,665 21,648 24,466
Total FEVENLE .. .....vvvrinnananannesss 161,868 217,472 289,041 327,967 391,542
Cost of revenue: :
Costoflicensing ........ ... ccoiiiiiiiainns 25,063 40,001 53,838 40,558 26,887
Costof product sales (1) ...........c0veennnt. 26,694 26,684 30,043 31,181 38,487
Cost of production services (1) ................ 5,960 6,958 7.624 8,479 10,668
Total costof revenue .................... 51,717 73,643 91,505 80,218 - 76,042
Grossmargin . ... ..... ... e 104,151 143,829 197,536 247,749 315,500
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administeative (1} ... ....... 64,269 76,590 106436 135.155 154,165
Research and development (1) . ................ 15,128 18,262 23479 30.532 35,377
In-process research and development ........... — 1,310 1,738 — —
Losson litigation .............0ciiiivninnne, 24,205 _— — — —_
Gainonsettlements .................oonunnn. — — (2,000} (2.,000) (3,625)
Total operating expenses ................. 103,602 96,162 129,673 163,687 185917
Operatingincome . ...... ..., .. ....oiiiiiena 549 47,667 67,863 84,062 129,583
Other income {(1058), DEE . . ..., ... cvmrenennnninsnn (747 5 229 7.156 17,054
Income before provision for income taxes and
controlling interest ............ it (198) 47,610 68,092 . 91,218 146,637
Provision forincome taxes .......-. ... .. 00 11 16,079 27,321 37,330 55,833
Income before controlling intevest .. ................ (209) 31,531 40,771 53,888 90,804
Controlling interest in net income, netoftax ......... 104 (562) (929) (1,595) (1,255)
Netincome(loss) ...................... PN § (105) $ 30969 $ 39,842 $ 52,293 $ 89,549
Basic earnings (loss} pershare .. ................... $ 000 $ 036 $ 047 $ 054 $ 08
Diluted eamings (loss) pershare ................... 3 000 $ 036 $ 043 3 050 $ 080
Weighted-average shares outstanding (basic) ......... 85,008 | 85,009 85,556 96,969 105,688 .
Weighted-average shares outstanding (diluted) . ....... 85,008 86,084 92,783 104,220 111,658
(1) Stock-based compensation included above was as follows:
Costofproductsales ..........cccoevinenn.nn — — $ 104 $ 222 $ 800
Cost of production services ................... — — 36 103 513
Selling, general and administrative ............. —_ — 5,843 11,709 15,087
Research and development ................... ' —_ — 810 2,150 2,738
Total stock-based compensation . ......... . — — $ 6,793 $ 14,184 § 19,138

September 27, September 26, September 24, September 30, September 29,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(in thousands)

Cush and cash equivalents . ..............c.o0vuun., $ 37,394 $ 61,922 $ 78711 $372,403 $412,487

Working capital ......... ... o il 35,854 54,213 80,281 381,394 479,778

Short-term and long-term investments . .. ............ — — — — 106,121

TOtal BSSEES . ..ot v vt 157313 202,707 261,866 586,277 739,288

Long-termdebt ............ocveriniiiinniannnn. 15,406 14,548 13,580 12,124 10,893

Total stockholders® equity ..........cooviuuiei. 61,742 93,775 143,327 461,139 594,288
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PRO FORMA UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

Pro Forma Presentation

Throughout our history until our initial public offering, Ray Dolby retained ownership of the intellectual
property rights he had created relating to our business. We licensed these intellectual property rights from him
and paid him royalties in return. On February 16, 2005, Ray Dolby contributed to us all intellectual property
rights he held related to our business. Upon completion of this asset contribution, all of our licensing
arrangements with, and royalty obligations to, Ray Dolby terminated.

The selected pro forma unaudited consolidated staterhents of operations data set forth below give effect to
the asset contribution made by Ray Dolby, as though such transactions had been completed prior to the beginning
of fiscal 2004. We believe the pro forma results to be meaningful as they enable comparison of the effect of pre
and post-asset contribution on our operating results. The pro forma results presented below are not necessarily
indicative of financial results to be achieved in future periods.

The results of giving effect to the asset contribution as though that transaction had occurred prior to the
beginning of fiscal 2004 are adjustments to our consolidated results of operations to reverse the effects of $36.9
million and $18.7 million in royalties payable to Ray Dolby that we recorded in fiscal 2004 and 2005,
respectively. There was no material change to our balance sheet as a result of the asset contribution. Because
there is no historical accounting cost basis for the assets contributed, we recorded the transaction at $0.8 million,
representing acquisition costs, including legal, tax and other professional fees we incurred as a result of the asset
contribution.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the pro forma effects of the transactions described above on ‘
the respective line items of our consolidated statements of operations:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 2005 2006
' (unaudited)
: . ) ) , (in thousands)
B T 1T 1 < $39,842  .$52,293 $89,549
Adjustments to pro forma net income by line item: _ _
Cost of HEEnSING . ...t e e e e, 33,768 17,424 —
Costofproductsales . . .......... ... .ccviiieeiiniannn. 3,089 1,286 —_
Provision forincometaxes .................. . iiiiiia.. “(13,355) (7.587) - —

Proformanetincome ............. ... .. it iiiinnns $ 63,344 $63,416 $89,549
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The selected pro forma unaudited consolidated statements of opefations data should be read together with

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this filing.

Fiscal Year Ended

Seplemher 24, September 30, September 29,

2005

2006

(unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:
Licensing ......... ..., e $211,395 $246,298 $301,663
Productsales ..............ocoieinn .. T P . 57,981 60,021 65,413
Production services . .............. e P B 19,665 21,648 24,466
Total revenue . .......c.oooviiiii itz e e Cos ,
. . U A C AR 4}-‘»;@;& M . ._3212,6,2 . ;3.9_1:5_42_r
Cost of revenue: cooe SRR . T
Costof licensing . ...t e 20,070 23,134 26,887
Cost of product sales . . ..... .. e e Ll 26,954 - 29,895 38,487
Cost of production services .......... e ST AP 7,624 8,479 10,668
Total cost of revenue . e ' NP S A R, 54,648 61,508 76,042
Gross margin .. ....... e e e 234,393 266,459 315,500
Operating expenses: ] ’
Selling, general and administrative ....................... 106,456 135,155 154,165
Research and development ... ........................... 23,479 30,532 35,377
In-process research and development ... ................... 1,738 — —
Gain on settlements .............. e e (2,000} (2,000) (3,625)
Total operaling eXpenses ... ...ouvurerirranareaeeeens 129,673 163,687 185,917
Operatingincome ... ... ... ... it 104,720 102,772 129,583
Other income, net ... e e e e 229 7,156 17,054
Income before provision for income taxes and controlling interest ...~ 104,949 109,928 146,637
Provision for income taxes .. .. ......ooeen... i 40,676 44 917 55,833‘
Income before controlling interest ........ ... 64,273 65,011 90,804—
Controiling interest in net mcomc netoftax ..., (929) (1,595) {(1,255)
Netincome ...................0.s S s $ 63,344 $ 63416 $ 89,549
Basic earnings pershare ............ ... . oo, § 074 $ 065 $ 085
Diluted earnings Pershare . .............ovieeennneeanaeannn. $§ 068 $ 061 $ 080
Weighted-average shares outstanding (basic) ................... 85,556 96,969 105,688
Weighted-average shares outstanding (diluted) .................. 92,783 104,220 111,658
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis and our discussion under ltem 1 ' Business—Qur Strategy” above
should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes that
appear elsewhere in this Form 10-K. These discussions contain forward-looking statements reflecting our
current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking
statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” "“should,” “expects,” anticipates,” “believes,”

plans,
“estimates,” “predicts,” "potem:a! ” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable

-terminology. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: statements regarding expanding the use
‘of our technologies in existing and new markets, including in the broadcast, PC, mobile and portable device

industries and in content delivered over the internet; developing technologies for the entertainment industry

beyond sound, including in the areas of i rmagmg and display, mobile devices, and wireless connectivity; demand
for and future revenues from the sale of consumer electronics producrs incorporating our rechno[ogtes, mcludmg

traditional and nexi-generation DVD players; growth opportunities in the consumer electronics market;
opportunities 1o incorporate our technologies in markets outside the traditional consumer electronics market; the
impact of inclusion of certain of our technologtes in audio standards; the rate of adoption of and sales of next—
generation DVD players; diversification of sources of ltcensmg revenue; demand for and future revenues from
incorporation of our technologies in personal computers; increase in sales of our products and demand for
consumer electronics products containing our technologies in emerging economies; concentration of
manufacturing of consumer electronic products containing our technologies in emerging economies and the
associated challenges in royalty collection and intellectual property enforcement. pricing Arraregres for our
digital cinema product and competitive pricing pressures for our cinema products; the pace of the movie
industry’s transition to digital cinema and our expected revenue associated with the transition; our expected
profit margin for our products and services segment; our critical accounting policies, including those regarding
revenue recognition, allowance SJor doubtful accounts, accounting for goodwill, accounting for income taxes,
personal holding company matters and stock-based compensation; calculations of royalties due to our licensors;
statements regarding the sufficiency of our cash reserves; and our expected rate of return on investments. Actual
results may différ materially from tho se discussed in these forward looking statements due to a number of
factors, including: the rate of growth of the markets for consumer electronics that include our technologies;
whether ur technologies are selected for and remain part of audio standards; the rate of deployment and
adoption of next—generation DVD p[ayers the extent to which our expectations regarding new licensing markets
are realized; the extent to which consumer electronics manufacturers concentrate their production in emerging
economies that present royalty collection and intellectual property enforcement challenges; the extent to which
consumers in emerging economies elect to purchase products containing our technologies; the extent to which
professionals using our equipment continue to demand innovative technology solutions dévé!opéd by us; the pace
of the movie industry’s transition to digital cinema; our ability to ailor our traditional model of selling to
respond to market trends; whether our competitors are able to develop and sell alternative digital cinema
technologies to our customers; the accuracy of our identification of critical accounting policies and the accuracy
of the assumptions we make in implementing such policies; the accuracy of our estimates regarding our taxable
income and cash needs for the next twelve months; the accuracy of our calculations of royalties due to our
licensors; ﬂucruar;’ons in interest rates; and 'risks,set forth in {he section entitled “Risk Factors” bf Item 1A in
this Form 10-K and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking staiements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and,
completeness of these forward-looking statements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward- Iookmg
statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to conform our prior statements to actual resuits.
The periods presented herein consist of our fiscal years ended 2004, 2005 and 2006. Our fiscal years ended 2004
and 2006 consisted of 52 weeks, compared to our fiscal year ended 2005, which consisted of 53 weeks. The
results for our fiscal year ended September 29, 2006 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected
Sor any subsequent quarterly or annual financial period, including the fiscal year ending September 28, 2007.

AT [T}
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Overview

Dolby Laboratories develops and delivers innovative products and technologies that make the entertainment
experience more realistic and immersive. Since Ray Dolby founded Dolby Laboratories in 1965, we have been at

the forefront of delivering sound technologies that assist the entertainment creation process and enhance the

entertainment experience. Today, Dolby technologies are standard in a wide range of entertainment platforms.
For example, Dolby products are widely used in movie theatres around the world and our technologies are used
in virtually all DVD players and DVD playback software for personal computers. In addition, Dolby Digital is
mandated in all North American digital televisions and digital set-top boxes that include Advanced Television
Systemns Committee (ATSC) television tuners and is widely included in high-definition set-top boxes used for
European high-definition television broadcasts.

We conduct our business in two operating segments: licensing our technologies to manufacturers of
consumer electronics products, software developers and developers of professional products, and selling our
professional products and related production services.

In our technology licensing segment, we work with manufacturers of integrated circuits (ICs) to help them
incorporate our technologies into their ICs. These manufacturers then sell ICs to product manufacturers that
license our technologies for incorporation in products such as DVD players, DVD recorders, audio/video
receivers, television sets, set-top boxes, video game consoles, portable audio and video players, personal
computers, in-car entertainment systems and other consumer electronics products. We also license our
technologies to sofiware developers who implement our technologies for use in personal computer software
products. Our licensing arrangements typically entitle us to receive a specified royalty for every product shipped
by product manufacturer or software developer licensees that incorporates our technologies. We do not receive
royalties from IC 'manufacturers. We also collect fees for administering joint licensing programs {commonly
referred to as “patent pools™) on behalf of third parties. In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 our licensing revenue
represented 73%, 75% and 77% of our total revenue, respecnvely

In our products and production services segment, we design, manufacture and sell audio products for the
motion picture, broadcast, music and video game industries to improve sound quality, provide surround sound
and increase the efficiency of sound storage and distribution. The majority of our professional product revenue is
derived from sales of cinema processors, which movie theatres use to process film soundtracks. Production
services revenuc is primarily generated by service agreements with motion picture production companies who
utilize our equipment and services. Our sound engineers work alongside filmmakers, television broadcasters,
music producers and video game designers to help them use our products to create and reproduce the sound they
envision. Our sound engineers also provide training, system design expertise and on-site technical expertise to
cinema operators to help them configure their theatres and sound equipment to ensure that movie soundtracks are
replayed with consistent high-quality sound. In our digital cinema content preparation service unit we act as a
technical agent for our clients, following the content from start to finish, prowdmg the compression mastcnng
and dlsmbuuon media preparation, distribution and verification services.

We are a global organization. We have licensed our technologies to manufacturers in approximately 35
countries, including countries in North America, Europe and Asia. In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, revenue from
licensees cutside the United States represented 80%, 76% and 77% of our licensing revenue, respectively. Our
licensees distribute products incorporating our technologies throughout the world. We sell our professional
products and production services in over 50 countries. In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, revenue from sales outside
the United States represented 59%, 61% and 64% of our professional products sales and production services
revenue, respectively. Nearly all of our revenue is derived from transactions denominated in United States
dollars.




Management Discussion Regarding Opportunities, Challenges and Risks -

Qur Technology Licensing Segment

" Revenue from our technology licensing segmertt constitutes the majority of our total revenue, representing
73%, 15% and 77% of total revenue in fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectlvely We categorize our technology
licensing segment mto the followmg markets

. Consumer electronics (CE) market — primarily comprtsed of DVD p]ayers DVD recorders, audio/
video receivers and home-theatres-in-a-box.

*  Personal computer (PC) market - prtmarlly compnsed of software DVD players and DVD authoring -
applications. :

. Broadcast ‘market — primarily comprise.d- of télevisions and set-top boxcs.
*  Gaming market — primarily comprised of video game consoles.
*  Automotive market — comprised of in-car entertainment products.

* Licensing services — revenue from patent pool administration performed by our subsrdrary V1a :
Llcensmg

Histon'cally, the consumer electronics market, which is driven primarily by revenue attributable to DVD
player sales, has been our largest market, representing just over 50% of our licensing revenue in fiscal 2005. In
fiscal 2006 the consumer electronics market was approximately 45% of our licensing revenue, primarily due to
faster growth in other markets. There continues to be a number of growth opportunities in the consumer
electronics market, such as next-generation DV players for high-definition content. Qur Dolby Digital, Dolby- -
Digita! Plus and TrueHD technologies have been sélected as mandatory audio standards in the High-Definition
Digital Versatile Disc (HD-DVD) format. Dolby Digital has been selected as a mandatory audio standard and
Dolby Digital Plus and TrueHD have been selected as optional audio standards in the Blu-ray format. However,
the release and consumer adoption of next-generation DVD players has been slower than expected due, in part, to
the competing HD-DVD and Blu-ray formats. Consequently, we expect our ability to generate significant
royalties from incorporation of our technology in next-generation DVD players will also be delayed. Even
assuming resolution of the competing disc format conflict, the rate of consurer adoption of next-generation
DVD players is uncertain and may be slower than past growth rates of traditional DVD players. Furthermore, as -
the market for traditional DVD players continues to mature, the industry has moved towards lower-end Chinese-
made-DVD players, which we believe poses challenges in royalty collection and mte}lectual property
enforcement in China. .

We are continuing to diversify our sources of licensing revenue by.actively promoting the incorporation of,
our technologies for use in growing markets outside of our traditional consumer electronics market, such as
personal computers broadcast, gammg and automotive.

The personal eomputrng market which represented over 25% of our llcensrng revenue in fiscal 2005 and.
just over 30% in fiscal 2006, has been primarily driven by demand for software DVD players and to a lesser
extent, DVD authoring applications. PC manufacturers are experiencing pricing pressure and, as a result, may .
begin to offer DVD playback functionality as an optional addition to their base models at an addmonal cost to the
consumer or business, which may affect demand for our technology. PP AN

The broadcast market, which is primarily driven by demand for Dolby Digital in televisions and set-top
boxes, represented approximately 10% of our licensing revenue in fiscal 2005 and just over 10% in fiscal 2006.:
The broadcast market has benefited in recent years from the transition from standard televisions to high- ..
definition and digital televisions. Revenue generated from the gaming and automotive markets has primarily
been driven by demand for Dolby Digital and ATRAC technology in video game consoles and Dolby Digital in
in-car entertainment systems. "o v ' .

r
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Any future growth in the PC, broadcast, gaming and automotive markets may not fully offset a potential
decline in the growth of revenue generated from our consumer electronics market.
Our technologies are incorporated in consumer electronics and digital entertainment products throughout the

world. We expect that sales of products incorporating our technologies in emerging economies, such as China
and India, will increase in the future, as consumers in these geographical markets have more disposable income,
which may result in increased purchases of entertainment products for use in homes, automobiles and elsewhere,
although there can be no assurance that this will occur. We also expect that manufacturers from lower-cost
manufacturing countries, including China, will increase production of consumer electronics and digital
entertainment products in the future to satisfy this increased demand. Associated with opportunities of doing
business in these emerging economies, such as China, are unique risks that have and will continue to affect our
operating results, such as manufacturers failing to report or licensees underreporting product shipments.

Our Products and Production Services Segment -

Revenue from our products and production services segment represented 27%, 25% and 23% of total
revenue in fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, We remain committed to developing technotogies for use by
professionals in the entertainment industry. We believe that filmmakers, broadcasters, music producers and video
game designers will continue to push for technology solutions to help create, distribute and play back rich, high
quality sounds and images. As a result, we believe that major advances in sound, imaging and other technologies
for the recording, delivery and playback of entertainment will likely first be introduced in products desugned for
use by professionals. . : :

Sales of our professional products and production services tend to fluctuate based on the underlying trends
in the motion picture-and broadcast industries. For example, when box office receipts for the motion picture + - .’
industry increase, we have typically seen sales of our professional cinema products increase as well, as cinema
owners are more likely to build new theatres and upgrade existing theatres with our more advanced cinema - .
products when they are doing well financially. Conversely, when box office receipts are down cinema owners
tend to scale back on plans to upgrade their systems or build new theatres: In the broadcast industry, consumer
demand for high-quality broadcasts can drive broadcasters to purchase our professional broadcast products. For
example, broadcasters seeking to deliver content to consumers in Dolby Digital 5.1 surround sound posmve]y
affected sales of our professmnal broadcast products in fiscal 2006. :

Our production services revenue, both in the United States and internationally, is also tied to the strength of
the motion picture production industry and, in particular, to the number of films being made by studios and ¢
independent filmmakers. The number of films that are produced can be affected by a number of factors,
including strikes and work-stoppages within the motion picture industry as well as by the tax-incentive
arrangements that many foreign governments provide filmmakers to promote local filmmaking.

In recent years we have developed a digital cinema system which allows for the storage and playback of
digital content in theatres. Helping the motion picture industry transition to digital cinema continues to be a
major initiative in our products and services segment. Digital cinema offers the motion picture industry possible .
means to achieve substantial cost savings in printing and distributing movies, to combat piracy, and to enable
movies to be played repeatedly without degradation in image and audio quality. It also provides additional
revenue opportunities for cinema operators, as concerts and sporting events already in digital format could be
broadcast live via satellite to digitally-equipped theatres. The cinema industry is still in the early stages of the
adoption of digital cinema for the distribution and exhibition of movies. A single systems integrator, Christie/
ATX, has installed most of the digital ¢inema systems deployed to date in U.S. theatres. In response to movie
studio requiréments, Christie/AIX has required that the digital cinema equipment included in its installations ' -
provide particular capabilities, which our products do not currently satisfy. Consequently, we “have not supplied
digital cinema systems to Christie/AIX, and at least one competitor has a significantly gréater installed base of its
competing digital cinema products than we do due to its participation in Christie/AIX’s deployments. Qur
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inability to deploy our digital cinema products in significant numbers in the early stages of the transition to
digital cinema could limit our eventual share of the digilal cinema product market,

A number of compemors offer competmg products for digital cinema, some of Wthh are priced lower than
our products. We expect that as the market for'digital cinema grows we will face mére competitive pricing
pressures than we have traditionally experienced for cinerna products. As a'result, we may have to implement
pricing strategies which could have an adverse impact on our product sales gross margins in the future,

A . . . . .

Furthermore, if the market fof digital cinema develops more slowly than we anticipate or if we do not

identify opportunities and successfully execute our.initiatives to participate in the emerging digital cinema

market, our significant investment in digital cinema technology may not yield the returns we anl1c1pate and our
business could be adversely affecled ‘ oo St

| M B Loy . . K - o R [ * L T,

In an effort to encourage the motion plCtl.ll'e mdustry to increase the pace of conversion to digital cinema, we
entered into a collaboration agreement with Walt Disney Pictures and Television in the third quarter of fiscal
2005 under which we deployed digital cinema systems in selected theatres throughout the U.S. We funded the
majority of the’equipment and installation'costs related to’this deployment, resulting in a total expense of
approximately $8.6 million to'cost of product sales and cost of production services, of which the majority was
recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 and the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

« Inrecent years, our products and services segment has grown more slowly than our technology licensing -
segment. In addition, the profit margin for our products and services segment has been lower than our technology
licensing segment and is expected to remain so. Future mltlatlves assoc1ated with digital cinema in'this
competitive market may adversely affect our gross margin. ' -

3 e N T L . . . ’

Cntlcal Accountmg Policies | . TR ey

The discussion and analysis of our ﬁnanmal condition and resu]ts of operations are based on our .
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to utilize accounting policies and make certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies as of the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during a fiscal period. The
SEC considers an accounting policy to be critical if it is both important to a company’s financial condition and
results of operations and it requires significant judgment and estimates on the part of management in its
application. We have discussed the selection and development of the critical accounting policies with the audit
committee of our board of directors, and the audit committee has reviewed our related disclosures in this Annual -

Report on Form 10-K. Although we believe that our judgments and estnmates are appropriate and correct, actual

results may differ from those estimates.

The following are our critical accounting policies because we believe they are both important to the
portrayal of our financial condition’and result§ of operations and require critical management judgments and
estimates about matters that are uncertain. If actual results or events differ materially from those contemplated by
us in making these estimates, our reported financial condition and results of operation for future periods could be'
materially affected. See “Risk Factors” for certain matters bearing risks on our future results of operations.

Reverniue Recognition

We evaluate revenue recognition for transactions to sell products and services and to license technology,
trademarks and know-how using the ¢ériteria set forth by the SEC in Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, Revenue
Recognirg"on (SAB 104). For revenue transactions that involve software or software-related products, such as
certain fees we earn from integrated software vendors (ISVs) and certain other licensees, we recognize revenue
under the guidance established by Statement of Position No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (SOP 97-2).
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Both SAB 104 and SOP 97-2 state that revenue is recognized when each of the following criteria is met:

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the seller’s
price to the buyer is fixed or determmable and eo]leetlblllty 1s reasonably assured

chensmg Our llcensmg revenue is- prlmarlly derived from royaltles pald to us by licensees of our mtellectual ‘
property rights, including patents, trademarks and know-how. Royalties are recognized when all revenue
recognition criteria have been met. We make judgments as to whether collectibility can be reasonably assured based
on the licensee’s recent payment history or the existence of a standby letter-of-credit beiween the licensee’s
financial institution and our financial institution. In the absence of a favorable collection history or a letter-of-credit,
we recognize revenue upon receipt of cash, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We generate the majority of our licensing revenue through our licensing contracts with original equipment
manufacturers (system licensees) and independent software vendors. Our revenue recognition policies for each of
these arrangements are summarized below. : :

Licensing to system licensees. We license our technologies to system'licenseeé who manufacture consumer
electronic devices and, in return, the system licensee pays us a royalty for each unit shipped that incorporates our
technologies. Royalties from system licensees are generally recognized upon receipt of a royalty report from the
licensee and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Licensing ro independent software vendors. We license our technologies for resale to independent
software vendors and, in return, the software vendor pays us a royalty for each unit of software distributed that
incorporates our technologies, Royalties from independent software vendors- are'generally recognized upon
receipt of a royalty report from the licensee and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Product Sales and Production Services. Our revenue from the sale of products is recogruzed when the risk’
of ownership has transferred to our customer as provided under the terms of the governing purchase agreement
typically the invoice we deliver to-the customer, and all the other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Generally, these purchase agreements provide that the risk of ownership is transferred to the customer when the
product is shipped. Production services revenue is recognized as the services related to a given prcuect are
completed and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Multiple-Element Arrangements. 'We enter into arrangements that include multiple elements such as
hardware, software, maintenance and other services. Revenue from these arrangements is allocated based on the fair
value of each element. The allbeated revenué for each element is recognized when all revenue recognition criteria
for that element has been met. If we cannot objectively determine the fair value of any undelivered element included

in a multiple-element arrangement, we defer revenue until all elements are delivered and/or services have been -
performed, or until we can objectively determine the fair value of all remaining indelivered elements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We continually monitor customer payments and mamtam a reserve for estlmated losses rcsulung from our.
customers’ inability to make required payments. In determining the reserve,.we evaluate the collectibility of our
accounts receivable based upon a variety of factors. In cases where we are aware of circumstances that may
impair a specific customer’s ability 1o meet its financial obligations, we record a specific allowance against
amounts due, thereby reducing the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably believed to be collectible.
For all other customers, we recognize allowances for doubtful accounts based on our actual historical write-off
experience in conjunction with the length of time the receivables are past due, customer creditworthiness,
geographic risk and the current business environment. Actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may
differ from our estimates and may have a material éffect on our consolidated statements of operations-and our
financial condition. Qur allowance for doubtful accounts totated $1.7 million at September 29, 2006. An
incremental change of 1% in our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of trade accounts receivables
would have a $0.2 million increase or decrease in our operating results.
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Goodwill ' : .

We account for goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
Goodwill-and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). As required by SFAS 142, we perform an impairment test on
recorded goodwill by comparing the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units to the carrying value of
the assets and liabilities of each unit, including goodwill. The fair value of each-of our reporting units is
determined by using a discounted cash-flow model which considers a nurhber. of factors, including estimated -
future cash-flows, risks facing us and our current market capitalization. If the carrying value of the assets and
liabilities of the reporting units, including goodwill, were to exceed our estimation of the fair value of the
reporting units, we would record an impairment charge in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying value of
goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill. Our fiscal 2006 impairment test of goodwill, which was
performed in the third fiscal quarter, resulted in no impairment charge. Fluctuations in our fair value, which may
result from changes in economic conditions, our results of operations and other factors, relative to the carrying
value, could result in impairment charges in future periods. - '

Accauntmg Jor Income Taxes

In preparing our consolldaled ﬁnancnal statements, we are requnrcd to make estimates and Judgments that
affect our accounting for income taxes. This process includes estimating actual current tax exposure together
with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences, including differences in the timing of recognition of stock-based compensation expense, result
in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheets. We also assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent that we
believe that recovery. is not likely, we have established a valuation allowance.

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and
liabilities and the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. Our financial position and results of
operations may be materially impacted if actual results si gmﬁcantly differ from these estimates or the estimates
are adjusted in future periods. :

Personal Holding Company Tax Matters. For United States federal income tax purposes, a corporation is

" generally considered to be a “personal holding company” under the United States Internal Revenue Code if (i) at
any time during the last half of its taxable year more than 50% of its stock by value is owned, directly or
indirectly, by virtue of the application of certain stock ownership attribution rules set forth in the Internal
Revenue Code for purposes of applying the personal holding company rules, by five or fewer individuals and
(ii) at least'60% of its adjusted ordina:y gross incorme, as defined for United States federal income tax purposes,

personal holding company income.” Personal holding company income is generally passive income, including

royalty income, subject to certain exceptions such as qualifying software royalties. A personal holding company
is subject to an additional tax on its undistributed after-tax income, calculated at the statutory tax rate, which is
currently 15%. Since the personal holding company tax is imposed only on undistributed income, a personal
holding company can avoid or mitigate liability for the tax, but not interest or penalties, by paying a dividend to
its stockholders

During fiscal 2006, more than 50% of the value of our stock was held by Ray Dolby and stockholders
considered affiliated with him pursuant to the stock ownership attribution rules applicable to personal holding
companies. We expect this will continue to be the case in the foreseeable future. In addition, a significant portion
of our income is from licensing fees, which may constitute personal holding company income. Currently,
however, less than 60% of Dolby Laboratories’ adjusted ordinary gross income is personal holding company
income. Given our current sources of revenue, we believe that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries is currently
liable for personal holding company tax.
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Stock-Based Compensation

On October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards-No. 123(R},
Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R) using the modified prospective application transition method. SFAS-123R ..
requires measurement of all employee stock-based compensation awards using a fair-value method and recording
of such expense in the.consolidated financial statements over the requisite service period. Previously, we had .
applied the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to .
Employees (APB 25) and related interpretations and elected to utilize the disclosure option of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123). In fiscal 2006,
we recorded stock-based compensation’expense of $19.1 million.under the fair-value provisions of SFAS 123R,
compared to $14.2 million in fiscal 2005 and $6.8 million in fiscal 2004 under the provisions of APB 25 and
related interpretations. In addition, the deferred compensation balance of $26.4 million related to stock-based
awards accounted for under APB 25 as of September 30, 2005 was eliminated and there was a correspondlng
reduction in additional paid-in capltal . : . :

To determine the expected term of our employee stock options granted in ﬁscal 2006 we utilized the

simplified approach as defined by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment (SAB 107).

This approach resulted in a weighted-average expected term of 6,23 years for options granted during fiscal 2006
”‘*"*"!bh's“é'd"dn"'ﬁ’n‘éxpectediterrn :0f16:25-yearsifor‘options thatwestover. foursyearsiandi6:00,years,foro opnons,that vest,
' over three years. To determine the risk-free interest rate we utilized an average interest rate based.on.U.S.-
Treasury instruments whose term was consistent with the expected term of our awards. To determine the
expected stock price volatility we first examined the historical volatilities for our common stock and those of our
peers. In addition, we considered the implied volatilities of our publicly-traded options and those publicly-traded
options of our peers with similar terms to those of our employee stock options. We then utilized a weighted-
average of historical and implied volatility to determine our expected stock price volatlllty See Note 3
“Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensanon for further discussion,
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Years Ended September 24, 2004, Septembqr 30, 2005 and September 29, 2004

.The following table presents our audited actual and pro forma unaudited operating results as a percentage of

total revenue for the periods indicated. For an explanation of our pro forma unaudited financial results, please

Consolidated Statements of Operatlons Data:

Revenue:
Licensing
Product sales
Production services

+Total revenue -

Cost of revenue:
"Cost of licensing
Costof productsales (1) ... .. ..ovuvvrennnner s
Cost of production services (l)

Tolal cost of revenue

Gross margm

Operating expenses:;
Selling, general and administrative (1)
Research and dévelopment (1) :
In-process research and development
Gain on settlements

. Total operatmg expenses,

Operatmg income
Other income, net

Income before provision for income taxes and controllmg
mteresl

Income before controlling interest
Controlling interest in net income, net of tax

Net income

_ :("l') ’ Stqé_k-baseq compensation ihcluded above was as follows:

Costofproductsales . ..................co....
- Cost of production services
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development

.............

Total stock-based compensation

g qiefer:to Item'6 “Selected Financial Data—Pro Forma Presentation” above.

Actual Pro Forma
Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
Sep2d4, Sep30, Sep29, Sep24, Sep30, Sep29, ;
2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006 :
{unaudited)
73% 15% T1% 13% 15% 1% '
20 18 17 20 18 17 :
7 1 6 _7 _7 _6 :
160 100 100 100 100 100 ,
19 12 7 7 7 7 ;
10 9 0 9 9 9
3 3 3 3 3 3 '
— — ., —= _— — - s
22418 19 190 19
I T TR TR TR
37 41 40 37 4l 40 *
8 10 9 8 10 9 .l
t — —_ 1 — — ;
JEC) R O B € R O O B €0
45 50 iS 45 50 48
T2ATOMBETE 330 36 3L . Bamade
o 2 a0 T
23 28 ‘37 36 33 37
s 12 1 4 4 .
14 16 23 22 .. 19 23 ;
0 0 0 0 o o
4% 6% 2% 2% 9% 3%
t
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
0 0 0 0 0 0 |
2 3 4 2 3 4 .
B S S S S S D
2% 4% 5% 2% _4% 5%




Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2005 and September 29, 2006

Revenue
Fiscal Year Ended : Change
September 30, September 29,
L e . 2008, .. ,.2006, . ..8 .. % _
($ in thousands)
Revenue:

LACENSIIE © oot tvi e e et e e e $246,298 $301,663  $35.365 22%

Percentage of total revenue ... ....... ... 75% 77%
Productsales ............c.c..... [ 60,021 65,413 5392 9%

" Percentage of total revenue .. ...................... 18% 17%
Production services ................. e T 21,648 24,466 2818 13%

Percentage of total revenue ........... ... ... .. .... 7% 6%
Totalrevenue . ............ e $327,967 $391,542  $63,575 19%

Licensing. The $55.4 million, or 22%, increase in licensing revenue from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006 was
primarily driven by increases in revenues from the consumer electronics, personal computer and broadcast
markets, and to a lesser extent, our gaming and automotive markets. The increase in the consumer electronics
market was primarily driven by strength in sales of traditional DVD players, which we attributed primarily to a
particularly strong holiday season. The increase in the PC market was driven by growth in sales of personal
computer software DVD players and, to a lesser extent, DVD authoring applications. The increase in the
broadcast market was driven by sales of digital televisions and set-top boxes that incorporate our technologies.
The gaming and automotive markets were driven by sales of video game consoles and in-car entertainment

systems that incorporate our technologies.

Product Sales. The $5.4 million, or 9%, increase in our revenue from preduct sales from fiscal 2005 to
fiscal 2006 was primarily due to increased sales of our broadcast products and, to a lesser extent, our cinema
products. Sales of broadcast products have benefited from world-wide demand to broadcast content in Dolby
Digital 5.1 surround sound. Sales of cinema products increased primarily due to an increase in new theatre

construction.

Production Services. The $2.8 million, or 13%, increase in production services revenue from fiscal 2005
to fiscal 2006 was primarily attributable to an increase in digital cinema mastering and original film services, as
well as services to encrypt films for awards group presentations. ' '

Gross Margin

Actual Pro Forma
Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, September 29, September 30, September 29,
2005 2006 2005 2006 ‘
(unaudited)
Gross Margin: '
Licensing gross margin percentage . ........... . 84% 91% 91% 91%
Product sales gross margin percentage ......... 48% 41% 50% 41%
Production services gross margin percentage . . . . 61% 56% 61% 36%
Total gross margin percentage ........... 76% . 81% 81% 81%
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Licensing Gross Margin. We license to our customers intellectual property that may be internalty developed,
acquired by us or licensed from other parties. Our cost of licensing consists principally of royalty obligations to
third parties for the licensing of intellectual property rights that we sublicense as part of our licensing arrangements
with our customers. Qur cost of llcensmg also includes amortization expenses associated with purchased intangible
assets. Prior to February 16, 2005, our cost of licensing also included royalty obligations to Ray Dolby. On

February 16, 2003, Ray Dolby contributed to us all rights in the intellectual property related to our business that he
and his affiliates held. In connection with the asset contribution, our previous licensing arrangements with Ray
Dolby terminated, and we have no further obligation to pay royalties to Ray Dolby. The increase in licensing gross
margin from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006 was due primarily to the elimination of royalty obligations due to Ray Dolby
for fiscal 2006 as a result of the February 2005 contribution of his intellectual property rights, compared to $17.4
million of royalty obligations due to Ray Dolby for fiscal 2005.

. Cost of licensing includes approximately $10 million in royalty expenses from the third and fourth quarters
of fiscal 2006 that are accrued as of September 29, 2006 under a patent license agreement with an unrelated third
party licensor. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006 we evaluated whether the payment of royalties using the
methodology undér which we have historically calculated royaltiés would constitute an overpayment.
Subsequently, we notified the licensor that we no longer intend to pay royalties under the historic methodo]ogy
We paid the licensor under the new methodology for the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2006. As of
December 12, 2006, we had not received a response from the licensor.

There were no pro forma adju‘s'lmen.ts to Iicensir;g gross,margir'l. &ﬁring fiscal 2006. Our pro form:i licensing
gross margin for fiscal 2005 excludes $17.4 million of expenses we recorded for licensing royalty obligations to
Ray Dolby. o ' '

Product Sales Gross Margm Cost of product sales primarily conmsts of material costs related to the
products sold, direct labor and apphed manufactunng overhead and, to a lesser extent, amortization of certain
1nlang1ble assets. Prior to February 16, 2005, our cost of product sales also included royalty obligations for
technologles we licensed from Ray Dolby. These royalty obligations termmated in connection with Ray Dolby 5
asset contribution dlscussed above, -

The decrease in product sales gross margin percentage from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006 is primarily due to
$6.4 million in charges recorded to cost of product sales in fiscal 2006, compared to $1. '3 million in fiscal 2005,
in connection with our digital cinema collaboration with Walt Disney Pictures and Television discussed above in
our management discussion and analysis of our product and production services segment. This decrease in
product sales gross margin percentage was_slightly offset by the elimination of royalty obligations due to Ray
Dolby for fiscal 2006, compared to $1.3 million of royalty obligations due to Ray Dolby for fiscal 2005.

There were no pro forma adjustments to product sales gross margin for fiscal 2006. Pro forma product sales
gross margin for fiscal 2005 excludes $1.3 million of expenses we recorded for royalty payments we made to
Ray Dolby. The decrease in pro forma product sales gross margin percentage was primarily due to the charge
recorded for the dlgltal cinema collaboratlon discussed above. -

Production Services Gross Margin. Cost of production services consists primarily of the payroll and
benefits costs of employees performing our professional services, the cost of outside consultants and
reimbursable expenses incurred on behalf of customers. Cost of production services for fiscal 2006 includes 30.8
million in charges related to the digital cinema collaboration with Walt Disney Pictures and Television discussed
above, compared to $0.1 million in fiscal 2005. The decrease in production services gross margin percentage
from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006 was primarily due to this charge. Pro forma production services gross margin was
not affected by royalty obligations to Ray Dalby.
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Operating Expenses o
' ’ ) Fiscal Year Ended . ' Change
September 30, ~ September 29,
2005 2006

-t . ' ’ ’ o . ($ in thousands)
Operating expenses: © ' : : '

Selling, general and admlmstratlve B A A N v 3135155 $154,165  $19,010 14%

Percentage of total revenue . .. .. e ol “41% 40%
Research and development ™. ......... e iul Ll v 30532t 35377 4845 16%

Percentage of total revenue . ... .. S R 10% 9%
Gamnonsettlements ............ ..oty e (20000 - (3,625 - (1,625) B1%

| Percentage of total L (1)% (1)% .

Total operatmg expenses U -.' ..... SRS .7 $163,687  $185917  $22,230 14%

Selling, Geneml and Admmzstrat:ve Sellmg, general and adrmmstratwe expense consists primarily of
personnel and personnel- -related expenses, professional service fees and fac111ty costs for our sales, marketing and
administrative functions. . o L .

»

The $19.0 million, or 14%, increase in selling, general and administrative expense from fiscal 2005 to'fiscal
2006 was primarily due to 3 $15.3 million increase in personnel expenses, as well as a $4.9 million increase in
professmnal and consultmg expenses. The i increase in personnel expenses includes a $3.2 million increase in
stock-based compensation expense due to the adoption of SFAS 123R in fiscal 2006 and $11.8 million in hlghcr
compensation and benefits expense due to an increase in headcount from 476 employees to 495 employees,
annual pay increases and an increase in bonus expense. The increase in professional and consultmg expense was
due pnmanly to'increased audlt and accounting services and consulting expenses incurred to comply with the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act andtoa lesser extent, legal fees and information technology support costs. These increases
were partially offset bya decrcase of approx1mately $3.2 million in promotional expenses from fiscal 2005 to o
fiscal 2006. In fiscal 2005 promotional expenses included approximately $3.2 million related to a promotmn n’
which we provided Cinea secure DVD players to members of certain awards organizations.

Research and Development. “Research-and development expense conisists primarily of compensation and
benefits telated costs for personnel responsible for the research and development of new technologies and
products. The $4.8 million; or 16%, increase in research and development. expense from fiscal 2005 to fiscal
2006 was primarily the result of a $3.8 million increase in personnel expenses due to a growth in headcount from
169 employees to 138 employees, annual pay increases and an increase in borius expense, as well as increased
stock-based compensation expense due to the adoption of SFAS 123R in fiscal 2006.

Gain on Settlements. . Gain on settlements includes penalties related to the resolution of disputes with
implementation licensees from which we typically do not earn royalties. Amounts attributable to the resclution of
royalty disputes from licensees that specifically represent unpaid royalties are recorded as licensing revenue'in .
the period payment is received, if all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. In fiscal 2006, we
recognized $3.6 million in connection with the resolution of a dispute with an implementation licensee regarding
the violation of the terms of its licensing agreements with us. In fiscal 2005, we recognized $2.0 millionin .
connection with the resolution of disputes with two of our 1mp1ementat10n licensees regarding similar violations
of the terms of their licensing agreements with us.

Other Income, Net

- Fiscal Year Ended ~ Change
September 30, September 29,
2005 2006 $ %
{8 in thousands) -
Other inCome, NBL . .. ..ttt it e it ia e $7,156 $17,054 $9.898 138%




% L

J Other income, net, primarily consists of interest income earned on cash, cash equivalent and investment
pbalances, offset by interest expense principally attributable to the outstanding balances on our facility debt
obligations, Also included are gains and losses on interest rate swap agreements associated with our facility debt
obligations and gains or losses from remeasurement of balances recorded on our foreign entities’ balance sheets

in currencies other than the entities’ functional currency. In fiscal 2006 we began to invest in United States

government agency securities and municipal debt securities with original maturities of greater than 90 days in
order to earn a better rate of return. These investments have maximum maturities of three years and are recorded
at fair value on the consolidated batance sheet. The $9.9 million increase in other income, net from fiscal 2005 to
fiscal 2006 was primarily due to an increase in interest income of $11.8 million generated as a result of larger
cash, cash equivalents and investrents balances driven by proceeds from our initial public offering in the second

quarter of fiscal 2005 and, to a lesser extent, cash generated from operations. Interest income also increased as a
result of higher yields driven by higher interest rates. A loss on foreign balance sheet remeasurernent in fiscal

income.

Income Taxes

Income.taxes:

Provision for income taxes ...........
- Effectivetaxrate .......... U

.

* 2006 of $0.5 million, compared to a gain of $1.2 million in fiscal 2005, partially offset;the-increase-in interest

L

L
' 4

Actual " CoTe - Pro Forma
Fiscal Year Ended : Fiscal Year Ended .

September 30, - September 29, -September 30, September 29,
2005 - 2006 2008 2008

' T (unatidited)

(% in thousands) ‘3

$37,330  $55.833  $44917  TT$55833 ”
41% 38% 41% 38%

Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2006 was lower than in fiscal 2005 primarily due to income from a foreign
Subsidiary in fiscal 2006 compared to a loss from a foreign subsidiary in fiscal 2005 that was not deductible for
tax purposes, a decrease in non-deductible stock-based compensation expense related to incentive stock options,
as well as tax-exempt interest income from investments. There were no pro forma adjustments to our provision
for income taxes or our effective tax rate for fiscal 2006. Our pro forma provision for income taxes and pro
forma effective tax rate for fiscal 2005 reflect the increase in operating income due to the exclusion of $18.7

million in royalty expense obligations to Ray Dolby.

Fiscal Years Ended September 24, 2004 and September 30, 2005

Revenue

Revenue: ' .
Licensing ................. Ceaa e

- Percentage of total revenue. . ... ..
Productsales .............. Leaaevi

Percentage of total revenue

Production services ...... e "

Percentage of total revenue

Totalrevenue .........ccovvvnnnn, e . $289,041 $327,967

¥

" Fiscal Year Ended Change
September 24, September 30, '
2004 2005

s =

(% in thousands)

e S $211,395  $246298 .  $34.903 17%

..... 73% . 75% . .
e - 57981 . 60021 . 2040 4%
O S 20% - 18% ,
e, .- 19,665 ., 21,648 - 1983 10%
................ 7% 7% .

13%

$38,926

a
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Licensing. The $34.9 million, or 17%, increase in licensing revenue from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005
resulted from increased sales by our licensees of their products that incorporate our technologies: The growth
was driven by increases in revenues from the PC, automotive, broadcast and gaming markets. The increase in the
PC market was-driven by growth in sales of personal computer software DVD players. The automotive;
broadcast and gaming markets were driven by sales of in-car entertainment systems, set-top boxes, digital
televisions and video game consoles that incorporate our technologies. In addition, revenues generated by
licensing services, increased due to strong growth in the use of AAC audio in personal music devices. Thc‘sa;
increases were offset by a decline in the revenue growth rate from our consumer electronics market primarily due
to a maturation of the sale of traditional DVD players. : ‘ -

Product Sales. The $2.0 million, or 4%, increase in our revenue from product sales from fiscal 2004 to
fiscal 2005 was principally attributable to an increase in sales:ofiour broadcast,products,primarily, due to .
increased efforts on the part of domestic and European local television stations, cable networks and satellite
broadcasters to broadcast in Dolby Digital 5.1 surround sound. This was offset by a slight decrease in sales of our
cinema products primarily driven by decreased box office receipts when compared with 2004.

Production Services. The $2.0 million, or 10%, increase in production services revenue from fiscal 2004
to fiscal 2005 was primarily attributable to an increase related to services provided on international films,
commercials and foreign language versions of those films. To a lesser extent, revenue increased due to
production services provided to domestic content providers related to original films, including digital films, as
well as cinema monitoring services. o

Gross Margin
Actual ‘ . ProForma
Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 24, September 30,
2004 ! 2005 2004 2005
e (vnaudited)
Gross Margin: - - ! SR o

Licensing gross margin percentage ......":. . .. ' 75% - 84% 91% 91%
Product sales gross margin percentage . . ool 48% 48% -  54% 30%
Production services gross margin percentage . . . . 61% - 6l% - 61% 61%
Total gross margin percentage ........... 6_8% - 76% 81% 81%

Licensing Gross Margin. The increase in licensing gross margin percentage from the fiscal 2004 to fiscal
2005 was due primarily to a decrease in royalty obligations to Ray Dolby as a result of the February 2005
contribution of his intellectual property rights. Our pro forma licensing gross margin for fiscal 2004 and 2005
excludes $33.8 million and $17.4 million, respectively, of expenses we recorded for licensing royalty obligations
to Ray Dolby. ’ 7

Product Sales Gross Margin.  Product sales gross margin percentage was flat from fiscal 2004 to fiscal
2005 due to the elimination of royalty obligations to Ray Dolby of $1.3 million, offset by a $1.3 million charge
recorded to cost of product sales in fiscal 2005 in connection with our digital cinema collaboration with Walt
Disney Pictures and Television discussed above in our management discussion and analysis of our product and
production services seginent. Pro forma product sales gross margin for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 excludes $3.1
million and $1.3 million, respectively, of expenses we recorded for royalty payments we made to Ray Dolby. The
decrease in pro forma margin was primarily due to the charge recorded for the digital cinema collaboration
discussed above. : .

Production Services Gross Margin.  Production services gross margins were flat from fiscal 2004 to fiscal
2005.
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Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year Ended _ Change

. ' September 24,  September 30,
- 2004 2005 $ %
' ‘ ($ in thousands)
Operating expenses: /
) Selling, general and administrative .................... $106,456 $135,155 $28,699 27%
Percentage of toral revenue .. ... .. ... . ... . . ... 37% 41%
Research and development .. ... ... ................ 23,479 30,532 7,053  30%
Percentage of total revenue ......... e S 8% 10%
In-process research and development .................. 1,738 ) — (1,738) na 5
' Percentage'of total revenue ... ..., ... ... ... . . ... 1% —
Gainonsettlements .. .................. e (2,000) (2,000) — —
Percentage of total revenue ... ... ... ... ... ... (1)% {(1)% L
Total operating eXpenses ... ................. $129,673 $163,687 $34014 26% i

Selling, General and Administrative. The $28.7 million, or 27%, increase in selling, general and
administrative expense from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 was principally due to'a $7.4 million increase in
- marketing expenses, particularly promotional expenses of approximately $3.2 million associated with providing
Cinea secure DVD players to members of certain awards organizations, a $5.9 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense, which includes a $2.3 million charge related to an acceleration of vesting terms for a
long-term employee at retirement, a $6.4 million increase in compensation and benefits costs due to a growth in
headcount and annual pay rates coupled with a $1.9 million rise in occupancy costs to accommodate our . ;
headcount growth. In addition, we incurred a $2.1 million increase in professional and consulting expenses - j
related primarily to intellectual property rights enforcement activities, informatien technology support costs, * .
legal fees including those associated with employee benefit matters, internal audit expenses and insurance costs.
The remaining increase was attributable to a growth in depreciation, travel, entertainment, system and
communication expenses.

Research and Development. 'The $7.1 million, or 30%, increase in research and development expense from
fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 was primarily the result of a $3.7 million increase in compensation and benefits costs
due toa growth in headcount and annual pay rates, a $1.3 million increase in stock-based compensauon expense
and a $1.3 million increase in costs to support current projects.

In-process Research and Development, In fiscal 2004, we recorded a $1.7 million charge related to
purchased in-process research and development that had no alternanve uses and had not reached technelogical
feasibility. No such charges. were incurred in fiscal 2003, :

Gairi on Settlements. In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, we recognized $2.0 million in connection with the
settlement of disputes with two of our implementation licensees regarding violation of the terms of their licensing
agreements with us. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004 we recognized $2.0 mllhon in connection with the
settlement of a dispute with another of our implementation licensees: : -

Other Income, Net

Fiscal Year Ended Change
Seplember 24, September 30,
2005 $ %
. ($ in thousands) .
Other inCOme, NEL.. . . ... . e e $229 . - 87,156 $6,927 3,025%
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Other income, net was $7.2 million in fiscal 2005 compared to $0.2 million in fiscal 2004. The increase in
fiscal 2005 was primarily due to increased interest earned on our higher cash and cash equivalent balances and
approximately $1.2 million in foreign exchange gains. In fiscal 2005, we began selling more products in United
States dollars from our United Kingdom branch and maintained the receipts in a United States dollar account in
the United Kingdom. The functional currency of our United Kingdom branch is the British pound sterling. The
balance in the account grew throughout the year exposing our results of operation to foreign exchange gains and
losses.

Income Taxes

Actual : Pro Forma
) ‘ Fiscal Year Ended . Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, Sepiember 24, September 30,
2004 2005 2004 2005
(unaudited)
: ($ in thousands)
Income taxes: , :
Provision for incometaxes .................. $27,321 $37,330 $40,676 $44 917

Effective taxrate .................. . ... 40% 41% 39% 41%

Qur effective tax rate in fiscal 2005 was higher than in fiscal 2004 primarily due to the impact of stock-
based compensation expense, which is generally non-deductible, as well as non-deductible losses from foreign
subsidiaries. The effect of stock-based compensation expense on our effective tax rate for fiscal 2005 was 4% on
an actual basis and 3% on a pro forma basis. The effect of stock-based compensation expense, on our effective
tax rate for fiscal 2004 was 3%, on'an actual basis.and 2%-on a pro forma basis. Our pro forma provision for
income taxes and pro forma effective tax rate for fiscal 2004 and 20035 reflect the increase in operating income - -
due to the exclusion of $36.9 million and $18.7 million, respectively, in royalty expense obllgatlons to Ray -
Dolby. - . ' : -

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

You should read the following tables presenting our unaudited quarterly results of operations in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. We have prepared this unaudited information on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial
staternents. Cur operatmg results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quaﬂers or
for a full fiscal year.

Fiscal Quarter Ended
December 31, Apritl, Julyl, September 30, December 30, March 31, June 30, September 29,

' 2004 2005 2005 - 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006
(unaudited)
{in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue:
Licensing ................. $62,191 $ 64,717 $ 60,775 3 58,615 $ 68982 § 83,183 % 69,138 ¥ 80,360
Productsales . ............. 16,487 14,807 13,486 15,241 16,004 15,708 18,862 14,839
Production services & other .. 5,585~ 5,577 5418 5068 6,039 5,833 5,650 6,944
Total revenue ......... 84,263 85,101 79,679 78,924 91,025 104,724 93,650 102,143

Costofrevenue ............ 26,976 23,715 14,156 15,371 22,171 16,398 18,884 18,589
Grossmargin .............. 57,287 61,386 65,523 63,553 68,854 88,326 74,766 83,554
Income before taxes and

controlling interest ....... 18,428 18,787 27,328 26,675 28,074 45973 31,201 41,389
Netincome ............... $10,377  $ 10,330 8 14,778 $ 16,808 $ 17,269 $ 27979 § 19,084 § 25,217
Eamings per share : ‘
Basic .....oovriiiieana. $ 012 $ O011% 014 35 0.6 $ 017 $ 027% 018 § 024
Diluted................... $ 011 & O0l10% 013 5 015 $ 016 $ 025% 017 $ 022
Basic shares outstanding . .. .. 86,788 94,806 103,410 103,655 104,295 105,254 106,238 106,964
Diluted shares outstanding . .. 97,819 105,544 112,750 110,499 110,190 111,387 111,983 112,150
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Quarrerly Pro Forma Financial Data . : i

The selected quarterly pro forma financial data set forth below gives effect to the asset contribution made by
Ray Dolby. as though such transactions had been completed prior to the beginning of fiscal 2005. For further
explanatlon of our pro forma unaudited financial results please refer to Item 6 “Selected Financial Data—Pro
Forma Presentatlon above '

The resuhs of giving effect to the asset conmbutlon as though that transaction had occurred prior to the
beginning of fiscal 2005 are adjustments to our consolidated results of operations to reverse the effects of $11.1
million and $7.7 million in royalties payable to Ray Dolby that we recorded to cost of revenue in the first and
second quarters of fiscal 2005, respectively. There were no royalties payable to Ray Dolby recorded after
February 16, 2005, and therefore, no effects to our consohdated results of operatlons in the third and fourth
quarter of fiscal 2005, and for the full fiscal year of ﬁscal 2006 :

Fiscal Quarter Ended
' December 31, Aprill, July1l, September 30, December 30, March 31, June 30, September 29,
©2004(1) - 2005(2) 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006
© (unaudited)} -
' - (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue:
Licensing . ................ $62,191  § 64,717 $ 60,775 § 58,615 $ 68982 § 83,183 § 69,138 § 80,360
Productsales .............. 16,487 14,807 13,486 15,241 16,004 15,708 18,862 14,839
Production services & other .. . 55385 | 5571, 5418 5,068 6,039 5,833 5,650 6,944
:Total revenue ......... 84,263 85,101 79,679 . 78,924 91,025 104,724 93,650 . 102,143

Costof revenue (1,2) ....... 15,923 16,058 14,156 . 15,371 22,171 16,398 18,884 . 18,589 .
Grossmargin .............. 68,340 69,043 65,523 63,553 68,854 88,326 74,766 83,554
Income before taxes and : i

controlling interest ....... 29,481 . 26,444 27,328 . 26,675 28,074 45973 31,201 - 41,389
Netincome ..n............. $16913 - 5 14917 $'l4,-778 $ 16,808  $ 17269 §$ 27979 § 19,084 § 25217
Earnings per share : . . ‘
Basic .........00v i, $£ 019 § 0168 Q14 $£..016 §& 017 $ ¢278 018. § 024
Diluted.................... $ 017 § 0148 013 $ 0I5 $ 016 % 025% 017 $ 022
Basic shares outstanding . .. .. 86,788 94,806 103,410 103,655 104,295 105,254 106,238 106,964
Diluted shares outstanding . . . 97,819 105,544 112,750 110,499 110,190 111,387 111,983 112,150

(1} Fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2004 excludes $11.1 million ($6.5 million, net of tax) in royalties payable to Ray Dolby.
(2) Fiscal quarter ended April 1, 2005 excludes $7.7 million ($4.6 million, net of tax) in royalties payable to Ray Dolby.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition _
The following table presents selected financial information for the fiscal years ended on the dates indicated:

September 30,:  September 29,
2006

2005
: i {(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents .................... s i $372 403 $412,487

Short-term investments ....:............. R TP C—_— 73,212

Long-term investments . ... ..o oottt et il it e e : i 32,909 .
- Accounts receivable,net ................ P . 25,221 23,550

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . .. e P - 65,126 79,336

‘Working capital (@) ................... e e . 381,394 479,778

Operating cash flow (fiscal year-to-date) . .................., ..... .80,422 132,502

Capital expenditures (ﬁscal year-to-date} (b). ... ... .o e 14,734 8,039

Cash used in investing' activities (fiscal year-to-date) .......... e 31,077 114,448

Cash provided by financing activities (fiscal year-to-date) ........... 244714 20,202

(a) Working capital consists of total current assets less total current liabilities.
(b) Capital expenditures primarily consist of purchases of office equipment, building fixtures, computer
hardware and software, leasehold improvements and production and test equipment.
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As of September 29, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments of $518.6 million, of which
$412.5 million was cash and cash equivalents and $106.1 million was short-term and long-term investments, an
increase of $146.2 million over the balance of $372.4 million at September 30, 2005. The change was primarily
due to cash generated from operatmg activities of $132.5 million, which was primarily driven by net income of
$89.5 million and non-cash expenses of $32.0 million related to stock-based compensation expense and
depreciation and amortization for fiscal 2006. In addition, cash held by our licensing administration subsidiary,
Via Licensing, on behalf of patent pool members that had been collected from licensees but had not yet been paid
out to patent poo! members increased by $14.6 million. These items were partially offset by $13.8 million in
excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options which are reflected in ﬁnancmg activities, and other
changes in assets and liabilities.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and potential cash flow from operations will be sufficient to
satisfy our cash requirements through at least the next 12 months.

Cash used in investing activities was $114.4 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $31.1 million for fiscal
2005. Cash used in'investing acfivities for fiscal 2006 was primarily driven by purchases of available-for-sale
securities of $105.4 million, net of sales, In the third quarter of fiscal 2006 we began to invest in United States
government agency securities and municipal debt securities with original maturities greater than 90 days in order
to earn a better rate of return. These investments have maximum maturities of three years and are recorded at fair
value on the consolidated balance sheet. Cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2005 included an $11.0
million payment for an exclusive irrevocable right to sublicense a third party’s technology to our customers and
$14.7 million in capital expenditures. Capital expenditures decreased $6.7 million from the fiscal 2005 to fiscal
2006 primarily due to the completion of leasehold improvements that occurred in fiscal 2005.

Cash provided by financing activities was $20.2 million for fiscal 2006. Cash provided by financing
activities decreased $224.5 million from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006 primarily due to $242.5 million in net -
proceeds generatéd from the issuance of Class A common stock in our initial public offering in February, 2005.
This decrease was partially offset by excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options and cash received
from the exercise of stock options and the issuance of common stock related to our Employee Stock Purchase

Plan.

In the first quarter of fiscat 2006 we adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application
transition method. Prior to our adoption of SFAS 123R, excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options
were reported as operating cash flows. SFAS 123R requires excess tax beneﬁts be reported as a financing activity
rather than as a reduction of taxes paid in operating activities.

Personal Holding Company Tax Matters

If we or any of our subsidiaries were to become liable for personal holding company tax, we expect that it is
likely that instead of paying the personal holding company tax, we would elect to pay a dividend to our
stockholders in an amount equal to all or a significant part of our undistributed personal holding company
income. We expect that we would pay such a dividend out of our available working capital, which could
significantly decrease our cash, unless we sought additional financing for this purpose. Any such financing might
not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. If instead of paying a dividend we elect to pay the tax, this
could significantly increase our consolidated tax expense. We expect we would pay any such tax out of our
available working capital, which could also significantly decrease our cash, unless we sought additional
financing. See “Critical Accounting Policies—Accounting For Income Taxes” for a funher explanation of
matters related to personal holding tax issues. o
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments ~

The followmg table presents a summary of our contractual obhganons and con‘umtmems as of
September 29, 2006,

" Payments Due By Period
' - Less than 1-3 35 More than
1Year Years Years 5 Years Total
. . S (in thousands) .
Litigation settlement .. .......... ... 0ieeeiiinnrernren.. $3,000 3% 6,000 - $ 6000 $ —  $15000
Mortgages ...l Lo 1,441 3,126 3,480 4287 12,334
Operating leases . ..............c.ciiiieiiiiiiiiainnt 3,360 © 5,164 4804 7595 20,923
Total ... ST $7.801 "$14290 $14,284 '$11,882 $48,257

Reeently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the Financial Accounung Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
"Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires that the
funded status of defined benefit postretirement plars be recognized on the company’s balance sheet, and changes
in the funded status be reflected in comprehensive income, effective fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006.
SFAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plan’s funded status to be the same as the company’s fiscal

year-end. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 158 to have a material effect on our financial position or
results of operations. '

. In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (SFAS 157). The purpose of SFAS 157 is to define fair value, establish a framework for
measuring fair value and enhance disclosures about fair value measurements, The measurement and disclosure
requirements are effective for periods beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect
that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on our financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
Considering the Eﬂ’ecrs of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year F inancial
Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides 1nterpret1ve guidance on how to evaluate the materjality of uncorrected
misstatement in the current year financial ‘statements using both an income ‘statement approach (the rollover approach})
and a balance sheet approach (the iron curtain approach). The rollover approach quantifies a misstatement based on the
amount of the error originating in the current year income statement while the iron curtain approach quantifies a
rmsstatement based on the effects of correcting the cumulative misstatement ex:stmg in the balance sheet at the end of

the current year SAB 108 is effective for penods beginning after November 15, 2006 We do not expect the adoption
of SAB 108 to have a‘material effect on our financial posmon or results of operatlons

In June 2006 the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No, 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertamty in Income
Taxes. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for.
Income Taxes. This Interpretation defines the minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet
before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after -

December 15; 2006. We are currently evaluatmg the effect that the adoptlon of FIN 48 will have on our financial
posmon and results of operations. - = <.

In June 2006, the FASB rauﬁed Emergmg Issues Task Force Issue 06-3, How Sales Taxes Collected From
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (EITF 06-3).
EITF 06-3 requlres a company to disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation) regarding the
presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for

periods beginning after December 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 06-3 to have a material
effect on our financial position or results of operations.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensitivity

.y Cash, Cash qu@{ems and Investments.  As of September 29, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of
$412.5 million, which consisted of/Cast; highty liquid-money market funds and United States government agency
securities with original maturities of three months or less. In addition, we had short-term and long-term
investments of $106.1 million, which consisted primarily of United States government agency securities and
municipal debt with original maturities greater than 90 days. Many of these investments are subject to
fluctuations in interest rates, which could impact our results. At September 29, 2006 the average investment ,
maturity of our investment portfolio was three months or less. Based on our investment portfolio balance as of
September 29, 2006, a hypothetical change in interest rates of 1% would have approximately a $0.7 million
impact, and a change of 0.5% would have approximately a $0.4 million impact on the carrying value of our.
portfolio. Furthermore, a hypothetical change in interest rates of 1% would have approximately a $3.8 million

...impact, and a change of 0.5% “;puld have approximately a $1.9 million impact on interest income over a

anda, ‘ would
one-yearperiod. - S S o bk
A _..'s‘_’_-' A WX ey

Interest Rate Swap Agreements. We have entered into interest rate swap agreements.to manage our
exposure to interest rate changes on our facility debt obligations. The swap,agreements involve.the exchange of
fixed and variable interest rate payments without exchanging the notional principal amount. Gains and losses
associated with the swap agreements are included in other income, net, in our consolidated statements of
operations.

[ o
TR o e o e PP SR BT ST

We do not utilize financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes, nor do we utilize leveraged

financial instruments.
‘ . i .

F. oréign Currenc_\'! Exchange Risk

We maintain sales, marketing and business operations in foreign countries, most significantly in the United
Kingdom. Consequently, we have éxpoéure to adverse changes in exchange rates associated with our foreign
business operations. While nearly all of our revenue is derived from transactions denominated in United States
dollars, nearly all of our costs from our forei g'n operations are derived from transactions denominated in the
functional currency of that foreign location. As a result, our operating income is subject to exposure from
changes in exchange rates. For example, the average exchange rate for fiscal 2006 of the British pound sterling to
the United States dollar was approximately 1.8 United States dollars for Qng'B}itish pound sterling. We estimate
that if the average exchange rate for the British pound sterling had been 10% higher or lower, it would have had.
an impact of approximately a $2.8 million on our operating income during fiscal 2006. In addition, we are in the
process of expanding out foreign operations, specifically in Asia, which could increase our exposure to changes
in foreign currency exchange rates. : AR e ;

In fiscal 2005, we began selling more products in United States dollars from our United Kingdom branch
and maintained the receipts in a United States dollar account in the United Kingdom. The functional currency of
our United Kingdom branch is the British pound sterling. Therefore, we were required to remeasure balances that
were in currencies other than the functional currency and recognize the impact of these foreign exchange rate
fluctuations in our results of operations. As the balance in the account grew throughout fiscal 2005, our results of
operations became exposed to foreign exchange gains and losses. In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we converted
much of the balance into British pound sterling, thereby significantly mitigating the exposure from fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates on our statement of operations. We peribdicall'y convert balances denominated in Unitéd .
States dollars at our United Kingdom branch into British pound sterling to mitigate this’.ex'posure.

»
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Dolby Laberatories, Inc.:

- We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dolby Laboratories, Inc. and subsidiaries

as of September 29; 2006 Afid"September:30;-2005;-and the selated consolidated statements of operations,

stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows, for each of the years in the three- -year petiod ™
ended September 29, 2006. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have
audited the financial statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule arc the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Dolby Laboratories, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 29, 2006 and September 30,
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
September 29, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Dolby Laboratories, Inc. internal control over financial reporting as of
September 29, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated
December 12, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management's assessment of, and the effective
operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
December 12, 2006




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders .
Dolby Laboratories, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Dolby Laboratories, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of September 29, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Dolby
Laboratories, Inc. management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
€XPpress an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion con the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
contro! over financial reporting based on our audit. )

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Dolby Laboratories, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of September 29, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Dolby Laboratories, Inc. maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO)..

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Dolby Laboratories, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 29,
2006 and September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 29, 2006,
and our report dated December 12, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

‘ ‘ /s/ KPMG LLP
San Francisco, California
December 12, 2006
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DOLBY LABORATORIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts}

September 30,  September 29,
2005 . 2006

ASSETS :

Current assets: ’ v :
Cashand cashequivalents ....... .. .. ey ... $372.403 $412,487
Short-term investments .. ................. e e - — 73,212 .
Restricted cash . ... o e e e 205 210
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,030 at September 30, 2005 and

$1,724 at September 29,2000 .......cooiiiiiiiiiiann. P 25,221 23,550
TVEIIOTIES « o v vttt e et e e e e ettt et ae e et e bt e 11,722 11,104
Income tax receivable . ... ... . . e e e P 8,021 1,371

c Deferred INCOME LAXES v . v it e ettt e e e et e ettt eaa e . 31,183 . 44,568
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...... e cee 5,433 6,130
Total currentassets . . ........... e e s 454,188 572,632

Property, plant and-equipment, net ........ e S o 76,462 76,995

Intangible assels, NEL ... ... v vv oottt ittt " 17,184 14,954

GoodWIll . ... o e e e e e e e 23,865 23,188

Long-term iNVESIINENTS . . . ..o\ iut ittt et e i innens s rrreneeee ey — 32,909

Long-term deferred income taxes .......... . vveere i 6,781 11,100

Other NON-CUITENE ASSEES . . o v v v vt vce e e e ettt e e e taaaannnnns PR 7,797 7,510

T - $586,277 $739,288
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities: . - .
Accounts payable . ... ... e e %6539 $ 4,581
Accrued compensation and benefits .- . ..., ... .. ... e 18,374 23,241
Accruedroyalties ............ .. ... e e ceee 4,762 11,054
Other accrued liabilities .................. s e 35,451 40,460
Income taxes payable ................ ...l o S © 3,054 5,719
Currentportion of debt . . ....... ... i 1,346 1,441
Deferred TEVEIUE . ..o vttt e e e e e i e 3,268 6,358

Total current liabilities ....... e e e 72,794 92,854
Long-termdebt .. ... e 12,124 10,893
Other non-current liabilities . ....... ... .. o 21,956 21,342

Total liabilities .......... e 106,874 125,089

ControlliNg INLEIESL . .. oottt ettt e , 18,264 19,911

Stockholders’ equity: . : J
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value, one vote per share, 500,000,000

shares authorized: 33,118,490 shares issued and outstanding at ‘

September 30, 2005 and 37,576,281 at September 29, 2006 .. ......... .. 33 37
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value, ten votes per share, 500,000,000 .

shares authorized: 70,790,210 shares issued and outstanding at ‘ .

September 30, 2005 and 69,684,855 at September 29,2006 . .. ........... 71 70
Additional paid-incapital . ... ... ... o e . 308,354 323,449
Deferred stock-based compensation .................. e (26,422) —_
Retained earnings ............... P e 177,369 266,918
Accumulated other comprehensive income .. ...... e 1,734 3,814

Total stockholders” equity .. ... ..ottt 461,139 594,288

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . ................ ... .00, $586,277 $739,288

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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DOLBY LABORATORIES, INC. . : !

!, CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS ‘ ’
L (in thousands, except per share amounts) ;
Fiscal Year Ended J

" September 24, September 30, September 29,
S 2004 2005 2006 1

Revenue: . :

' LiCensing ... ... ..ttt $211,395 $246,298 $301,663 \
Product sales . ..o e e 57,981 60,021 65,413 '
Production services ... ........... e L 19,665 21,648 24,466

Totalrevenue .........covniiiiiennnnn e 289,041 327,967 391,542 i

Cost of revenue: _ 7 o
Cost of licensing ........... e “. 53838 40558 26,887 f
Costof productsales (1) .......... .0 ...y, " 30,043 31,181 38,487
Cost of production services (1) ... ........................ 7.624 8,479 10,668 :

Total costofrevenue .................... e 91,505 80,218 76,042 '

GroSS MATZIN . ... oottt e e e e e 197,536 247,749 315,500

Operating expenses: . {I
Selling, general and administrative (1) . ............ ... ... .. 106,456 1‘35, 155 154,165 l
Research and development (1) ..............cooiiiiiia.n, 23,479 30,532 35,377 ‘.

‘ In-process research and development .. .................... 1,738 — ) — [

Gainon settlements . .......... ... ... . . iiiiiiaa (2,000} (2,000) (3,625) 5

‘ Total operating expenses ... ... F 129,673 163,687 185917 I
Operating INCOMMIC . . ..ottt it ettt e et ena e aasenns 67,863 84,062 129,583

- INIEESLINCOMIE .\t ittt ettt ettt anaaees 1,436 6,961 18,729 !

TNSEIESE BXPEISE . .t vttt e e e et ettt ta i e e (2,348) (1,852) (1,770) ,

Other income, net . ............... e s 1,141 2,047 95 E

Income before provision for income taxes and controlling interest . . .. 68,092 01,218 146,637 ‘

Provision for income taxes ..................oiiiiiiiaon.. 27,321 37,330 55,833 f

Income before controlling interest ............. ... ... ... ... 40,771 53,888 90,804 !

Controlling interest in net income, netof tax ....... s e - (929) (1,595) (1,255)

Net income ............. e - $39842  $52293  §$ 89,549 ;

Basic net income pershare .................. e [OUT 5 o047 $ 054 $ 085

Diluted net income pershare ..................... e $ 043 $ 050 $ 0380

Weighted-average shares outstanding (basic) ................... 85,556 96,969 105,688

Weighted-average shares outstanding (diluted) . ................. 02,783 104,220 111,658

Expense for royalties payable to related party ............0...... $ 36,857 $ 18,710 $ — _
Expense for rent payable to related party . ...................... 3,492 3,492 1,788 1
(1) Stock-based compensation included above was as follows: . I
Cost Of Product Sales . . . . .. oo oot C$ 104 8 222§ 800 1
Cost of production services .............. ... ... 36 103 513 |
Selling, general and administrative ............... e 5843 11,709 15,087 .
Resegrch and development, . . ....... ..., ) 810 2,150 2,738 '
Total stock-based compensation .. .. .... - PR § 6,793 $ 14,184 $ 19,138 I

: ; = :

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements , ;
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DOLBY LABORATORIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS _
(in thousands) '
' Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, = September 29,
. 2004 2005 2006 '
Operating activities: .. .
Netincome .......................... e, $ 39,842 $ 52,293 $ 89,549
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating -
aclivities: . . : C .
Depreciation and amomzation .............................. 8,517 11,348 12,862 :
Stock-based compensation expense ... 6,793 14,184 19,138 |
Excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock options ............ — — (13,845) :
Tax benefit from the exercise of stock options.................. — 6,756 —
Provision for doubtful accounts ............................. 402 95 " 614 !
In-process research and development .. ....................... 1,738 — — ‘
Payment on litigation settlement .................. ... ... ..., (3.000) (3,000) (3,000) |
Deferred income 1axes . ......c.viiunniiiannniiaannaaan.an (10,126 (107) (18,694) '
Other non-cash items affecting netincome .................... 852 659 1.832 |
Changes in operating asscts and llablhlles T ' ' '
. . : " mlunﬁbmwrm :"‘ "!“" (205) (5 S
Pl . (5, 921) i *'*“'(5"132) Y7 71,289
Inventories ..................... e e (2,434) 4,611) (1,700)
Prepaid expenses and other current ASSELS ..ot (1,514) (637) (794)
_ Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .................. 20,428 12,610 14,620
Accounts payable and accrued royalties due to related
PATIES ... e o (7.296) - (274) — |
INCOME TAXES, MEL ... ...\ttt ie v e aaiiieeneeaanns 2,177 (5,608) 25,129 .
Deferred revenues .. ... oo ittt ce i (233) 130 5,703
Other non-current Habilities ............................ 987 320 (196)
Net cash provided by opcraling aclivities . ............... e 46,858 80,422 132,502
Investing activities: . ‘ : -
Purchases. of property, plant and equipment , .. ..........0iiieunnn.. (12,522) (14,734) (8,039)
Purchases of available-for-sale securities .......... O — .o— . (221,065)
Sales of available-for-sale securities ............ e - —_— 115,700
Acquisitions, net of cashacquired ...........0... ... ... .. ..... ... (18,440) (4,589) —_— '
Purchase of intangible assets” . . ... e — (11,789 —
Other . . e 52 35 (1.044) :
Net cash used in investing activities .......................... (30,910 (31,077) . (114,448)
Financing activities: ) T
Paymentsondebt ............ ... ... ... ... ... i : (1,239) (1,292) (1,360)
Issuance of Class A common stock, net of i issuance costs of $20.8 , o - .
milion . ... . e e — 242,490 . —
Issuance of Class A common stock from ESPP purchase ............. — —_ 2,207
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options ....................... 1,363 3,588 5,510
Excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock options _................ — . . — 13,845
Repurchases of Class B commonstock .............. ... 0y, (144) (72} —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities .............. (20) 244,714 20,202
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . .. 861 -, (36D 1,828
Net intcrease in cash and cash equivalents ......... . [ _ 16,789 293,692 40,084
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ..................... 61,922 78,711 372,403
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ............. P e $ 78,711 $372,403 $ 412,487
Supplemental disclosure: . T . ) ‘ . )
Cash paid forincometaxes ..............ooiv i i $ 40,410 $ 36630 . § 51,022
Cash paid forinterest ..................... ... ... e 2,339 2,071 1,838 .
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements v
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" presented in the ¢

DOLBY LABORATORIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Dolby Laboratories develops and delivers innovative products and technologies that make the entertainment
experience more realistic and immersive. Since Ray Dolby founded Dolby Laboratories in 1965, we have been at
the forefront of delivering sound technologies that assist the entertainment creation process and énlianceithe ., o
entertainment experience. Today, Dolby technologies are standard in a wide range of entertainment platforms.

For example, Dolby products are widely used in movie theatres around the world and our technologies are. used
in virtually all DVD players and DVD playback software for personal computers. 1n addition, Dolby Digital is
mandated in all North American digital televisions and digital set-top boxes that include Advanced Television
Systems Committee (ATSC) television tuners and is widely included in high-definition set-top boxes used for
European high-definition television broadcasts.

1

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in dccordance with genera]ly
accepled accounting principles in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Dolby Laboratories, our wholly-owned subsidiaries and subsidiaries in which
we own a controlling interest. In addition, we have consolidated the financial results of affiliated companies we
own jointly with our principal stockholder. The interest of our related parues in these consolidated affiliates is
ontrolling interest ling in the accompanying financial statements All intercompany | accoums
" and transactions have been el:mmated in consolidation.
~ Use of Estimates e Jh_ﬂ.s'w h% "

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in our
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include: valuation allowances for receivables, carrying values of inventories, intangible assets and
goodwill, deferred income tax assets, accrued expenscs and vatuation of stock-based awards. Actual results

could differ from those estimates.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal yéar is a 52- or 53-week period ending on the last Friday in September. The fiscal years presented
herein include the 52-week period ended September 24, 2004 (fiscal 2004), the 53-week period ended on . :
September 30, 2005 (fiscal 2005) and the 52-week period ended September 29, 2006 (fiscal 2006). :

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk principally consist of cash, cash
equivalents, investments and accounts receivable. We deposit our cash, cash equivalents and investments in
accounts with major financial institutions and, at times, such investments may be in excess of federal insured
limits. Our products are sold to businesses primarily in the Americas and Europe, and our licensing revenue is
primarily generated from customers outside of the United States. We manage this risk by evaluating in advance
the financial condition and creditworthiness of our product and production services customers and peiform '
regular evaluations of the creditworthiness of our licensing customers. In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 no -
customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue. :
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Cash Equivalents and Investiments

We have investments in money market funds, United States government agency securities and mumclpal
debt securities. We account for these instruments under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Tnvestments that have
original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase are classified as cash eguivalents; investments
that have original maturities between 91 days and one year from the date of purchase are classified as short-term
investments; and investments that have maturities of more than one year from the date of purchase are classified
as long-term investments. Auction rate certificates which have original maturities greater than one year are
classified as short-term investments based on our ability and intent to sell these instruments within one year from
the date of purchase. All of our investments are classified as available- for-sale and are recorded at fair market
value on the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains or losses from these investments are reported as a

component of other comprehensive income and realized gains or losses are reported as a component of other
mcome net.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We continually monitor customer payments and maimain a reserve for eqtlmated losses resultmg from our
customers’ inability to make required payments. In dctenmmng the reserve, we evaluate the collectibility of our
accounss recelvable based upon a variety of factors. In cases where we are aware of circumstances that may
impair a specific customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations, we record a specific allowance against
amounts due, and thereby reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably believed to be
collectible. For all other customers, we recognize allowances for doubtful accounts based on our actual historical
write-off experience in conjunction with the length of time the receivables are past due, customer
creditworthiness, geographic risk and the current business environment. Actual future losses from uncollectible
accounts may differ from our estimates. Qur allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $2.0 million at
September 30, 2005 and $1.7 million at September 29, 2006. Bad debt expense was $0.4 m1ll|on $0.1 million
and $0.6 million in fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 respectively.

Inventories - ‘ -

" Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market (net realizable value). We evaluate
our ending inventories for estimated excess quantities and obsolescence. Our evaluation includes the analysis of
future sales demand by product, within specific time horizons. Inventories in excess of projected future demand
are written.down to net realizable value. In addition, we assess the impact of changing technology on our
inventory balances and 'write-off inventoriés that are con51dered aobsolete.

Praperty, Plant and Equipment - o

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed

-using a straight-line method based on estimated useful lives as follows:

.

Systems and software ... ................. e 3 to 5 years

Machinery and equipment .................... 4 to 15 years

Furniture and fixtures . ....................... 5 to 8 years

Buildings ........... ... . o il 20 years :
Leasehold improvements . . . .. FERTE P .. Lesser of useful life or related lcase term
Interndl Use Software - : ' ' "

r

We account for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for mtemal use in accordance with the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 98 1, Accounting for the Costs of
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- resultin 1mpmrmcntcharges in future periods.. - - -

Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. We capitalize costs of materials, consultants, and

payrolt and payroll-related costs incurred in developing internal use computer software. These costs are included
in property, plant and equipment, net on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Costs incurred during
the preliminary project and post-implementation stages are charged to expense. Cur capitalized internal use
software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of three to five years.

-

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). As required by SFAS 142, we perform an impairment test on
recorded goodwill by comparing the estimated fair value of each of,our reporting units to the carrying value of
the assets and liabilities of each unit, including goodwill. The fair value of each of our reporting units is
determined by using a discounted cash-flow model which considers a number of factors, including estimated
future cash-flows, risks facing us and our current market capitalization. If the carrying value of the assets and
liabilities of the reporting units, including goodwill, were to exceed our estimate of the fair value of the reporting
units, we would record an impairment charge in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying value of goodwill
over the implied fair value of the goodwill. Our fiscal 2006 impairment test of goodwill, which was performed in

the third fiscal quarter, resulted in no impairment charge. Fluctuations in our fair value, which may result from
changes in economic conditions, our results of operations and other factors, relative to the ca:rymg value, could

The following table outlines changes to the ;:arrying amount of g'odeill for each of our reporting segfnents:

Product
Technology Sales and
Licensing Services Total

(in thousands)

Balance at September 24, 2004 . ... ... .. e $10,654 $11,376 $22,030
Goodwill acquired ~Lake .. ......oiiiiiitiiiiiiiii e 971 198 1,169
Translation adjustments . .. . .....vv vt e 533 133 666

Balance at September 30,2005 .. ... .. o i 12,158 11,707 23,865
Translation adjustments . ... ... ... i i i (553) (124) 677

Balance at September 29,2006 ... ... .. - $11,605- $11,583 $23,188

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets, (SFAS 144) requires that long-lived assets, including intangible assets, with definite lives be
amortized over their estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate an asset’s carrying value may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is measured
by comparison of its carrying amount to the expected future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to
generate. If it is determined that an asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded in the amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Our intangible assets principally consist of acquired
technology, patents and trademarks and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives ranging from
five to 15 years, No intangible or long-lived assets were impaired as of September 29, 2006.

Dertvative Financial Instruments

We entered into interest rate swap arrangements to manage our exposure to interest rate changes on our
facility debt obligations. The swap agreements involve the exchange of fixed and variable interest rate payments
without exchanging the notional principal amount. The arrangements are presented at fair value in other
non-current liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses associated with the
swap agreements are included in other income, net in.our consolidated statements of operations.
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Revenue Recognition

We enter into transactions to sell products and services and to license technology, trademarks and know-
how. We evaluate revenue rccognition for transactions to sell products and services and to license technology,
trademarks and know-how using the criteria set forth by the SEC in Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, Revenue
Recognition (SAB 104). fFor revenué transactions that involve software or software- related products, such as
certain fees we earn from integrated software vendors (15Vs} and certain other licensees, we recognize revenue
under the gu:dance established by Statement of Position No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (SOP 97-2).
Both SAB 104 and SOP 97-2 state that revenue is recognized when each of the following criteria is met:
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the seller’s
price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Licensing. Our licensing revenue is primarily derived from royalties paid to us by licensees of our
intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks and know-how. Royalties are recognized when all
revenue recognition criteria have been met. We determine that there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement
upon the execution of a license agreement or upon the receipt of a licensee’s royalty report and payment.
Royalties are deemed fixed or determinable upon verification of a licensee’s' royalty report in accordance with
the terms of the underlying executed agreement or receipt of a licensee’s royalty report and payment, We
determine that collectibility is reasonably assured based on evaluation of the licensee’s recent payment history or
the existence of a standby letter-of-credit between the licensee’s financial institution and our financial institution,
Deferred revenue represents amounts that are ultimately expected to be recognized as revenue, but for which not
all revenue recognition criteria have been met. We make judgments as to whether collectibility can be reasonably |
assured based on the licensee’s recent payment history or the existence of a standby letter-of-credit between the '
licensee’s finanicial institution and our financial institution. In the absence of a favorable collection history or a :
letter-of-credit, we recognize revenue upon receipt of cash, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria
have been met. Also included in licensing revenue are fees we earn for administering the licensing of “patent ,
pools” containing patents owned by us and/or other companies and are recorded net of royalties payable to third- '
party patent pool members and are recognized when all revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We generate the majority of our licensing revenue through our licensing contracts with original equipment
manufacturers (system licensees) and independent software vendors. Our revenue recognition policies for each of
these arrangements are summarized below. _ . .

Licensing to system licensees. 'We license our technologies to system licensees who manufacture consumer
electronic devices and, in return, the system licensee pays us a royalty for each unit shipped that incorporates our
technologies. Royalties from system licensees are generally recognized upon receipt of a royalty report from the
licensee and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met,

Licensing to independent software vendors.  We license our technologies for resale to independent
software vendors and, in return, the software vendor pays us a royalty for each unit of software distributed that
incorporates our technologies. Royalties from independent software vendors are generally recognized upon
recelpt of a royalty report from the licensee and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. In addition,
in some cases we receive initial license fees for our software and provide post-contract upgrades and support. In
these cases, we recognize the initial fees ratably over the length of the contract, as vendor-specific objective’
evidence typically does not exist for the upgrade and support elements of the contract.

Product sales. Revenue from the sale of products is recognized when the risk of ownership has transferred
to our customer-as provided under the terms of the governing purchase agreement, typically the invoice we

deliver to the customer, and all the other revenue recognition criteria have been met. These purchase agreements’
provide that the risk of ownership is transferred to the customer when the product is shipped, except in specific
instances in which certain foreign regulations stipulate that the risk of ownership is transferred to the customer

upon their receipt of the shipment. In these instances, we recognize revenue when the product is received by the

customer.
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Production services. Production services revenue is recognized as the services related to a given project
are completed and all the other revenue recognition criteria have been met,

Multiple-Etement Arrangements.  We enter into arrangements that include multiple elements such as
hardware, software, maintenance and other services. Revenue from these arrangements is allocated based on the
fair value of each element. The allocated revenue for each element is recognized when all revenue recognition
criteria for that element has been met. If we cannot objectively determine the fair value of any undelivered
element included in a multiple-element arrangement, we defer revenue until all elements are delivered and/or
services have been performed, or until we can objectively determine the fair Value of all remammg undelivered
elements.

Cost of Revenue ' ’ ‘

Cost of licensing.  Cost of llcensmg consists pnncnpally of royalty obligations to third parties for the
licensing of intellectual property rights that we sublicense as part of our licensing arrangements with our
customers. Cost of licensing also includes amortization expenses associated with purchased intangibles. Prior to
February 16, 2005, our cost of licensing also included royalty obligations to Ray Dolby. On February 16, 2003,
Ray Dolby contributed to us all rights in the intellectual property related to our business that he and his affiliates
held. In connection with the asset contribution, our prev1ouq licensing arrangemems wnh Ray Dolby tennmated
and we: havc mofurther; obhgauon to pay'royalucb 10 Ray Dolby B ’

Cost of product sales.  Cost of product sales primarily consists of material costs related to the products
sold, applied labor and manufacturing overhead. Prior to February 16, 2005, our cost of product sales also
included royalty obligations for technologies we licensed from Ray Dolby. These royalty obligations terminated
in connection with Ray Dolby’s asset contribution discussed above.

Cost of prbduction services. Cost of production services consists primarily of the payroll and benefit costs
of employees performing our professional services, the cost of outside consultants and reimbursable expenses
incurred on behalf of the customer.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are charged to selling, general and administrative expense at the time the
related event takes place and were $4.7 million, $12.2 million and $9.0 million for fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. At September 29, 2006, we had $0.3 million of prepaid advertising and promotional costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

On October 1, 2005, we adopted the provisions of Statermnent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R),
Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R) using the modified prospective application transition method. SFAS 123R
requires measurement of all employee stock-based compensation awards using a fair-value method and recording
of such expense in the consolidated financial statements over the requisite service period. Previously, we had
applied the provisions of Accounting Principles Board QOpinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees (APB 25) and related interpretations and elected to utilize the disclosure option of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123). In fiscal 2006,
we recorded stock-based compensation expense of $19.1 million under the fair-value provisions of SFAS 123R,
compared to $14.2 million in fiscal 2005 and $6.8 million in fiscal 2004 under the provisions of APB 25 and
related interpretations. In addition, the deferred compensation balance of $26.4 million related to stock-based
awards accounted for under APB 25 as of September 30, 2005 was eliminated and ther¢ was a corresponding
reduction in additional paid-in capital. See Note 3 “Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation™ for
further discussion. :
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Gain on Settlements -

v

Gain on settlements includes penalties related to the resolution of disputes with implementation licensees

from which we typically do not earn royalties. Amounts attributable to the resolution of royalty disputes from
llcensees that specificaily represent unpaid royalties are recorded as licensing revenue in the period payment is
recelved if all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. In fiscal 2006, we received payments totaling
$3.6 million in connection with the settlement of disputes with one of our semiconductor manufacturing
implementation licensees regarding violation of the terms of their implementation licensing agreements with us

In both fiscal 2004 and 2005, we received payments of $2.0 million in connection with similar disputes with
some of our semiconductor manufacturing implementation licensees

+ .

Fereign Currency Translation

We maintain sales, marketing and business operations in foreign countries, most significantly in the United
Kingdom. The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated in accordance with Statements of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. The translation of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency inte United States dollars are made at the prevailing rate of exchange at the -
balance sheet date. Revenue, costs and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates during the period.
Translation adjustrnents are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income on our consolldaled balance
sheets.

Assets and liability accounts of our subsidiaries, which are held in currencies other than the subsidiary’s
functional currency, are remeasured at the prevailing rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Any gains and
losses are included in our consolidated statements of operations. In fiscal 2004 and 2005, net transaction gains

included in net income were $0.3 million and $1.2 million, respectlvely In fiscal 2006, net transaction losses -
included in net income were $0.5 million.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounung Standards No. 109,
Accoummg Jfor Income Taxes (SFAS 109). SFAS 109 requires the use of the asset and liability method, under
which deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determmed based upon the difference between the financial
statemeni carrymg amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rate
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the differences are expected to be reversed In |
assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.

We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax Tiabilities and pl‘OjeCth future taxable income in making this

assessment. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when uncertainty regardmg their
realizability: exlsts See Note 5 “Income Taxes” for further dlscussmn

1

Per Share Data

Basic net income per share is computed by d1v1d1ng net income by the weighted average number of shares
of Class A common stock and Class B common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per
share is computed by dividing net mcome by the sum of the weighted average number of shares of Class A
common stock and Class'B common stock outstandmg and the potential number of shares of dilutive Class A
common stock and Class B common stock equwalents outstanding during the period. The dilutive shares are
compnsed entlrely of optlons to purchase shares of Class A common stock a.nd Class B common stock.

-y »
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 29,
. 2004 2005 2006

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Werator., .
NEETRCOME ™ .\ ey ST TR E s oty e $39,842- $ 52,293 $ 89,549

Denominator: )
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock and Class B
common stock outstanding (basic) ........... ... ... ... 85,556 96,969 105,688
Common stock equivalents from options to purchase Class A :
common stock and Class B commonstock ............... 7,227 1,251 5,970
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock and Class B o ‘ .
commen stock outstanding (diluted) ........... ... ... .. 92,783 104,220 111,658
Earnings Per Share: - co o
Basic eanings pershare ........ ..o oo e 3 047 $ 054 5 085
Diluted earnings pershare ............ooiiiiiiiiii $ 043 $§ 050 $ 080

No options wére excluded from the above calculations of weighted average shares outstanding in fiscal 2004
because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. A total of 1,338,250 and 1,683,628 options were excluded
from the calculation for fiscal 2005 and 2006, respectively, because their inclusion would have been anti-ditutive.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires that the
funded status of defined benefit postretirement plans be recognized on the company’s balance sheet, and changes
in the funded status be reflected in comprehensive income, effective fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006.
SFAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plan’s funded status to be the same as the company’s fiscal
year-end. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 158 to have a material effect on our financial position or
results of operations. '

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (SFAS 157). The purpose of SFAS 157 is to define fair value, establish a framework for
measuring fair value and enhance disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure
requirements are effective for periods beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect
that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on our financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how to evaluate the materiality of uncorrected
misstatement in the current year financial statements using both an income statement approach (the rollover
approach) and a balance sheet approach (the iron curtain approach). The rollover approach quantifies a
misstatement based on the amount of the error originating in the current year income statement while the iron
curtain approach quannﬁes a misstatement based on the effects of correcting the cumulative misstatement
existing in the balance sheet at the end of the current year. SAB 108 is effective for periods beginning after
November 13, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of SAB 108 to have a material effect on our financial
position or results of operations.
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In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accoi.mling Standards No. 109, Accounting for

Income Taxes. This Interpretation defines the minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet
before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on our financial
position and results of operations. ’ ' '

In June 2006, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force Issue (06-3, How Sales Taxes Collected From
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (EITF 06-3).
EITF 06-3 requires a company te disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation) regarding the

presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
‘ amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for

periods beginning after December 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 06-3 to have a material
' effect on our financial position or results of operations. ‘

: Lo e ke -
TR l2.iCompositionIofIGertainlFinang:lal[StaLemenﬂ@SEﬁons
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments S
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments as of September 29, 2006 consisted of the following:

September 29,
2006
Cash and cash equivalents: ' S : o
Cash .. . e e $108,653
Cash equivalents:
Moneymarketfunds . ..... .. ... ... .. ... .. . il 224,331
U.S. government agency securities ............. ... .......... 30,553
Municipal debt securities .......... i 48,950
Total cash and cashequivalents . .. ................... e 412,487
Invéstments:
U.S. government agency SeCUTities .........c.cvvvvvvionn.ins 17,011
Municipal debt securities . . .................... e 25,466
Auction rate certificates .. ................ e Cel - 62,850
Equity investment ............. ... . . i ' © 794
Total invesStments . ... ....... oot ittt iaanrrnenns 106,121
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments .............. A, $518,608

Cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2005 consisted of cash, money market securities and highly
liquid investment instruments. We did not hold any U.S. government agency securities, municipal debt securities,
auction rate certificates, or equity investments as of September 30, 2005.




By

Our investment portfolio which is recorded as cash equivalents, short-term investments, and long-term

investments as of September 29, 2006 is as follows: . . . !
' Maturity
90 Days or Less 91 Days to One Year Greater than One Year
Fair Net Unrealized  Fair  Net Unrealized  Fair = Net Unrealized

Gyt o Yalue Gain Value Gain Value Gain -
T T . (in thousands} ‘

Money market funds . ................ $224,331 $—- 5 - $— 5 — $—

U.S. government agency securities .. .. .. 30,553 6 — = 17,011 16

Municipal debt securities ............. 48,950 — 10,362 . o 15,104 - 24

Auction rate certificates ......... SR — —_ 62,850 —. - =

Equity investment . .................. — — — C— “794 —

Cash equivalelits and . _ _
investments ................. $303,834 6 $73,212 5 6 $32,909 $ 40

Al of our investments are classified as available-for-sale and, except for the equity investment, are recorded

at fair market value on the consolidated balance sheet. The equity investment represents equity securities that we
have accounted for under the cost method and classified as long-term investments based on our ability and intent
" tu hold the investment for more than one year. - : g

)

Restricted Cash

In accordance with certain of our licensing agreements, restricted cash includes deposits from new
customers that remain in escrow until we have rightful ownership of the funds which occurs upon delivery of

certain materials,

Accounts Receivable . ) B - .
Accounts receivable consists of the following:

September 30, September 29,
' 05 2006

(in thousands)
Trade accounts receivable, licensing .. .......... ... . . oL $ 4,046 $13,648
Trade accounts receivable, products and services ....... e 9,349 8,949
Amounts receivable related to patent administration program ........ , 12,994 2,037
Other accounts receivable ... ... ... . i, e ‘ 862 640
27,251 25,274
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts . ......................... (2,030) (1,724)
Accounts receivable, net . ... ... ... .. .. ... o $25,221 $23,550

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist of the following:

September 30, September 29,
2005 2006

{in thousands)

Raw Malerials | . o i e et $ 2,376 $ 4339
WOrk inProcess ... .uuvunn it iir i ie e 1,571 1,437
Finished goods . ... ..o i e 7.775 5,328

INVERIOTIES . ..ottt t i ittt it ae e 11,722 511,104




Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and consist of the following:

Sepiember 30,  September 29, '
2005 2006 '

(in thousands)

Land ... e $ 14,484 $ 14,792
"Buildings . ... 30,911 31,688 '
Leasehold improvements ...... ... ... . .. i, 38,335 40,738 :
Machinery and equipment . ............. L. 23,316 26,117 ‘
Systems and SOfIWAre ... ... . .o.eovrri i e 15,118 16,099 '
‘Furniture and fixtures .. ........ e e e 14,051 14,572 .
Equipment under operating lease . .......... ... ... o il — 2,593 '
136,215 146,599 !
Less: Accumulated depreciation . ........ ... ... i, (59,753) (69,604) .
Property, plant and equipment, net .................... ... .. 576,462 $ 76,995 !

Depreciation expense of $7.8 million, $9.6 million and $10.6 million in fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively, is included in cost of product sales, research and development expense, and selling, general and
administrative expensc in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. '

Goodwill and Intangible Assets ' S
Following is a summary of goodwill and intangible assets: '

September 30,  September 29,
2005 2006 |

.(in thousands)

. ' 1
Amortized intangible assets:

Acquired patents . . ............. REEEERVRERERREE PRSI . 54489 | % 4435 .
Acquired technology .............. g e 3,796 3,745 :‘
Other intangibles .................................. e 11,507 11,428 )

. . . 19,792- 19,608 ;

Less: Accumulated amortization . .. ......cv vt nnnrrnnrecrnns (2,608) T {4,654) !
Intangible assets, met . ......... . oo ao.. e - $17,184 - 514,954 :
Non-amortized intangible assets: ;
Goodwill ................ e e . $23,865 $23,188 !

In December 2004, we amended a royalty agreement with a third party that was originally entered into in
September 1999, The original agreement provided us an exclusive irrevocable right to license the third party’s
technology to our customers in exchange for royalty payments based on a percentage of the royalties earned from
our customers. In consideration of a lump sum payment of $11.0 million, the amended agreement eliminates ali
of our future royalty payment obligaiions while allowing us to continue our exclusive licensing of the third
party’s technologies for the life of the underlying intellectual property. The $11.0 million was recorded as an
intangible asset on our consolidated balance sheet and is being amortized over a 10-year period representing the
‘estimated useful life of the underlying intellectual property, with the amortization recorded as cost of licensing. |

Amortization expense associated with our intangible assets was $0.8 million, $1.7-million and $2.} million . .
in fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and is included in cost of licensing, cost of product sales and selling,
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Amortization of
intangible assets is expected to be approximately $2.0 million per year for the next five fiscal years. ‘-

79 - ’ i




Other Non-Current Assets

Other non-current assets consist primarily of supplemental retirement plan assets and long-term prepaid
expenses. See Note 6 “Retirement Plans” for further discussion on our supplemental retirement plan.

Othier Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

September 30,  September 29,
2005 2006

T e Tt T ’ (in thousands)
Amounts payable to patent pool partners .. .............c. iinin.nn $23,303 $26,749
Accrued professional fees .. ...........ciiiiiiiiiiie i, 2,495 3629
Current portion of litigation settlement .......................... 2,417 2,502
Other accrued liabilities .. ........ ..., 7,236 7,580
Total other accrued liabilities ...............,.. ... .ot - 835,451 $40,460
Debt ) o a

,

We maintain three term loans through our consolidated affiliates Dolby Properties, LLC, Dolby Properties
Burbank, LLC and Dolby Properties United Kingdom, LL.C, for financing commercial and real property at
various locations in which we are the primary tenant. The loans are collateralized by commercial real property
and are guaranteed by Dolby Laboratories, Inc. ’

Following is a summary of our debt balances:

September 30, September 29,
2006

2005 |
. (in t_housands)
$12.0 million term loan at 6.2% effective interest rate, repayable in -
monthly installments with remaining principal due May 2013 ... ... $ 7,738 $ 6,958
$2.5 million term loan at 6.2% effective interest rate, repayable in )
monthly installments with remaining principal due April 2014 ... .. 1,752 1,600
Term loan denominated in U.K. pounds at 6.9% effective interest rate, :
repayable in quarterly installments with the remaining principal due
April 20015 e 3,980 3,776
Totaldebt . ... ... 13470 12,334
Less: Current portionofdebt . ... .. ... ... .. ... .. ... . ... } (1,346) (1,441)
Long-termdebt . .. .......eii e $12,124 $10,893

The fair value of our debt approximates the carrying value based on borrowing rates currently available to
us for loans with similar terms and remaining maturities. ‘

We entered into interest rate swap arrangements to manage our exposure to unfavorable interest rate
changes on our facility debt obligations. The swap agreements involve the exchange of fixed and variable interest
rate payments without exchanging the notional principal amount. We have not entered into any derivative '
instruments for any purpose other than to hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Gains, net of
controlling interest associated with the' swap agreements of $0.2 million for fiscal 2004, $0.2 million for fiscal
2005 and $0.1 million for fiscal 2006 are included in our consolidated statements of operations.

1
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Stock Appreciation Rights,  We havé granted stock appreciation rights to certain of our foreign employees.
These awards are settled in cash rather than stock, and are classified as liability. awards under SFAS [23R. .g
Compensatron expense related to stock appreelatlon nghts was,$0.2 million in-fiscal 2004, 2005, and 2006.,

SRERY LENE (et < TedIe Lt eegdtRpy o -"l
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  InJanuary 2005, our board of directors adopted and our stockholders
approved.our Employee Stock Purchase Plan; or ESPP. which allows eligible employees to have up to.10,percent
of their eligible compensation withheld:and used to-purchase shares of ‘our-Class-A common stock: The ESPEi o
became,effective on Eebruary 16;,2005,.and.the first purchase took place on'November. 15, 2005. For the first 199
offering period, the plan provided for the purchase of shares at:95 percent of the lower of the closing price on the.
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New York Stock Exchange on the first or last day of the offering period. For subsequent offering periods, the
purchase price is equal to 95 percent of the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the last day of the
purchase period. With the exception of the first offering period, offering periods generally start on the first day
on or after May 15th and November 15th of each year. A total of 1,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock
are available for sale under the ESPP plan. During fiscal 2006, we issued 134,098 shares of Class A Common

Stock under the ESPP, No shares were issued under the ESPP in fiscal 2005. For the purchase period ending
November 2005, we recorded $0.1 million in stock-based compensation for our ESPP as our plan was *

compensatory under SFAS 123R. After the purchase period ending November 2005, the terms of our ESPP were

considered non-compensatory under SFAS 123R and, therefore, no stock-based compensation expense associated
with our ESPP was subsequently recognized.

4. Business Combinations
Lake Technology Limited

In February 2004, we acquired a controlling interest in Lake Technology Limited (Lake). As of
September 24, 2004, we held 93% of the outstanding equity of Lake at a total cost of $17.0 million. We initiated
action under Australian law to allow thé compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares outstanding. In
December 2004, the Australian court ruled in our favor permitting us to move forward to acquire the remaining
7% of Lake's outstanding shares at the same price we paid for the previously purchased shares, We have
accounted for the business combination as a step-acquisition. Due to our majority ownership, the financial results
of Lake are included in our consolidated financial statements since February 2004 using a three-month lag basis
(excluding those that are eliminated in consolidation) in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In fiscal 2006, we
eliminated the three-month lag treatment and consolidated Lake’s results of operations on 2 current basis

The total purchase, including other acquisition related costs, was $18.4 million and was allocated as follows:

) (in thousands}
Goodwill ........ A $14,488
- In-process research and development . ........ ... ... . ..o oL 1,738
Patenls ... e e 1,020
Developedtechnology ... ... ... . ittt 082
Other intangible as$ets . .. ... v vt i et i e et e " 170
“Acquired @SSELS) MET . ..ot e 3
Total purchase PriCe .. ... v euror et e et $18,401

Amounts allocated to in-process research and development were expensed and are reflected in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations because the purchased research and development had no

alternative uses and had not reached technological feasibility, In February 2004, the technology under
development was approximately 27%:complete.

The pro fprma effect of this acqu1smon on fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 was not significant.
5. Income Ta!lm ) ‘ :

L) .
The components of our income before provision for income taxes and controlling interest are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended -
September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 2005 2006
‘ ) . ’ (in thousands)
United States . ........... ..ot $66,572 . $92,121 . $138,348
FOTBIZN .o oottt 1,520 1 (903) 8,289
Total:

feeeans SRR R R R R R R $68,092 ~ $91,218 $146,637
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The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 | 2005 2006
* (in thousands)
Current: ' '
Federal ....... ......coous. e $ 17,811 $26,071 $ 56,114
AL e e 3,849, - 3,454 v 6,450
FOrRIEN .. .ot 15,787 7912 - 11,963
TOAl CUTTENL .« o o oo v e e e e et eee e 37447 ¢ 37937 - 74,527 0 L et
Deferred: ’
Federal . ... ... ... (8,476) 748 (15,357)
SLAlE oottt e s (1,650} 11 (1,07
Foreign .. ......cooviiiiiineananan.. . — (866) (2,260)
.Total deferred ................. S .. $(10,126)‘ $ 107 $(18,694)°
Provision for income taxes . ................ $ 27321 $37,330. . $ 55,833

United States income taxes and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided for on a cumulative total
of $0.4 million of undistributed earnings for certain non-United States subsidiaries. We intend to reinvest these -
earnings indefinitely in operations outside the United States.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounl§ of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted
tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A summary of the tax effects of
the temporary differences is as follows:

. September 30,  -September 29,
2005 2006
(in thousands)
Deferred incomie tax assets: .
INVESIMEIS . ot ittt et ettt i ie i $ 3594 - $ 735
Accounts receivable .. ... ... e 818 . 687
INVENIOTIES - .ttt ettt ettt et e 1,289 - 2,567
Foreign net operating loss ............ . eeiiiiii . 4774 2,939
Depreciation and amortization .. .......... ... . i, — 899
L0111~ g L3 - J 3,196 5,394
ACCTUEd BXPENSES . . . .ttt e 4,708 8,750 .
Other non-current liabilities ................. [P 10,420 12,657
Revenue recognition . .. .................. e 24,185 - 31483,
Total gross deferred income tax assets .................. 49,984 - 66,111 -
Less: Valuation allowance . .........ooeiiiiiienininnnnss (4,293) ° (2,084)
Total deferred income tax assets ....... e 45,691 64,027
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Translatiop adjustment . ........... ... . i, (2,237 (2,157
Depreciation and amortization ............ .. eeriian.. (2,399) —
Foreigntax credits ......... ... .. oo i : (3,072) - (6,196)
Unrealized gainoninvestments . ..............c.coiiiiian., (19) (6)
Deferred income tax assets, BBE .. v v vvr e e o i et iie e $37,964 $55,668

The above deferred income tax assets, net have been classified in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows:

Current deferred INCOME [AX ASSEIS . . ..ot ii it ennenns - $31,183 $44 568

Long-term deferred income tax assets, et ..............oe0ov.-n 6,781 11,100

Deferred income tax assets, NEL . ...t nr v oo e e e e et $37,964 $55,668 ‘
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Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over penods in
which the deferred tax assets are deductible, we believe it is'more likely than not that the benefits of these

deductible differences will be realized and, therefore, a valuation allowance is not required, except for a foreign
net operating loss (NOL) in Australia. At September 30, 2005, we had a valuation allowance of $4.3 mitlion-
associated,'with approximately $16.0 million of NOLs from our Australian entities. At September 29, 2006 we
had $8.1 million of remaining NOLs from our Australian entities that have no expiration date. During fiscal
2006, the consolidated Australian entities utilized approximately $2.9 million NOLSs atiributable to income
generated from the sale of intellectual property and services performed. In addition, we determined that $4.4
million of the NOL will not be available for use based on the Australian tax law.

* While the ultimate utilization of the Australian NOL is dependent upon future taxable income generated in
Australia, we believe that we should be able to realize this NOL in the future. A's a result of this expectation, in
fiscal 2006 we released $0.4 million of the valuation allowance based on our projected income for the next three
years. The remaining valuation allowance at September 29, 2006 was approximately $2.1 million. However, we
may reduce the amount of the deferred income tax assel in the near term if projections of future taxable income
are reduced. The valuation allowanice established at acquisition in fiscal 2004 was appr0x1malcly $1.7 million. If
lhlS amount were to be released in the future it will be recorded as a reduction to goodwill.

v

The NOL for our UK branch was approximately $1.7 million at September 29, 2006. This NOL can be
cartied forward indefinitely.

. (ot
A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to our effective tax rate for fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 is as

follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
i O September 24, September 30, ' September 29,
7 K . ‘ 5 ) 2004 2005 2006

Federal statutory rate ..:................ PR 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal effect .. ... .... A - 4.2 - 37 3.1
Stock-based compensation expense .............. L. 24 35 10
Loss/(income) from foreign corporations .. .......... 2.5 2.1 {1.0)
Taxcredits ..ot e (1.6} Q2.7 (1.2)
Other.._.,...............: .................... 24 L(E) 1_2

Effectivetaxrate .. ... ..o, 40.1% 40.9% 38.1%

We are under routine tax examinations. We believe the amounts provided are adequate to cover the ultimate
outcomes of these tax examinations.

6. Retirement Plans

We maintain a tax-qualified 401(k) retirement plan for employees in the United States called the “Dolby
Laboratories, Inc. Retirement Plan.” Eligible employees are able to defer up to 100% of their eligible
compensation subject to applicable Internal Revenue Code limits. The plan provides for a company matching

conmbuuon as well as a discretionary proﬁt sharing component. Our matching and profit sharing contributions
vest over a five year period based on years of service as defined in the plan.

Eligible employees in the United Kingdom may participate in the “Dolby Group Pension Plan.” Similar to
the 401(k) plan, this plan allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation and includes a
matching and profit sharing component. Prior to May 2, 2006, executives in the United Kingdom were able to
participate in the *Dolby Laboratories Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme” (FURBS). This plan
allowed eligible executives to defer a portion of their compensation and provided for a matching and profit
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sharing component. On May 2, 2006 the Board of Directors approved the cessation of contributions to the
FURBS on behalf of each of the three employee FURBS participants, and the initiation of corresponding
contributions to each of their respective personal pension accounts under the Dolby Group Personal Pension
Plan. Amounts already credited to participants under the FURBS remain subject to the terms and conditions of -
the FURBS and will continue to be credited with gains and losses based on the gains and losses of investment
funds selected by the FURBS trustees. We will continue to pay the costs of managing and administrating the

FURBS. Distributions from the FURBS will be made in the manner and at the time prescribed by the FURBS. -

Pension expenses for the United States plan were $3.6 million, $3.8 million and $5.1 million for fiscal 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively. Pension expenses for the United Kingdom plans were $0.5 million, $0.6 miition and
$0.7 million for fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Pension expenses are included in cost of product sales,
cost of production services, rescarch and development expense, and selling, general and administrative expense
on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

‘Additionally, we maintain a supplemental retirement plan for key executives. The plan is a defined
contribution plan with a target ‘benefit paid at age 65. Our contributions were based on the participant’s
compensanon angd ycars;of- servlcc'-'ExPenses -related. to;thejplan[ofﬁ '4um1hon|forlf sca]l2004,.werelmcludcd in,

selling, general and adiminisirative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. In fiscal
20035, we ceased all future contributions to the plan. Amounts due to participants are classified in other
non-current liabilities and investments to fund the liability are segregated and included in other assets on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

Rental expenses under operating leases were $5.0 million, $5.6 million and $4.2 million for fiscal 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively. These amounts include expenses for rent payable to our principal stockholder of
$3.5 million, $3.5 million and $1.8 million for fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. We have future
minimum rental commitments, including those payable to our principal stockholder, for non-cancelable operating
leases of office space as of September 29, 2006 as follows:

Total Operating
Lease Payments
. ) (in thousands)

Fiscal 2007 ...t e e e $ 3,360
Fiscal 2008 ... i it i 2,632
Fiscal 2009 .. . i et e 2,532
Fiscal 2000 ... oot i i e e 2,459
Fiscal 2000 .. it i e s 2,345
Thereafter ... oot i it e e 7,595
Total minimum lease payments ..........c.oovvuiiiranrvininissenns $20,923

Other Cash Obligations

In March 1997, an unrelated third party filed a lawsuit against us alleging breach of a written agreement. In
-April 2002, we settled the dispute and agreed to pay a total of $30.0 million in ten equal annual installments of
$3.0 million per year beginning in June 2002. As of September 29, 2006, we had $15.0 million remaining to be
paid under this settlement. Refer to Note 10 “Legal Proceedings” for further discussion.

Under the terms of the agreement to acquire all outstanding shares of our subsidiary, Cinea, we have future
payment obligations that equal approximately 5% to 8% of the revenue generated from products incorporating
certain technotogies we acquired in the transaction. As of September 29, 2006, no addmonal purchase
consideration had been earned.
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8. Segme.nt Information

Operanng Segments

"Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer (CEO). While the CEO evaluates results

in a number of different ways, the primary basis for which the allocation of resources and financial results are
assessed is by examining our business in two operating segments: the technology licensing segment and the
products and production services segment. The technology licensing segment licenses our technologies,
trademarks and know-how to manufacturers of consumer electronics products, software developers and
developers of professional products, and administers joint licensing programs. The products and production

-services segment provides professional products to movie theatres and to the recording, broadcast, cable and

video post-production industries. Additionally, this segment provndes services to broadcast, film producuon and
distribution companies.

Accounting policies for each of the operating segments are the same as those used on a consolidated baéis.
Our reportable segment information for fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006 is as follows:

Revenue
Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 2008 2006
- ' (in thousands)
Technology licensing ............o.oovieuneinaoa.. $211,395 $246298  $ 301,663
Products and production services .......... ... o 77,646 81,669 89,879
Total FeVENUE ...ttt $ 289,041 $ 327,967  $ 391,542
Gross Margin
Fiscal Year Ended

September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 . 2005 ‘ 2006

(in thousands)

Technology licensing . ........................ ..., $ 157,557  $205740  $ 274,776
Products and productlon SEFVICES ..ot e 39,979 42,009 40,724
Total gross Margin . ............eeiinnnneeann.. $197,536  $247,749  § 315,500

Reconciliation to Income before Provision for
Income Taxes and Conirolling Interest

Fiscal Year Ended
September 24, September 30, September 29,
2004 2005 2006
1 ) . . . (in thousands)

Total segment gross Margin . ............o.veuen.. ~.. 3197536 $247,749  $ 315,500
OPErating EXPENSES + . . v\ vvvesrernaeaneenns (129,673)  (163,687)  (185917)
Otherincome, net . ... ... ... ... it 229 7.156 - 17,054

Income before provision for income taxes and controlling - ..

IDMErESt . oo $ 68,092 8§ 91,218  § 146,637

. We do not track capital expendltures or assets by reportable segment. Consequently, it is not practical to
show this information.
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Geographic Data

Revenue by geographic region, as determined based on the location of our licensees for hcensmg revenue,
the location of our direct customers or distributors for product sales, arld the location where services were
performed for production services revenue, was as follows:

Revenue by Geographic Region

Fiscal Year Ended .
September 24,  September 30,  September 29,
2004 2005 2006
' (in thousands) )
United States .......oovvreenenn.. e o $ 74,144 $ 91,831 $103,386
International . ......ovviiiinii s P 214,897 236,136 288,156
Total TEVENUE ...\t ie et ieinnnnens $289,041 $327,967 $391,542

In fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006, no customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue.

The concentration of our revenue from individual countries or geographic regions was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 24,  September 30,  September 29,
2004

2005 2006
United States .. ....... ..o 26% 28% 26%
Japan .. ... 26% 23% 23%
China . ... e e 13% 10% 10%
Taiwan ..... e e e e 6% 9% 10%
Burope ... o 17% 21% 20%
Other ..ottt 12% 9% H%

Long-lived tangible assets by geographic region were as follows:

Long-Lived Tangible Assets by

Geographic Region
September 30, September 29,
2005 . 2006
(in thousands)
United StalES . . o ot ittt et e e e e $55,333 $55,236
International ........ e e 21,129 21,759
Total long-lived tangible assets ................. ... 0utt, $76,462 $76,995

Long-lived tangible assets, which consist of property, plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation,

held in the United Kingdom were $19.9 million and $21.0 million at September 30, 2005 and September 29,

2006, respectively.

9, Related Party Transactions

Prior to our initial public offering, we had licensing and royalty agreements with Ray Dolby and his
affiliates for the use of patents on which a portion of our operations is based. Under these agreements we

recorded expenses for royalty obligations to Ray Dolby of $36.9 million, $18.7 million and zero for fiscal 2004,

2005 and 2006, respectively. These amounts are included in cost of licensing and cost of product sales in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations, depending on the nature of the licensed technology. On
February 16, 2005, Ray Dolby contributed to us all rights in the intellectual property related to our business that
he and his affiliates held. In connection with the asset contribution, our previous licensing arrangements with Ray
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Dolby terminated, and we have no further obligation to pay royalties to Ray Dolby. Consequently, we did not
record any expenses for royalty obligations to Ray Dolby subsequent to February 16, 2005.

We lease our San Francisco corporate office space from-our principal stockholder. The prior lease expired
on December 31, 2005 and the current lease expires on December 31, 2013, but we have the option to renew the .
lease for two additional five-year terms. Rent under the prior lease was $3.5 million for fiscal 2004 and 2005, and
$0.9 million for the period from October. 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005. Rent under the current lease was $0.9
million for the period from January 1, 2006 to September 29, 2006.

We are the minority partner in entities which own and lease commercial property in the United States and
United Kingdom. Our principal stockholder is the controliing 'partner in each of these entities. These entities were '
established for the purposes of purchasing and leasing commercial property primarily for our own use. While a
portion of the property is leased to third parties, we occupy a majority of the space. The debt used to finance the
purchases of property by these entities is collateralized by the acquired property and guaranteed by Dolby
Laboratories. Therefore, given that these affiliated entities are an integrated part of our operations, we have
consolidated the entities’ assets and liabilities and results of operations in our consolidated financial statements.
The share of earnings and net assets of the entities attributable to the controlling partner is reflected as controlling——————
interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. During fiscal 2006, these entities distributed
approximately $0.2 million from these entities to our principal stockholder. The outstanding principal balance on
the debt of these entities was $12.3 million at September 29, 2006. The carrying amount of property that is
collateral for these entities’ debt was $29.3 million at September 29, 2006. We believe that the current market
value of the collateralized property is greater than the outstanding principal balances.

Our ownership interest in the consolidated affiliated entities is as follows:

.Ownership ;
interest as of
September 29,
Company Name 2006
Dolby Properties, LLC . . ... ... . e 37.5% . ;
Dolby Properties Brisbane, LLC ................ ... ... oo oL 49.0%
Dolby Properties Burbank, LLC .......... ... ... ... ... .. .. I 49.0%
Dolby Properties United Kingdom, LLC .. ............................ 49.0%
Dolby Properties, LP .. ... .. .. i 10.0%

10. Legal Proceedings

In May 2001, we filed a lawsuit against Lucent Technologies, Inc. and Lucent Technologies Guardian I,
LLC together “Lucent,” contending that Lucent was wrongly asserting that our licensees using Dolby AC-3
audio compression technology required licenses to the patents at issue and secking a declaration that the patents
at issue are not infringed and/or are invalid. Lucent filed a counterclaim alleging that we have infringed the
patents at issue. These patents generally involve a process and means for digitally encoding and decoding audio
signals. On April 22, 2005, the United District Court for the Northern District of California granted our motions
for summary judgment, finding that we have not infringed, induced others to infringe, or contributed to the
infringement of the patents at issve. In granting summary judgment of non-infringement, the court found that
Lucent had not presented evidence from which a reasonable fact-finder could find that Dotby AC-3 technology
infringes the patents at issue. In light of the Court’s finding of non-infringement, it dismissed our claims that the
Lucent patents are invalid. Lucent appealed the court’s April 22, 2005 ruling to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit, which affirmed the decision of the United Siates District Court granting ‘
summary judgment. Lucent chose not to file a petition for a panel rehearing en banc with the United States Court .
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. If it wishes to seek a writ of certiorari before the United States Supreme Court

it must do so before January &, 2007.
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In March 1997, an unrelated third party filed a lawsuit against us alleging breach of a written agreement. In
April 2002, we settled the dispute and agreed to pay a total of $30.0 million, without interest, in ten equal annual
installments of $3.0 million per year beginning in June 2002, We recorded this liability at its present value of
$24.2 million on the consolidated balance sheet using a discount rate of 5.125%, which approximates our
incremental cost of borrowing rate. Interest related to this liability is recorded quarterly and is included in interest
expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Other than such payments, neither party has
any material obligations as a result of the settlemem As of September 29, 2006 we had $15.0 mllhon remammg
to be paid under this settlement. ’ ST

In addition, we are involved in various legal procéedings from time to time arising from the normal course
of business activities, including claims of alleged infringement of intellectual property rights, commercial,
employment and other matters. In our opinion, resolution of these proceedings is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition. However, it is possible that an unfavorable
resolution of one or more such proceedings could materially affect our future operating results or financial
condition in a particular period.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

" ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our
management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Subject to the limitations noted above, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to meet the objective for which they were designed and operate
at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control! over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the Company as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements. :

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

- policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our.management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
September 29, 2006 using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in its Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment and those criteria,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 29, 2006.
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Our assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been
audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is
included herein on page 65.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting duriﬁg the fiscal quarter ended
September 29, 20006, that have materialty affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

I
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_ PART IIF
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item concerning our directors, compliance with Section1 6 of the Exchange
Act and our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal
accounting officer is incorporated by reference from the 1nforrnat10n set forth in the sections under the headings
“Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership chortmg Compliance” and “Electlon of
Directors—Corporate Governance Matters—Code of Conduct” in our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission-in connection with: the. Annual Mecting of Stockholders to be held in
2007 (the “2007 Proxy Statement”). o

~ Information regarding our executive officers is set forth in Item 1 of Part I of this report under the caption
“Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

! ‘ ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

!
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2007 Proxy
Statement under the heading “Executive Compensation.”

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from thEI, information in the 2007 Proxy
Statement under the headings “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Sécurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
"The inf:)rmation required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2007 Proxy
Statement under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”
TTEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2007 Proxy

Statement under the heading “Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Flrrn—Pnnmpal
Accountmg Fees and Serwces




PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial Statements: See “Index to Consohdated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
- Report on Form 10-K

2. Financial Statements Schedule: See “Schedule II- Valuatlon and Quahfymg Accounts” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K

3. Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or mcorporated by reference as
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

L] N [ s ke grimeITT. gy [orr P
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

For fiscal year ended September 24, 2004
For fiscal year ended September 30, 2005
For fiscal year ended September.29, 2006

Balance at . Balance at
Beginning of Charged to End of Fiscal
Fiscal Year Operstions Deductions Year
(in thousands) !
................ $2,565 $402 $(857)  $2,110
................ 2,110 95 (175 2,030
......... e 2,030 614 (920} 1,724
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Q .

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reglstrant
has duly caused this report to be signed.on 1ts behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 12, 2006

- | ' . . DOLBY LABORATORIES,INC. . & °
e e s eei——— PR PR
By: s/ KEVIN J. YEAMAN
Kevin J. Yeaman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints N. W. Jasper, Jr. and Kevin J. Yeaman, his attorney-in-fact, each with the power of
substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connections therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and conforming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue of hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Actrofl 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
fs/ + Ray DOLBY Chairman of the Board December 12, 2006
Ray Dolby '
fs/ N.W. JASPER, JRr. President, Chief Executive Officer December 12, 2006
N. W. Jasper, Jr. and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)
/s KEVIN]. YEAMAN Chief Financial Officer December 12, 2006
Kevin J. Yeaman ’ (Principal Accounting and Financial
Officer)
fs/  PETER GOTCHER Director December 12, 2006
Peter Gotcher
fs/ SANFORD ROBERTSON Director December 12, 2006
Sanford Robertson
/s/ ROGER SI1BONI Director December 12, 2006
Roger Siboni
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Exhibit
Number

“ . INDEX TO EXHIBITS

1
Description

Incorporated by Reference Herein

Form

Date

20

a1

32

4.1

42

10.1%#

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9%
10.10*

10.11*

Asset Contribution Agreement dated
November 19, 2004, by and between
the Registrant, Dolby Laboratories

Licensing Corporation, Ray Dolby

individually, Ray Dolby as Trustee for

the Ray Dolby Trust under the Ddlby
Family Trust instrument dated May 7,
1999, and Ray and Dagmar Dolby -
Investments L.P. -

Amended and Restateq Certificate of

Incorporation

Form of Amended and Restated
Bylaws

Form of Registrant’s Class A
Common Stock Certificate

Form of Registrant’s Class B
Common Stock Certificate

Form of Indemnification Agreement
to be entered into between the
Registrant and its Directors and
Officers

2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as
amended

2005 Stock Plan, as amended and .
restat;d

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“ESPP™)y

Senior Executive Supplemental
Retirement Plan

2006 Dolby Annual Incentive Plan

2007 Dolby Executive Annual
Incentive Plan '

Funded Unapproved Retirement
Benefits Scheme (United Kingdom)
for David Watts

Forms of Stock Option Agreements
under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement
under the 2005 Stock Plan

Form of Executive Stock Option
Agreement under the 2005 Stock Plan

Registration Statement on Form 3-1
(No. 333-120614), Amendment No. 1

Registration Statement on Form S-1

{No. 333-120614), Amendment No. 2

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614) .

Registration Statement on Form S-1
{No. 333-120614), Amendment No. |

.Registration Statement on Form 8-A

Registration Statement onl! Form S-1.
(No. 333-120614) |

- Registration Statement on Form §-1
(No. 333-120614), Amendment No. 3

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Current Report on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form 8-K

Registration Statement on Form §-1
{No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

L

Current Report on Form 8-K
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December 30, 2004

J anuélry 19, 2005

. November 19, 2004

December 30, 2004
January 25, 2006

November 19, 2004

. January 31, 2005

August 2, 2006
December 20, 2005
August 3, 2005

February 16, 2006
November 20, 2006

November 19, 2004

November 19, 2004

August 11, 2005

“June 17, 2005
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Exhibit
Number

Description

Incorporated by Reference Herein

Form

Date

| 10.12*
10.13*

10.14%*

10.15*
10.16*
10.17*

10.18*
10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.26*

10.25*%

Form of Executive Stock Option
Agreement—United Kingdom under

the 2005 Stock Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement—

United Kingdom under the 2005 Stock

Plan

Form of Stock Opticn Agreement—

Hong Kong under the 2005 Stock Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement—
International under the 2005 Stock

Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement—

People’s Republic of China un
- 2005 Stock Plan :

der the

Form of Stock Appreciation Right
Agreement—International under the

2005 Stock Plan

Form of Subscription Agreement
under the ESPP—U.S. Employees

Form of Subscription Agreement
under the ESPP—U.K. Employees

Form of Subscription Agreement

under the ESPP-——Hong Kong

Employees

Form of Subscription Agreement
under the ESPP—France Employees

Form of Subscription Agreement

under the ESPP—Non-1.S.

Employees

Offer Letter dated September 28,

2000, by and between Martin A. Jaffe

and Dolby Laboratories, Inc., a

California corporation

Offer Letter dated October 23, 2003,

by and between Mark 8. Anderson and
Dolby Laboratories, Inc., a California

corporation

At-Will Employment, Proprietary
Rights, Non-Disclosure and No

Conflicts-of-Interest Agreement, dated

November 19, 2004, by and between
Ray Dolby and Dolby Laborateries,

Inc.

Current Report on Form 8-K
Current Report on Form 8-K

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
Quarterly Report on F(;rm lO-Q
Current Report on Form 8-K

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614), Amendment No. 2
Annual Report on Form 10-K

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Repgistration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
{No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614), Amendment No. 1

Offer Letter dated October 4, 2005, by Annual Report on Form 10-K
and between Kevin Yeaman and

Dolby Laboratories, Inc., a California

corporation

100

June 17, 2005

June 17, 2005

"August 2, 2006

Aﬁgust 2, 2006

S

August 2, 2006

June 17, 2005

January 19, 2005
December 20, 2005

December 20, 2005

December 20, 2005

December 20, 2005

- November 19, 2004

November 19, 2004

December 30, 2004

December 20, 2005
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Exhibit

Number

Description

Incorporated by Reference Herein

Form e

Date

10.27*

10.28* -

10.29*

10.30%

10.31*
10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

10.35%

21.1
23.1

24.1

31.1
312

32.1%

Lease for 100 Potrero Avenue, San
Francisco, California

First Amendment to Lease for 100
Potrero Avenue, San Francisco,
California

- Lease for 130 Potrero Avenue, San

Francisco, California

Lease for 140 Potrero Avenue, San
Francisco, Califonia
Lease for 999 Brannan Street, San
Francisco, California

Lease for 175 South Hill Drive,
Brisbane, California

Lease for 3601 West Alameda
Avenue, Burbank, California

Leases for Wootton Bassett, England
facilities

License Agreement effective January
1, 1992 by and between GTE
Laboratories Incorporated and Dolby
Laboratories Licensing Corporation

List of significant subsidiaries of the
Registrant

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (incorporated by
reference from the signature page of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Certification of Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Certifications of Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
Quarterly-Report on Form 10-Q s

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form §-i
{No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614)

Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-120614), Amendment No. |

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Confidential treatment has been granted for portions of this exhibit.
i  Furnished herewith.
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February 8, 2006

May 4, 2006

February 8, 2006

. .February 8, 2006

November 19, 2004

November 19, 2004

November 19, 2004

November 19, 2004

December 30, 2004

December 20, 2005
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